Bieri-Strebel Groups With Irrational Slopes

Nicholas Winstone

Supervised by Professor Brita Nucinkis

A thesis presented for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy



Department of Mathematics Royal Holloway University of London April 20, 2022 Declaration

I confirm that the work presented in this thesis is my own. Where information has been derived from other sources, I confirm that this has been indicated in the document.

Signed: N Winstone

Date: April 20, 2022

Acknowledgements

There are so very many people who have been there for me in some way or another over the past 4 years, and so my heartfelt thanks goes out to all of them.

I wish to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor Professor Brita N. for her endless patience, and for providing reassurance when things did not seem to be going so well, research-wise. I am in awe that someone could have foreseen the potential that I could complete something like this, and eternally grateful for the opportunity.

I owe an unbelievable amount to the love and support I have received from my partner Keele. I honestly don't think I'd be half the person I am or have half the thesis I have without her arrival into my life. I hereby swear that her personal supply of chocolate shall never run out.

For the incredible environment that I was welcomed into when I first arrived, I thank every resident of McCrae 253, and especially the pub quiz team that was born from that room. I'd like to thank everyone who has been willing to be on a quiz team with me. Special credit goes to Tabby for writing the most miraculous quizzes and spectacular disses.

I've somehow managed to not get lost in my work when it hasn't been going well, and I'd like to thank Reynold, Amit, Fernando, Rob, Liam, Lydia, Tom, Josh and so many others for their kind words, great company, and all round goodness during these times. During a PhD you can feel isolated at times, but they made sure that I was never alone.

The pandemic has naturally led to difficult times for everyone, but I have surrounded by the most wonderful friends and family. Although I have only managed to see them once in almost 2 years, I'd like to thank Elise, Emma, Arthur and Co for always looking out for me and being excellent humans. I hope that my family know that I love them, and that if there were ever times when I didn't respond to their messages quickly enough, that I was trying to produce this!

Abstract

For an algebraic integer β , that is the zero of the irreducible integer polynomial

$$X^{n} - a_{n-1}X^{n-1} - a_{n-2}X^{n-2} - \dots - a_{1}X - a_{0}$$

with all $a_i \ge 0$, we define the Bieri-Strebel group $G_\beta = G\left([0,1], \mathbb{Z}\left[\frac{1}{\beta}\right], \langle\beta\rangle\right)$. This is the group of piecewise linear homeomorphisms of the unit interval to itself with breakpoints in $\mathbb{Z}\left[\frac{1}{\beta}\right]$ and slopes that are a power of β . The best known example of this is G_2 which is better known as Thompson's Group F. It is well known [1] that elements of F can be expressed as pairs of binary trees, and using these trees it is possible to demonstrate many properties of F. We denote $F_\beta \subset G_\beta$ the set of elements $g \in G_\beta$ for which there exist 'tree-pairs' to represent g. The question arises: For which β is $F_\beta = G_\beta$.

Higman [2] has shown that for $\beta \in \mathbb{N}$, $F_{\beta} = G_{\beta}$. In his 1995 [3] and 2000 [4] papers, Cleary was able to show that $F_{\beta} = G_{\beta}$ if $\beta = \frac{\sqrt{5}+1}{2}$ or $\beta = \sqrt{2}+1$, and in their 2018 master's thesis Brown [5] was able to show this holds for all β whose associated polynomial is

$$X^2 - a_1 X - 1$$

for some $a_1 \in \mathbb{N}$.

In this thesis, we have considered all quadratic integers β , zero of the irreducible integer polynomial

$$X^2 - a_1 X - a_0$$

for some $a_1, a_0 \in \mathbb{N}$, and found necessary and sufficient conditions on a_1 and a_0 such that that $F_{\beta} = G_{\beta}$. We have also shown that there exists β for which F_{β} is a proper subset of G_{β} and conjecture that it is not even a group.

For the cases in which $F_{\beta} = G_{\beta}$, we have been able to find a presentation for G_{β} , with which we have been able to determine a presentation for the abelianisation of G_{β} . We have been able to find arbitrarily high torsion in these G_{β}^{ab} .

Contents

1	Intr	ntroduction					
	1.1	1 Bieri-Strebel Groups					
	1.2	2 Tree pairs					
	1.3	Results Within This Thesis					
2	Reg	egular Subdivisions of the Unit Interval					
	2.1	Background	15				
	2.2	Irrational Subdivisions	17				
		2.2.1 Positive roots of polynomials	17				
		2.2.3 Subdivision Polynomials	18				
		2.2.7 Linear system of Coefficients	22				
		2.2.13 Generalised Fibonacci Sequence	26				
		2.2.18 Positive coefficients	31				
	2.3	Subdivisions and Trees	35				
		2.3.1 β -Subdivisions	35				
		2.3.7 Regular β -subdivisions	38				
	2.4	(a_1, a_0) -trees	41				
		2.4.9 (a_1, a_0) -refinements	47				
		2.4.15 Leaf-Equivalent Trees	51				
		2.4.19 Grafting	52				
	2.5	Pisot β -subdivisions	56				
3 Non-Pisot β -Subdivisions							
	3.1	Breakpoints	67				

		3.1.1	The ring $\mathbb{Z}[\tau]$	67		
		3.1.4	Obtainable points	71		
	3.2	(a_1, a_0))-Tiles	74		
		3.2.18	Tile Width \ldots	88		
		3.2.32	Example $f = X^2 - X - 3$	109		
	3.3	3.3 Conjecture		122		
		3.3.1	Higher degree algebraic integers	122		
		3.3.4	Is F_{β} a group?	124		
1	ΛР					
4	AI	resent	ation of G_{β}	123		
	4.1	Backg	round	129		
	4.2	2 Tree pair Multiplication				
		4.2.1	Simultaneous refinements	130		
		4.2.4	Composition of (a_1, a_0) -tree pairs	131		
		4.2.7	Right aligned (a_1, a_0) -trees \ldots	134		
		4.2.19	Positive (a_1, a_0) -tree pairs	139		
	4.3	A pres	entation for F_{β}	142		
		4.3.1	Generating set of F_{β}	142		
		4.3.8	Relations in the Presentation	148		
		4.3.9	Connected (a_1, a_0) -generators	148		
		4.3.15	x, z -caret relations $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	160		
	4.4	Abelia	nizations	167		
		4.4.1	Orbits in F_{β}	167		
		4.4.8	The group $F_{\beta_n}^{ab}$	172		

Chapter 1

Introduction

Groups of piecewise-linear homeomorphisms on real intervals have been particularly studied for the past 60 years, as there have been examples found which have been shown to have surprising properties. Perhaps the most infamous of these is Thompson's Group F, named after Richard Thompson [6], the group of continuous piecewise-linear homeomorphisms of the unit interval in which all breakpoints lie in $\mathbb{Z}\left[\frac{1}{2}\right] = \left\{a + \frac{b}{2} : a, b \in \mathbb{Z}\right\}$ and all slopes have gradient which is a power of 2. The group F is an example of an infinite group which is finitely presented and torsion-free. The group F also has infinite cohomological dimension [7], as for all $N \in \mathbb{N}$, there is an injective homomorphism which embeds the free abelian group of rank N into F,

$$\phi_N:\mathbb{Z}^N\hookrightarrow F.$$

The group F has an infinite presentation

$$F = \langle x_0, x_1, x_2, \dots | x_j x_i = x_i x_{j+1} \text{ for } i < j \rangle.$$

The elements of F are uniquely defined by their breakpoints and so we can describe any such element g as a pair of subdivisions of the unit interval $g = (S_1, S_2)$, where S_1 and S_2 have the same number of breakpoints which all must lie in $\mathbb{Z}\begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{2} \\ \frac{1}{2} \end{bmatrix}$. Then g defines a set of affine transformations which map the i^{th} interval in S_1 to the i^{th} interval in S_2 . It is well known that each of the elements of F can be expressed as a pair of binary trees [1], with each leaf in a tree representing a sub-interval of [0, 1] which has length that is a power of 2. In fact we can show the generators found in the presentation of F as tree pairs. The generator x_0 is displayed in tree-pair form atop the following page.



The group F is a sub-group of Thompson's Group V, the group of all left-continuous piecewiselinear homeomorphisms of the unit interval in which all breakpoints lie in $\mathbb{Z}\begin{bmatrix}\frac{1}{2}\end{bmatrix}$ and all slopes have gradient which is a power of 2. The group V was one of the first found examples of a finitely presented infinite simple group. In [2], Higman generalised the group V to V_n , and subsequently the group F to F_n , for any $1 < n \in \mathbb{N}$. The group V_n is the group of left-continuous piecewise-linear homeomorphisms of the unit interval in which all breakpoints lie in $\mathbb{Z}\begin{bmatrix}\frac{1}{n}\\n\end{bmatrix}$ and all slopes have gradient which is a power of n, and $F_n \subset V_n$ is the sub-group of V_n such that every element is a continuous homeomorphism. Note that the group F is re-defined as F_2 . Furthermore the elements of the group F_n can also be expressed as pairs of trees, but now each caret has n legs [8]. Through the use of the tree-representation of F_n , it is possible to find a presentation for F_n , and from this show that F_n is finitely generated, but has infinite presentation. The groups F_n were also shown to be torsion-free, finitely presented groups with infinite cohomological dimension by Brown and Geoghegan [9].

In [3] and [4], Cleary considered variants in which the breakpoints and slopes were irrational. These were F_{ω} in 1995 and F_{τ} in 2000 where $\omega = \sqrt{2} + 1$, and $\tau = \frac{\sqrt{5} + 1}{2}$. Both F_{ω} and F_{τ} were shown by Cleary to be finitely presented, torsion-free groups with infinite cohomological dimensional.

But the greatest generalisation of these groups of piecewise-linear homeomorphisms on real intervals came before this, from Bieri and Strebel [10].

1.1 Bieri-Strebel Groups

Bieri and Strebel defined groups of piecewise linear homeomorphisms on real intervals as shown below.

Definition 1.1.1. The Bieri-Strebel Group

The Bieri-Strebel Group G(I, A, P) is the group of all piecewise-linear homeomorphisms of the interval I, with breakpoints in A, a subring of the real numbers \mathbb{R} , and slopes with gradient in P where P is a group of units contained in A.

The Bieri-Strebel groups encompass almost all of the examples of groups of piecewise-linear homoemorphisms of real intervals that have come before this. These include many which will appear for the first time explicitly in this thesis. We note that Thompson's group F is a Bieri-Strebel group,

$$F = F_2 = G\left([0,1], \mathbb{Z}\left[\frac{1}{2}\right], \langle 2 \rangle\right)$$

Definition 1.1.2. An algebraic integer β is the zero of some monic integer polynomial

$$f = X^n + \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} a_i X^i$$

for some $a_i \in \mathbb{Z}$.

For any algebraic integer $\beta \in \mathbb{R}$, we define the Bieri-Strebel group G_{β} as

$$G_{\beta} = G\left([0,1], \mathbb{Z}\left[\frac{1}{\beta}\right], \langle \beta \rangle\right).$$

The groups F_{ω} and F_{τ} introduced by Cleary, can be expressed here as

$$\begin{aligned} F_{\omega} &= G_{\omega} = G\left([0,1], \mathbb{Z}\left[\frac{1}{\omega}\right], \langle \omega \rangle\right), \text{ and} \\ F_{\tau} &= G_{\tau} = G\left([0,1], \mathbb{Z}\left[\frac{1}{\tau}\right], \langle \tau \rangle\right) \end{aligned}$$

Proposition 1.1.3. Let β be an algebraic integer and recall the definition of the Bieri-Strebel Group G_{β} . If $g \in G_{\beta}$ is of finite order, then g = id, the identity homeomorphism.

Proof. The proof for this is well known in the literature, see [5], but I have included this to demonstrate a reason for considering the elements, as defined in the group, as piecewise-linear homeomorphisms.

Let $g \in G_{\beta}$ be non-trivial. As g is a piecewise-linear homeomorphism, then g is defined by the breakpoints

$$\{(0,0) = (p_0,q_0), (p_1,q_1), \dots, (p_t,q_t) = (1,1)\}$$

where $g(p_i) = q_i$, and if we let r_i be the gradients of the slope between (p_i, q_i) and (p_{i+1}, q_{i+1}) , then $r_i \neq r_{i+1}$. Note that either $r_0 = 1$ or $r_0 = \beta^{s_0}$ for some integer $s_0 \neq 0$. If $r_0 = 1$, then $r_1 \neq r_0$, so either r_0 or r_1 is non-trivial. Let $p \in \{p_0, \ldots, p_t\}$ be the first breakpoint of g such that g(x) = x for all $x \in [0, p]$. Note that if p = 1, then g is the identity. Otherwise, as p is a breakpoint in g, the right gradient at p is not equal to 1. Consider the right derivative of g at p,

$$D_p^+(g) = \lim_{h \to 0^+} \left\{ \frac{g(p+h) - g(p)}{h} \right\}.$$

So g(p) = p, but $D_p^+(g) \neq 1$. Consider g^n for some $n \in \mathbb{N}$, and let $x \in [0, p]$. Then

$$g^{n}(x) = \underbrace{g \circ g \circ \cdots \circ g(x)}_{n} = \underbrace{g \circ g \circ \cdots \circ g(x)}_{n-1} = g(x) = x.$$

Now we consider the right derivative of g^n at p. In composition $g_2(g_1(x))$ of elements $g_1, g_2 \in G_\beta$, the gradient of the intersections of any intersecting intervals in the image of g_1 and the domain of g_2 , is found by taking the product of the gradients. Therefore $D_p^+(g^n) = (D_p^+(g))^n \neq 1$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Thus g is not of finite order n for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Therefore, $g \in G_\beta$ is of finite order only if there exists no such $p \in [0, 1)$ such that g(x) = x for all $x \in [0, p]$, and $D_p^+(g) \neq 1$. Therefore $g \in G_\beta$ is of finite order only if g is the identity homeomorphism.

The *Thompson-like* Bieri-Strebel groups, such as $F_n[7]$, $F_{\omega}[3]$, and $F_{\tau}[4]$ have been shown to be finitely presented, and have infinite cohomological dimension over \mathbb{Z} . Also, all elements of these groups can be expressed as tree pairs.

1.2 Tree pairs

In the year 2000 Cleary was able to show that G_{τ} is finitely presented [4], for $\tau = \frac{\sqrt{5}+1}{2}$. Burillo, Nucinkis, and Reeves [11] were able to use tree pair representations of the elements of G_{τ} to find an explicit finite presentation, and hence were able to show that the abelianisation of G_{τ} contained 2-torsion.

In their Master's thesis [5], Brown extended the work of Burillo, Nucinkis, and Reeves, by considering G_{τ_k} where τ_k is the positive real zero of the irreducible integer polynomial

$$f_{\tau_k} = X^2 - kX - 1.$$

Brown's work focused on finding the tree pair representations of elements of G_{τ_k} , finding a presentation for G_{τ_k} , and subsequently showing that $G_{\tau_k}^{ab}$ contains 2-torsion for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$.

These results rely heavily on being able to express elements of the Bieri-Strebel group as tree pairs.

1.3 Results Within This Thesis

This thesis focuses on the Bieri-Strebel group of the form

$$G_{\beta} = G\left([0,1], \mathbb{Z}\left[\frac{1}{\beta}\right], \langle \beta \rangle\right)$$

where the algebraic integer β is the positive real root of the irreducible polynomial

$$f_{\beta} = X^n - a_{n-1}X^{n-1} - a_{n-2}X^{n-2} - \dots - a_1X - a_0$$

with $a_i \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$. In Proposition 2.2.5, we will prove that there is exactly one such positive real root β . **Theorem.** For all 0 , there exists an expression

$$p = \frac{b_0 + b_1\beta + \dots + b_{n-1}\beta^{n-1}}{\beta^N}$$

for some $b_i, N \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$.

In Chapter 2, this is proved as theorem 2.2.19 and the result is shown to hold for all such β the positive real zero of the irreducible integer polynomial

$$f_{\beta} = X^n - a_{n-1}X^{n-1} - a_{n-2}X^{n-2} - \dots - a_1X - a_0.$$

We move on to focus solely on the quadratic instances of this polynomial

$$f_\beta = X^2 - a_1 X - a_0.$$

We define regular β -subdivisions which correspond to trees. We find properties which arise when there are multiple trees representing the same regular β -subdivisions. In particular we consider the cases in which β is *Pisot*.

Definition 1.3.1. An algebraic integer β is **Pisot** if $1 < \beta \in \mathbb{R}$ and all other zeros of the minimal polynomial of β over \mathbb{Z} , have absolute value less than 1. [12]

The following theorem appears as Corollary 2.5.12 to Theorem 2.5.10.

Theorem. If β is Pisot, then every element of G_{β} can be expressed as a pair of regular β -subdivisions.

This means that every element in G_{β} can be expressed as a pair of trees, as long as β is Pisot.

In fact, in all previous works connecting Bieri-Strebel groups of the form G_{β} to tree pair structures, we have always had Pisot β :

- n is Pisot for all $1 < n \in \mathbb{N}$;
- $\omega = \sqrt{2} + 1$ and $\tau = \frac{\sqrt{5} + 1}{2}$ are both Pisot;
- β , the positive zero of $X^2 kX 1$ is Pisot for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$.

In each of these cases, F_n , F_{ω} , F_{τ} , and F_{τ_k} , have been shown to have the property that all elements can be expressed as tree pairs. Our Theorem 1.3 extends this to quadratic integers β , the positive zero of the Pisot polynomial $f_{\beta} = X^2 - a_1 X - a_0$. This leads us to ask whether you can find tree pairs for every element in G_{β} if β is non-Pisot. We have shown this to not be true in Theorem 3.2.30.

Theorem. If β is non-Pisot then there exists $g \in G_{\beta}$ such that there are no regular subdivisions S_1, S_2 such that $g = (S_1, S_2)$.

Thus if β is non-Pisot there are elements of G_{β} for which there cannot be a tree pair representation.

Building on our earlier work on regular β -subdivisions of the unit interval in which β is a quadratic integer and Pisot, we construct generators from tree pairs and find an explicit presentation for G_{β} . The following is the statement for Theorem 4.3.20.

Theorem. Let β be the positive real zero of the Pisot polynomial $f_{\beta} = X^2 - a_1 X - a_0$. Let $K = a_1 + a_0$. Then

$$G_{\beta} = \left\langle x_0, x_1, x_2, \dots, z_0, z_1, z_2, \dots | R_1, R_2 \right\rangle$$
with the relations

$$R_1: \quad x_i x_j = x_{j+K-1} x_i \ \forall \ i < j$$
$$x_i z_j = z_{j+K-1} x_i \ \forall \ i < j$$
$$z_i x_j = x_{j+K-1} z_i \ \forall \ i < j$$
$$z_i z_j = z_{j+K-1} z_i \ \forall \ i < j$$

 $R_2: \quad x_{i+a_0}x_{i+a_0+1}\cdots x_{i+2a_0-1}x_i = z_i z_{i+1}\cdots z_{i+a_0-1}z_i \ \forall \ i \ge 0.$

Lastly, we will consider a specific Pisot case, β_n the zero of $X^2 - (n+1)X - n$ for even $n \in \mathbb{N}$, and show that the abelianisation of G_{β_n} , $G_{\beta_n}^{ab}$ contains elements with (n+1)-torsion. This is the statement for Theorem 4.4.11

Theorem.

$$G^{ab}_{\beta_n} \cong \mathbb{Z}^{2n+1} \oplus \mathbb{Z}/(n+1)\mathbb{Z}$$

Thus, there are Bieri-Strebel groups of the form G_{β} in which the abelianisation $G_{\beta_n}^{ab}$ contains arbitrarily high torsion.

Chapter 2

Regular Subdivisions of the Unit Interval

2.1 Background

Recall the definition of Bieri-Strebel groups initially introduced in [10].

Definition. The Bieri-Strebel Group

The Bieri-Strebel Group G(I, A, P) is the group of all piecewise-linear homeomorphisms of the interval I, with breakpoints in A, a subring of the real numbers \mathbb{R} , and slopes with gradient in P where P is a group of units contained in A.

We will consider the family of Bieri-Strebel groups denoted G_{β} where

$$G_{\beta} = G\left([0,1], \mathbb{Z}\left[\frac{1}{\beta}\right], \langle \beta \rangle\right)$$

and β is a positive real root of $X^n - a_{n-1}X^{n-1} - a_{n-2}X^{n-2} - \dots - a_1X - a_0 = 0$, for some $0 \le a_i \in \mathbb{Z}$, $a_0 \ne 0$, and $\sum_{i=0}^{n-1} a_i > 1$. Here $\langle \beta \rangle = \{\beta^i : i \in \mathbb{Z}\}$. Given $g \in G_\beta$, $g : [0,1] \to [0,1]$, with breakpoints $\{(0,0) = (p_0,q_0), (p_1,q_1), \dots, (p_t,q_t) = (1,1)\}$,

$$g(x) = \left(\frac{q_{i+1} - q_i}{p_{i+1} - p_i}\right)(x - p_i) + q_i \text{ for } x \in [p_i, p_{i+1}]$$

for $i \in \{0, \ldots, t-1\}$. As each linear section must have gradient which is a power of β ,

$$\frac{q_{i+1} - q_i}{p_{i+1} - p_i} = \beta^{r_i}$$

for some $r_i \in \mathbb{Z}$.

Example 1. If $\beta = 2$, we get the group G_2 , which is better known as Thompson's group F

$$G_{\beta} = G\left([0,1], \mathbb{Z}\left[\frac{1}{2}\right], \langle 2 \rangle\right)$$

Below is the element g' of G_2 .



The pair of β -subdivisions on the right are shown in the form of a *rectangle diagram*. The domain of g' is placed above the co-domain, and straight lines are drawn from the i^{th} breakpoint in the domain to the i^{th} breakpoint in the co-domain. The breakpoints do not need to be labelled if it is clear what they are. Each $g \in G_{\beta}$ has a corresponding rectangle diagram.

It is well known that each element of Thompson's group F, can be represented as a pair of binary trees [13]. There have been several variants of Thompsons group.

Definition 2.1.1. The set F_{β} is the set of all maps $g \in G_{\beta}$ such that g can be represented by a pair of regular trees.

We will define the set F_{β} more clearly in this chapter in Definition 2.4.8, once we have a better understanding of regular trees.

2.2 Irrational Subdivisions

2.2.1 Positive roots of polynomials

The following Lemma is in fact a consequence of Descartes' rule of signs [14]. A proof has been included to demonstrate our particular requirements.

Lemma 2.2.2. Every polynomial of the form

$$f = a_n X^n - a_{n-1} X^{n-1} - a_{n-2} X^{n-2} - \dots - a_1 X - a_0$$

with $a_i \ge 0$ for $i \in \{1, ..., n-1\}$ and $a_n, a_0 > 0$ has a unique positive real zero β . I.e., each polynomial of this form, has one and only one positive real zero.

Proof. We prove this by induction on the degree of these polynomials. Any polynomial of the form $a_1X - a_0$ has just a single zero $\alpha_1 = \frac{a_0}{a_1} \in \mathbb{R}^+$. Assume that the lemma holds true for all $n \leq k - 1$ for some $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Consider

$$f = a_k X^k - a_{k-1} X^{k-1} - a_{k-2} X^{k-2} - \dots - a_1 X - a_0,$$

with $a_i \ge 0$ and $a_k > 0, a_0 > 0$.

Consider the derivative of f:

$$f' = a_k k X^{k-1} - a_{k-1} (k-1) X^{k-2} - a_{k-2} (k-2) X^{k-3} - \dots - a_2 (2) X - a_1 X^{k-3} - \dots - a_2 (2) X - a_1 X^{k-3} - \dots - a_2 (2) X - a_1 X^{k-3} - \dots - a_2 (2) X - a_1 X^{k-3} - \dots - a_2 (2) X - a_1 X^{k-3} - \dots - a_2 (2) X - a_1 X^{k-3} - \dots - a_2 (2) X - a_1 X^{k-3} - \dots - a_2 (2) X - a_1 X^{k-3} - \dots - a_2 (2) X - a_1 X^{k-3} - \dots - a_2 (2) X - a_1 X^{k-3} - \dots - a_2 (2) X - a_1 X^{k-3} - \dots - a_2 (2) X - a_1 X^{k-3} - \dots - a_2 (2) X - a_1 X^{k-3} - \dots - a_2 (2) X - a_1 X^{k-3} - \dots - a_2 (2) X - a_1 X^{k-3} - \dots - a_2 (2) X - a_1 X^{k-3} - \dots - a_2 (2) X - a_1 X^{k-3} - \dots - a_2 (2) X - a_1 X^{k-3} - \dots - a_2 (2) X - a_1 X^{k-3} - \dots - a_2 (2) X - a_1 X^{k-3} - \dots - a_2 (2) X - a_1 X^{k-3} - \dots - a_2 (2) X - a_1 X^{k-3} - \dots - a_2 (2) X - a_1 X^{k-3} - \dots - a_2 (2) X^{k-3} - \dots - a_2 ($$

By the inductive hypothesis, every polynomial of this form of degree less than k has precisely one positive real root, call this α_{k-1} . So there exists exactly one stationary point of f over \mathbb{R}^+ , consider what this stationary point could be:

Case 1: The stationary point is a local maximum of f.

As $f(\alpha_{k-1})$ is the only stationary point of f over \mathbb{R}^+ , f must be strictly increasing before α_{k-1} and strictly decreasing afterwards. However f is a polynomial with a positive coefficient of the highest power of X, which means $f(X) \to \infty$ as $X \to \infty$. This is a contradiction, so $f(\alpha_{k-1})$ is not a local maxima of f. Case 2: The stationary point is a saddle point of f.

As this is the only stationary point in \mathbb{R}^+ , and as shown above $f(X) \to \infty$ as $X \to \infty$, f must be increasing over \mathbb{R}^+ and in fact strictly increasing on $\mathbb{R}^+ \setminus \{\alpha_{k-1}\}$. As $f(0) = -a_0 < 0$ and f is continuous, f increases continuously from a negative value, $-a_0$ at X = 0, to ∞ as $X \to \infty$. By the intermediate value theorem, there must exist a unique point $\alpha_k \in \mathbb{R}^+$ such that $f(\alpha_k) = 0$. Thus the lemma is true in case 2.

Case 3: The stationary point is a local minimum of f.

As $f(\alpha_{k-1})$ is the only stationary point of f over \mathbb{R}^+ , then f must be strictly decreasing on $(0, \alpha_{k-1})$ and strictly increasing on (α_{k-1}, ∞) . We also know that $f(0) = -a_0 < 0$ and since $f(\alpha_{k-1})$ is a local minimum of f, $f(\alpha_{k-1}) < f(0) < 0$. We now have that there can be no root of f in $[0, \alpha_{k-1}]$, and that f(X) is a strictly increasing continuous function for $X \in (\alpha_{k-1}, \infty)$ with $f(X) \to \infty$ as $X \to \infty$. By the intermediate value theorem, there must be a unique real root $\alpha_k \in (\alpha_{k-1}, \infty)$. This is the only zero of f over \mathbb{R}^+ .

In all three cases, we find that either there is a contradiction or f has a unique positive real zero. By induction the result holds true for all polynomials of the form

$$f = a_n X^n - a_{n-1} X^{n-1} - a_{n-2} X^{n-2} - \dots - a_1 X - a_0$$

with $a_i \ge 0$ for $i \in \{0, 1, \dots, n-1\}$ and $a_n > 0, a_0 > 0$.

2.2.3 Subdivision Polynomials

Definition 2.2.4. A polynomial $f \in \mathbb{Z}[X]$ is a subdivision polynomial if it is of the form

$$f = X^{n} - a_{n-1}X^{n-1} - a_{n-2}X^{n-2} - \dots - a_{1}X - a_{0}$$

with $a_i \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$, $a_0 \neq 0$, $\sum_{i=0}^{n-1} a_i > 1$ for all $j \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$, and $f(X) \neq f'(X^d)$ for any other subdivision polynomial f' and some $d \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 2}$.

This final condition is best understood by considering the following examples.

Example 2. Whilst f = X - m is a subdivision polynomial for all $m \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 2}$, $f(X^d) = X^d - m$ is not

2.2. IRRATIONAL SUBDIVISIONS

a subdivision polynomial for any $d \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 2}$.

Example 3. Higher degree subdivision polynomials examples:

- $f = X^2 X 1$
- $f = X^6 X^3 X^2 1$
- $f = X^{24} X^{15} X^{10} 1$

Higher degree subdivision polynomial non-examples:

- $f = X^4 X^2 1 = (X^2)^2 (X^2) 1$
- $f = X^6 X^4 X^2 1 = (X^2)^3 (X^2)^2 (X^2) 1$
- $f = X^6 X^3 1 = (X^3)^2 (X^3) 1$

Clearly $f = X^n - a_{n-1}X^{n-1} - a_{n-2}X^{n-2} - \cdots - a_1X - a_0 \in \mathbb{Z}[X]$ is not a subdivision polynomial if there exists $d \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 2}$, such that d is a common factor of all i > 0 where a_i is non-zero.

Remark 1. If $f = X^n - a_{n-1}X^{n-1} - a_{n-2}X^{n-2} - \dots - a_1X - a_0$ is a subdivision polynomial. Define the set $AI_{>0} = \{i \in \{1, \dots, n-1\} : a_i > 0\}$. At least one of the following must be true:

- gcd(n, j) = 1 for some $j \in AI_{>0}$.
- $gcd(n, j_1, \ldots, j_t) = 1$ where $\{j_1, \ldots, j_t\} = AI_{>0}$.

The first condition is clearly a special case of the second condition.

Proposition 2.2.5. Consider a degree *n* subdivision polynomial $f \in \mathbb{Z}[X]$,

$$f = X^{n} - a_{n-1}X^{n-1} - a_{n-2}X^{n-2} - \dots - a_{1}X - a_{0}$$

with $a_i \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$, $a_0 \neq 0$ and $\sum_{i=0, i \neq j}^{n-1} a_i \geq 1$ for all $j \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$. Then f has just one positive zero $\beta > 1$.

Proof. By Lemma 2.2.2 a subdivision polynomial

$$f = X^{n} - a_{n-1}X^{n-1} - a_{n-2}X^{n-2} - \dots - a_{1}X - a_{0}$$

has a positive real zero which we will denote β . Consider

$$f(1) = 1 - a_{n-1} - \dots - a_1 - a_0 < 0$$

as $\sum_{i=0}^{n-1} a_i > 1$ by our definition of subdivision polynomials. We have that f(1) < 0 and $f(X) \to \infty$ as $X \to \infty$ where f has a unique zero greater than 0. Since f is continuous we would clearly have a contradiction if β , the unique positive real zero, was less than 1.

Each irreducible subdivision polynomial defines a unique $1 < \beta \in \mathbb{R}$.

The subdivision polynomial f defines a subdivision of the unit interval into real sub-intervals, which have lengths equal to powers of τ , where $\tau = \frac{1}{\beta}$:

$$a_0\tau^n + a_1\tau^{n-1} + \dots + a_{n-1}\tau = 1.$$
(2.1)

These sub-intervals are not prescribed an order, so we can assume that the $a_0 + a_1 + \cdots + a_{n-1}$ sub-intervals can be positioned end to end to span the unit interval without overlapping.

It is clear that $\beta \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau]$ and is in fact a unit of the ring $\mathbb{Z}[\tau]$. Dividing both sides of the equation 2.1 by τ demonstrates this.

$$1 = a_0 \tau^n + a_1 \tau^{n-1} + \dots + a_{n-1} \tau$$
$$1 = (a_0 \tau^{n-1} + a_1 \tau^{n-2} + \dots + a_{n-1}) \tau$$
$$1 = \beta \tau$$

Therefore, we can express $\mathbb{Z}[\tau]$ as $\mathbb{Z}[\beta]\left[\frac{1}{\beta}\right]$. For every element p in $\mathbb{Z}[\beta]$, p can be expressed as

$$p = b_0 + b_1\beta + \dots + b_{n-1}\beta^{n-1}$$

for some $b_i \in \mathbb{Z}$ (see[15]). Therefore, for all $p \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau] = \mathbb{Z}[\beta] \left[\frac{1}{\beta}\right]$, we can write an expression for p as

$$p = \frac{b_0 + b_1 \beta + \dots + b_{n-1} \beta^{n-1}}{\beta^m},$$
(2.2)

for some $b_i \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $m \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$. It becomes clear that this expression is not unique, in particular by

2.2. IRRATIONAL SUBDIVISIONS

using $\beta^{n-1} = a_{n-1}\beta^{n-2} + \dots + a_1 + a_0\beta^{-1}$, we see that

$$p = \frac{b_0 + b_1\beta + \dots + b_{n-1}\beta^{n-1}}{\beta^m}$$

$$p = \frac{b_0 + b_1\beta + \dots + b_{n-1}(a_{n-1}\beta^{n-2} + \dots + a_1 + a_0\beta^{-1})}{\beta^m}$$

$$p = \frac{b_{n-1}a_0\beta^{-1} + (b_0 + b_{n-1}a_1) + \dots + (b_{n-2} + b_{n-1}a_{n-1})\beta^{n-2}}{\beta^m}$$

$$p = \frac{b_{n-1}a_0 + (b_0 + b_{n-1}a_1)\beta + \dots + (b_{n-2} + b_{n-1}a_{n-1})\beta^{n-1}}{\beta^{m+1}}$$

$$p = \frac{c_0 + c_1\beta + \dots + c_{n-1}\beta^{n-1}}{\beta^{m+1}}$$

where $c_i \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $m \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$.

Theorem 2.2.6. For all $0 , there exists <math>b_0, \ldots, b_{n-1}, m \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ such that

$$p = \frac{b_0 + b_1\beta + \dots + b_{n-1}\beta^{n-1}}{\beta^m}$$

We will prove this over the next few pages by showing that repeated use of the substitution

$$\beta^{N} = a_{n-1}\beta^{N-1} + \dots + a_{1}\beta^{N-n+1} + a_{0}\beta^{N-n}.$$

will eventually give us an expression for p with only positive coefficients for all $m \ge \hat{N}$ for some $\hat{N} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\ge 0}$.

First note the following.

Remark 2. If we can show that for any $p \in \mathbb{Z}[\beta]$ with

$$p = b_0 + b_1\beta + \dots + b_{n-1}\beta^{n-1}$$

can be written as

$$p = \frac{c_0 + c_1\beta + \dots + c_{n-1}\beta^{n-1}}{\beta^m},$$

with $c_i \ge 0$ for some $m \in \mathbb{Z}_{\ge 0}$, then we can say the same for all $p \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau]$.

This remark will be justified further in Corollary 2.2.20

2.2.7 Linear system of Coefficients

As previously said $p \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau]$ does not have a unique expression, but does for each choice of m, when written in the form shown earlier on 2.2. I.e. if

$$p = \frac{b_0 + b_1\beta + \dots + b_{n-1}\beta^{n-1}}{\beta^m}$$

then $b_{n-1}, \ldots, b_1, b_0$ are unique for each choice of $m \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$. To make notation easier, for each $t \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ define a unitary function $[\cdot]_t$ which takes vectors from \mathbb{R}^n and maps them onto \mathbb{R} as follows. Let $c_0, \ldots, c_{n-1} \in \mathbb{R}$.

$$\begin{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} c_{n-1} \\ c_{n-2} \\ \vdots \\ c_{1} \\ c_{0} \end{bmatrix}_{t} = \frac{c_{0} + c_{1}\beta + \dots + c_{n-2}\beta^{n-2} + c_{n-1}\beta^{n-1}}{\beta^{t}}.$$

We will say that $b_i^{(m)}$ is the coefficient of β^i when the denominator of the expression for p is β^m . This allows us to use a shorthand for this expression of p, in the form of a vector with index m:

$$p = \begin{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} b_{n-1}^{(m)} \\ b_{n-2}^{(m)} \\ \vdots \\ b_{1}^{(m)} \\ b_{0}^{(m)} \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix}_{m} = \frac{b_{0}^{(m)} + b_{1}^{(m)}\beta + \dots + b_{n-2}^{(m)}\beta^{n-2}b_{n-1}^{(m)}\beta^{n-1}}{\beta^{m}}.$$

This makes it easy to see what happens when we use the substitution

2.2. IRRATIONAL SUBDIVISIONS

$$\beta^{n-1} = a_{n-1}\beta^{n-2} + \dots + a_1 + a_0\beta^{-1}.$$

$$p = \frac{b_0^{(m)} + b_1^{(m)}\beta + \dots + b_{n-1}^{(m)}\beta^{n-1}}{\beta^m}$$

$$= \frac{b_0^{(m)} + b_1^{(m)}\beta + \dots + b_{n-1}^{(m)}(a_{n-1}\beta^{n-2} + \dots + a_1 + a_0\beta^{-1})}{\beta^m}$$

$$= \frac{b_{n-1}^{(m)}a_0\beta^{-1} + (b_0^{(m)} + b_{n-1}^{(m)}a_1) + \dots + (b_{n-2}^{(m)} + b_{n-1}^{(m)}a_{n-1})\beta^{n-2}}{\beta^m}$$

$$= \frac{b_{n-1}^{(m)}a_0 + (b_0^{(m)} + b_{n-1}^{(m)}a_1)\beta + \dots + (b_{n-2}^{(m)} + b_{n-1}^{(m)}a_{n-1})\beta^{n-1}}{\beta^{m+1}}$$

$$= \frac{b_0^{(m+1)} + b_1^{(m+1)}\beta + \dots + b_{n-1}^{(m+1)}\beta^{n-1}}{\beta^{m+1}}$$

This can be seen as a linear system of equations:

$$p = \begin{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} b_{n-1}^{(m+1)} \\ b_{n-2}^{(m+1)} \\ \vdots \\ b_{1}^{(m+1)} \\ b_{0}^{(m+1)} \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix}_{m+1} = \begin{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} a_{n-1} & 1 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ a_{n-2} & 0 & 1 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ a_{n-3} & 0 & 0 & 1 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ a_{1} & 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 1 \\ a_{0} & 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} b_{n-1}^{(m)} \\ b_{n-2}^{(m)} \\ \vdots \\ b_{1}^{(m)} \\ b_{0}^{(m)} \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix}_{m+1}$$

We will denote the matrix in this system by A:

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} a_{n-1} & 1 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ a_{n-2} & 0 & 1 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ a_{n-3} & 0 & 0 & 1 & & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ a_1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 1 \\ a_0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.3)

Note that this matrix is also the companion matrix of the polynomial f. It therefore follows that the characteristic equation of the matrix is precisely f = 0. The eigenvalues are therefore the roots of

$$X^{n} - a_{n-1}X^{n-1} - a_{n-2}X^{n-2} - \dots - a_{1}X - a_{0} = 0$$

We know then that A has an unique positive real eigenvalue β .

Definition 2.2.8. A directed graph $\Gamma(V, E)$ is a pair of sets, one set of vertices, V, and one multiset of directed edges, $E = \{(x, y) | x, y \in V^2\}$. Edges can be repeated.

A walk in $\Gamma(V, E)$ is a sequence of vertices v_1, \ldots, v_r , such that $(v_i, v_{i+1}) \in E$ for all $i \in \{1, \ldots, r-1\}$.

A path in $\Gamma(V, E)$ is a walk in which the vertices do not repeat.

A cycle of length k in $\Gamma(V, E)$ is a walk v_1, \ldots, v_k, v_1 in which v_1, \ldots, v_k is a path.

Definition 2.2.9. A non-negative real square matrix $A \in M_n(\mathbb{R}_{>0})$ is **irreducible** if the associated directed graph G_A is strongly connected. I.e., if v_i, v_j are two distinct vertices in G_A , then there is a path from v_i to v_j .

The same matrix A is **primitive** if there exists $k \in \mathbb{N}$, such that all entries of A^k are strictly positive.

The directed graph $G_A = \Gamma(V_A, E_A)$ associated to our non-negative integer matrix A, G_A , has each vertex v_i associated with the i^{th} in the matrix A. An edge (v_i, v_j) exists in E_A , if the j^{th} entry in the i^{th} row of A is non-zero. If this entry has value, d > 0, then there will be d copies of the edge (v_i, v_j) .

Example 4. Consider the associated directed graph for $A = \begin{pmatrix} 3 & 1 & 0 \\ 3 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ which is the companion matrix to the subdivision polynomial $f = X^3 - 3X^2 - 3X - 1$.



Lemma 2.2.10. The matrix A in (2.3), is irreducible.

Proof. Consider the associated graph G_A .

Let $v_i \in G_A$, be a vertex in the directed graph associated with A, and let v_i be the vertex associated with the i^{th} row of A.

For $1 \le i \le n-1$, A(i, i+1) = 1, the $(i+1)^{th}$ entry in the i^{th} row of A is 1. This means that the edge $(v_i, v_{i+1}) \in E_A$ for $1 \leq i \leq n-1$. The entry A(n, 1) = 1, so $(v_n, v_1) \in E_A$.

Given two vertices v_i, v_j , we can find a path from v_i to v_j by following the sequence of vertices $v_i, v_{i+1}, \ldots, v_{j-1}v_j$. If j < i, then the sequence will be $v_i, v_{i+1}, \ldots, v_n, v_1, \ldots, v_j$. Thus G_A is strongly connected, so A is irreducible by definition.

Theorem 2.2.11. The Perron Frobenius Theorem [16][17]

If A is an irreducible non-negative real matrix then the spectral radius, the maximal modulus of any eigenvalue of A, $\rho(A)$, is a positive real number, which is itself an eigenvalue of A. If A is primitive and λ is an eigenvalue of A such that $|\lambda| = \rho(A)$, then $\lambda = \rho(A)$.

We have already seen that A has characteristic equation

 $X^{n} - a_{n-1}X^{n-1} - a_{n-2}X^{n-2} - \dots - a_{1}X - a_{0} = 0.$

Thus if A is a primitive matrix, then the positive real number β is the unique eigenvalue of maximal modulus.

Lemma 2.2.12. The matrix A is primitive.

Proof. We will make use of the fact that a non-negative matrix A is primitive if the associated digraph is strongly connected and contains two cycles C_1, \ldots, C_k with lengths l_1, \ldots, l_k respectively, such that $gdc(l_1, \ldots, l_k) = 1$ [18].

We have already seen in Lemma 2.2.10 that G_A , the associated digraph to A is strongly connected. All this leaves us to do is to show that G_A contains cycles C_1, \ldots, C_k with lengths l_1, \ldots, l_k respectively, such that $gdc(l_1, \ldots, l_k) = 1$.

In remark 1, we noted two conditions for f to be a subdivision polynomial. We defined the set $AI_{>0} = \{i \in \{1, ..., n-1\} : a_i > 0\}$. At least one of the following must be true:

- gcd(n, j) = 1 for some $j \in AI_{>0}$.
- $gcd(n, j_1, \dots, j_t) = 1$ where $\{j_1, \dots, j_t\} = AI_{>0}$.

We will show that if either condition holds we are able to find two cycles in G_A whose lengths are relatively prime.

CASE 1: There exists some some $j \in AI_{>0}$ such that gcd(n, j) = 1.

Then the graph G_A must contain an edge from the vertex v_{n-j} to the vertex v_1 . This allows us to consider two cycles in the graph $C_1 = v_1, v_2, \ldots, v_n, v_1$ of length n, and $C_2 = v_1, v_2, \ldots, v_{n-j}, v_1$ of length n - j. Note that if gcd(n, j) = 1, then also gcd(n, n - j) = 1. Therefore there are two distinct cycles in G_A whose lengths are relatively prime, and thus A must be primitive.

CASE 2: $gcd(n, j_1, ..., j_t) = 1$ where $\{j_1, ..., j_t\} = AI_{>0}$.

Then the graph G_A must contain the edges $(v_{n-j_1}, v_1), (v_{j_2}, v_1), \dots, (v_{j_t}, v_1)$. This allows us to define t + 1 cycles as follows:

$$C_0 = v_1, \dots, v_n, v_1$$

$$C_1 = v_1, \dots, v_{n-j_1}, v_1$$

$$\vdots$$

$$C_t = v_1, \dots, v_{n-j_t}, v_1.$$

The length of cycle C_0 is n, and the lengths of cycles C_1, \ldots, C_t are $n - j_1, \ldots, n - j_t$ respectively. We can note that since $gcd(n, j_1, \ldots, j_t) = 1$ and $j_i < n$ for all i, that

$$gcd(n, n-j_1, \ldots, n-j_t) = 1.$$

Thus we have found cycles in G_A whose lengths are relatively prime, and thus A must be primitive. \Box

Thus we have the following remark.

Remark 3. The matrix A has exactly one positive real eigenvalue, which is $\rho(A) = \beta$. All other eigenvalues of A have absolute value less than β .

2.2.13 Generalised Fibonacci Sequence

We define n linear recurrences $\{F_N^{(j)}\}_{-n+2}^{\infty}$ for $j \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, each with characteristic polynomial

$$f = X^{n} - a_{n-1}X^{n-1} - a_{n-2}X^{n-2} - \dots - a_{1}X - a_{0}$$

and with initial conditions, $F_1^{(j)}, F_0^{(j)}, \ldots, F_{2-n}^{(j)}$ given by the j^{th} row of our matrix A. i.e.

$$F_N^{(j)} = a_{n-1}F_{N-1}^{(j)} + a_{n-2}F_{N-2}^{(j)} + \dots + a_1F_{N-(n-1)}^{(j)} + a_0F_{N-n}^{(j)}$$

Example 5. Let $f = X^3 - 3X^2 - 3X - 1$, then $A = \begin{pmatrix} 3 & 1 & 0 \\ 3 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ and

$$F_1^{(1)} = 3 \qquad F_0^{(1)} = 1 \qquad F_{-1}^{(1)} = 0$$

$$F_1^{(2)} = 3 \qquad F_0^{(2)} = 0 \qquad F_{-1}^{(2)} = 1$$

$$F_1^{(3)} = 1 \qquad F_0^{(3)} = 0 \qquad F_{-1}^{(3)} = 0$$

Here $F_N^{(j)} = 3F_{N-1}^{(j)} + 3F_{N-2}^{(j)} + F_{N-3}^{(j)}$ for $j \in \{1, 2, 3\}$.

Definition 2.2.14. A polynomial f is **asymptotically simple** if the set of all zeros of f with maximal modulus contains a unique zero with greatest multiplicity.

Consider our characteristic polynomial f. By the Perron Frobenius Theorem, as f is the characteristic polynomial of the irreducible matrix A, then f has a unique eigenvalue of maximal modulus, namely β .

Proposition 2.2.15. Szczyrba [19]

Given a linear recurrence $\{F_N\}_{N\in\mathbb{N}}$ with asymptotically simple characteristic polynomial and nontrivial initial conditions, then the ratio limit

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \left\{ \frac{F_{N+1}}{F_N} \right\}$$

exists and coincides with the unique zero with maximal modulus of the characteristic polynomial maximal multiplicity.

For each of the linear recurrences $\{F_N^{(j)}\}_{-n+2}^\infty$ this gives us a direct corollary.

Corollary 2.2.16. For $j \in \{1, ..., n\}$ the ratio limit of the sequence

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \left\{ \frac{F_{N+1}^{(j)}}{F_N^{(j)}} \right\} = \beta$$

Recall the irreducible matrix A. We define a linear system of recurrences

 $\{G_m^{(j)}\}_{m\in\mathbb{Z}}$

by taking $G_m^{(j)}$ to be the j^{th} entry in the first column of the matrix A^m . This gives us the recursion relations for all $N \in \mathbb{Z}$:

$$G_N^{(1)} = a_{n-1}G_{N-1}^{(1)} + G_{N-1}^{(2)}$$

$$G_N^{(2)} = a_{n-2}G_{N-1}^{(1)} + G_{N-1}^{(3)}$$

$$\vdots$$

$$G_N^{(j)} = a_{n-j}G_{N-1}^{(1)} + G_{N-1}^{(j+1)}$$

$$\vdots$$

$$G_N^{(n-1)} = a_1G_{N-1}^{(1)} + G_{N-1}^{(n)}$$

$$G_N^{(n)} = a_0G_{N-1}^{(1)}.$$

Lemma 2.2.17. $G_N^{(j)} = F_N^{(j)}$ for $N \ge 2 - n$.

Proof. We need to show that the recursion relations on $\left\{G_N^{(j)}\right\}_{N\in\mathbb{Z}}$ expand to give

$$G_N^{(j)} = a_{n-1}G_{N-1}^{(j)} + a_{n-2}G_{N-2}^{(j)} + \dots + a_1G_{N-(n-1)}^{(j)} + a_0G_{N-n}^{(j)}$$

for all $j \in \{1, ..., n\}$. We will do this by considering 3 cases.

Case 1: j = 1.

$$G_N^{(1)} = a_{n-1}G_{N-1}^{(1)} + G_{N-1}^{(2)}$$

= $a_{n-1}G_{N-1}^{(1)} + a_{n-2}G_{N-2}^{(1)} + G_{N-2}^{(3)}$
:
= $a_{n-1}G_{N-1}^{(1)} + \dots + a_1G_{N-n+1}^{(1)} + G_{N-n+1}^{(n)}$
= $a_{n-1}G_{N-1}^{(1)} + \dots + a_1G_{N-n+1}^{(1)} + a_0G_{N-n}^{(1)}$

Thus $G_N^{(1)} = F_N^{(1)}$ for all N.

Case 2: j = n.

$$\begin{aligned} G_N^{(n)} &= a_0 G_{N-1}^{(1)} \\ &= a_0 \left(a_{n-1} G_{N-2}^{(1)} G_{N-2}^{(2)} \right) \\ &= a_{n-1} \left(a_0 G_{N-2}^{(1)} \right) + a_0 \left(a_{n-2} G_{N-3}^{(1)} + G_{N-3}^{(3)} \right) \\ &= a_{n-1} G_{N-1}^{(n)} + a_{n-2} \left(a_0 G_{N-3}^{(1)} \right) + a_0 \left(a_{n-3} G_{N-4}^{(1)} + G_{N-4}^{(4)} \right) \\ &\vdots \\ &= a_{n-1} G_{N-1}^{(n)} + \dots + a_2 \left(a_0 G_{N-n+1}^{(1)} \right) + a_0 \left(a_1 G_{N-n}^{(1)} + G_{N-n}^{(n)} \right) \\ &= a_{n-1} G_{N-1}^{(n)} + \dots + a_1 G_{N-n+1}^{(n)} + a_0 G_{N-n}^{(n)} \end{aligned}$$

Thus $G_N^{(n)} = F_N^{(n)}$ for all N.

Case 3: $j \in \{2, ..., n-1\}.$

$$\begin{split} G_N^{(j)} &= a_{n-j}G_{N-1}^{(1)} + G_{N-1}^{(j+1)} \\ &= a_{n-j} \left(a_{n-1}G_{N-2}^{(1)} + G_{N-2}^{(2)} \right) + G_{N-1}^{(j+1)} \\ &= a_{n-1} \left(a_{n-j}G_{N-2}^{(1)} \right) + a_{n-j} \left(a_{n-2}G_{N-3}^{(1)} + G_{N-3}^{(3)} \right) + G_{N-1}^{(j+1)} \\ &= a_{n-1} \left(a_{n-j}G_{N-2}^{(1)} \right) + a_{n-2} \left(a_{n-j}G_{N-3}^{(1)} \right) + \\ &+ a_{n-j} \left(a_{n-3}G_{N-4}^{(1)} + G_{N-4}^{(4)} \right) + G_{N-1}^{(j+1)} \\ &= a_{n-1} \left(a_{n-j}G_{N-2}^{(1)} \right) + \dots + a_{n-(j-1)} \left(a_{n-j}G_{N-j}^{(1)} \right) + a_{n-j}G_{N-j}^{(j)} + \\ &+ G_{N-1}^{(j+1)} \\ &= a_{n-1} \left(a_{n-j}G_{N-2}^{(1)} \right) + \dots + a_{n-(j-1)} \left(a_{n-j-1}G_{N-j}^{(1)} \right) + a_{n-j}G_{N-j}^{(j)} + \\ &+ a_{n-1} \left(a_{n-j-1}G_{N-3}^{(1)} \right) + \dots + a_{n-(j-1)} \left(a_{n-j-1}G_{N-j-1}^{(1)} \right) + \\ &+ a_{n-j-1}G_{N-j-1}^{(j)} + G_{N-2}^{(j+2)} \\ &= a_{n-1} \left(a_{n-j}G_{N-2}^{(1)} + a_{n-j-1}G_{N-3}^{(1)} \right) + \\ &+ a_{n-2} \left(a_{n-j}G_{N-3}^{(1)} + a_{n-j-1}G_{N-j}^{(1)} \right) + \\ &+ a_{n-j}G_{N-j}^{(j)} + a_{n-j-1}G_{N-j-1}^{(j)} + G_{N-2}^{(j+2)} \\ &= a_{n-1} \left(a_{n-j}G_{N-2}^{(1)} + \dots + a_{0}G_{N-j}^{(1)} \right) + \\ &+ a_{n-j}G_{N-j}^{(j)} + a_{n-j-1}G_{N-j-1}^{(j)} + \dots + a_{0}G_{N-n}^{(j)} \right) + \\ &+ a_{n-j}G_{N-j}^{(j)} + a_{n-j-1}G_{N-j-1}^{(j)} + \dots + a_{0}G_{N-n}^{(j)} \right) + \\ &+ a_{n-j}G_{N-j}^{(j)} + a_{n-j-1}G_{N-j-1}^{(j)} + \dots + a_{0}G_{N-n}^{(j)} \right) + \\ &+ a_{n-j}G_{N-j}^{(j)} + a_{n-j-1}G_{N-j-1}^{(j)} + \dots + a_{0}G_{N-n}^{(j)} \right) + \\ &+ a_{n-j}G_{N-j}^{(j)} + a_{n-j-1}G_{N-j-1}^{(j)} + \dots + a_{0}G_{N-n}^{(j)} \right) + \\ &+ a_{n-j}G_{N-j}^{(j)} + a_{n-j-1}G_{N-j-1}^{(j)} + \dots + a_{0}G_{N-n}^{(j)} \right) + \\ &+ a_{n-j}G_{N-j}^{(j)} + a_{n-j-1}G_{N-j-1}^{(j)} + \dots + a_{0}G_{N-n}^{(j)} \right) + \\ &+ a_{n-j}G_{N-j}^{(j)} + a_{n-j-1}G_{N-j-1}^{(j)} + \dots + a_{0}G_{N-n}^{(j)} \right) + \\ &+ a_{n-j}G_{N-j}^{(j)} + a_{n-j-1}G_{N-j-1}^{(j)} + \dots + a_{0}G_{N-n}^{(j)} + \\ &+ a_{n-j}G_{N-j}^{(j)} + a_{n-j-1}G_{N-j-1}^{(j)} + \dots + a_{0}G_{N-n}^{(j)} \right) + \\ &+ a_{n-j}G_{N-j}^{(j)} + a_{n-j-1}G_{N-j-1}^{(j)} + \dots + a_{0}G_{N-n}^{(j)} + \\ &+ a_{n-j}G_{N-j}^{(j)} + a_{n-j-1}G_{N-j-1}^{(j)} + \dots + a_{0}G_{N-n}^{(j)} + \\ &+ a_{n$$

Note that we have all the correct coefficients for $G_i^{(j)}$ with $i \leq N - j$.

Claim:

$$a_{n-j}G_{N-2}^{(1)} + \dots + a_0G_{N-2}^{(1)} = G_{N-1}^{(j)}$$

for all $j \in \{2, \ldots, n-1\}$ and for all $N \in \mathbb{N}$.

2.2. IRRATIONAL SUBDIVISIONS

Recall the result from case 1.

$$\begin{aligned} a_{n-j}G_{N-2}^{(1)} + \dots + a_0G_{N-2}^{(1)} &= G_{N+j-2}^{(1)} - a_{n-1}G_{N+j-3}^{(1)} - \dots - a_{n-(j-1)}G_{N-1}^{(1)} \\ &= G_{N+j-3}^{(2)} - a_{n-2}G_{N+j-4}^{(1)} - \dots - a_{n-(j-1)}G_{N-1}^{(1)} \\ &\vdots \\ &= G_{N+1}^{(j-2)} - a_{n-(j-2)}G_N^{(1)} - a_{n-(j-1)}G_{N-1}^{(1)} \\ &= G_N^{(j-1)} - a_{n-(j-1)}G_{N-(j-1)}^{(1)} \\ &= G_{N-1}^{(j)} \end{aligned}$$

With this we have enough to prove case 3, so

$$G_N^{(j)} = a_{n-1}G_{N-1}^{(j)} + a_{n-2}G_{N-2}^{(j)} + \dots + a_1G_{N-(n-1)}^{(j)} + a_0G_{N-n}^{(j)}$$

for all $j \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ and $N \in \mathbb{Z}$.

2.2.18 Positive coefficients

Theorem 2.2.19. For all $0 , there exists <math>\hat{N} \in \mathbb{N}$ such that for all $N \ge \hat{N}$

$$p = \begin{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} b_{n-1}^{(N)} \\ b_{n-2}^{(N)} \\ \vdots \\ b_{1}^{(N)} \\ b_{0}^{(N)} \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix}_{N} = \frac{b_{0}^{(N)} + b_{1}^{(N)}\beta + \dots + b_{n-2}^{(N)}\beta^{n-2} + b_{n-1}^{(N)}\beta^{n-1}}{\beta^{N}}$$

with $b_i^{(N)} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ for all $i \in \{0, \dots, n-1\}$.

Proof. Let $p \in \mathbb{Z}[\beta]$, such that p > 0 and

$$p = \begin{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} b_{n-1}^{(0)} \\ b_{n-2}^{(0)} \\ \vdots \\ b_{1}^{(0)} \\ b_{0}^{(0)} \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix}_{0} = b_{0}^{(0)} + b_{1}^{(0)}\beta + \dots + b_{n-2}^{(0)}\beta^{n-2} + b_{n-1}^{(0)}\beta^{n-1}.$$

By using the substitution $\beta^{n-1} = a_{n-1}\beta^{n-2} + \cdots + a_0\beta^{-1}$, we can find $b_i^{(1)}$ and $b_i^{(2)}$ for $i \in \{0, \dots, n-1\}$ such that

$$p = \begin{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} b_{n-1}^{(1)} \\ b_{n-2}^{(1)} \\ \vdots \\ b_{1}^{(1)} \\ b_{0}^{(1)} \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix}_{1} = \begin{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} a_{n-1} & 1 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ a_{n-2} & 0 & 1 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ a_{1} & 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 1 \\ a_{0} & 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} b_{n-1}^{(0)} \\ b_{n-2}^{(0)} \\ \vdots \\ b_{1}^{(0)} \\ b_{0}^{(0)} \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix}_{1}$$
$$p = \begin{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} b_{n-1}^{(2)} \\ b_{n-2}^{(2)} \\ \vdots \\ b_{1}^{(2)} \\ b_{0}^{(2)} \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix}_{2} = \begin{bmatrix} a_{n-1} & 1 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ a_{n-2} & 0 & 1 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ a_{n-3} & 0 & 0 & 1 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ a_{1} & 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 1 \\ a_{0} & 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} b_{n-1}^{(1)} \\ b_{n-2}^{(1)} \\ \vdots \\ b_{1}^{(1)} \\ b_{0}^{(1)} \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix}_{2}$$
$$p = \begin{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} b_{n-1}^{(2)} \\ b_{n-2}^{(2)} \\ \vdots \\ b_{1}^{(2)} \\ b_{0}^{(2)} \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix}_{2} = \begin{bmatrix} A^{2} \begin{pmatrix} b_{n-1}^{(0)} \\ b_{n-2}^{(0)} \\ \vdots \\ b_{1}^{(0)} \\ b_{0}^{(0)} \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix}_{2}$$

2.2. IRRATIONAL SUBDIVISIONS

By repeating this substitution N times, we see that

$$p = \begin{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} b_{n-1}^{(N)} \\ b_{n-2}^{(N)} \\ \vdots \\ b_{1}^{(N)} \\ b_{0}^{(N)} \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix}_{N} = \begin{bmatrix} A^{N} \begin{pmatrix} b_{n-1}^{(0)} \\ b_{n-2}^{(0)} \\ \vdots \\ b_{1}^{(0)} \\ b_{0}^{(0)} \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix}_{N}$$

By Lemma 2.2.17,
$$A^N = \begin{pmatrix} F_N^{(1)} & F_{N-1}^{(1)} & \dots & F_{N-(n-1)}^{(1)} \\ F_N^{(2)} & F_{N-1}^{(2)} & \dots & F_{N-(n-1)}^{(2)} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ F_N^{(n)} & F_{N-1}^{(n)} & \dots & F_{N-(n-1)}^{(n)} \end{pmatrix}$$
 so we can write $b_i^{(N)}$ as

$$b_i^{(N)} = F_N^{(i)} b_{n-1}^{(0)} + F_{N-1}^{(i)} b_{n-2}^{(0)} + \cdots + F_{N-(n-2)}^{(i)} b_1^{(0)} + F_{N-(n-1)}^{(i)} b_0^{(i)}$$

By Corollary 2.2.16 we have $\lim_{N\to\infty} \frac{F_{N+1}^{(i)}}{F_N^{(i)}} = \beta$. We will use the notation \approx here to imply that for $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ and sufficiently large N,

$$\frac{F_{N+1}^{(i)}}{F_N^{(i)}} \approx \beta.$$

Hence, if we take sufficiently large $N,\,F_N^{(i)}\approx\beta^kF_{N-k}^{(i)}.$ Therefore

$$\begin{split} b_i^{(N)} &\approx b_{n-1}^{(0)} \beta^{n-1} F_{N-(n-1)}^{(i)} + \dots + b_1^{(0)} \beta F_{N-(n-1)}^{(i)} + b_0^{(0)} F_{N-(n-1)}^{(i)} \\ b_i^{(N)} &\approx \left(b_{n-1}^{(0)} \beta^{n-1} + \dots + b_1^{(0)} \beta + b_0^{(0)} \right) F_{N-(n-1)}^{(i)} \\ b_i^{(N)} &\approx p \cdot F_{N-(n-1)}^{(i)}. \end{split}$$

As A is a non-negative irreducible real matrix, $F_N^{(i)} = G_N^{(i)} \ge 0$ for all $N \in \mathbb{N}$. Since p > 0,s we can conclude for large enough N

$$b_i^{(N)} \approx p \cdot F_{N-(n-1)}^{(i)} \ge 0$$

for all $i \in \{0, ..., n-1\}$.

Theorem 2.2.6 is proved in the following corollary to Theorem 2.2.19.

Corollary 2.2.20. Let $p \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau]$ such that p > 0. Then there exists an expression for p

$$p = \frac{b_0 + b_1\beta + \dots + b_{n-1}\beta^{n-1}}{\beta^m}$$

where $b_i, m \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$

Proof. Theorem 2.2.19 tells us that for all $0 < p' \in \mathbb{Z}[\beta]$ there exists an expression

$$p' = \frac{b_0 + b_1\beta + \dots + b_{n-1}\beta^{n-1}}{\beta^N}$$

where $b_i, N \ge 0$.

As we have previously stated, we can write $\mathbb{Z}[\tau]$ as

$$\mathbb{Z}[\tau] = \mathbb{Z}[\beta] \left[\frac{1}{\beta} \right].$$

Therefore all 0 can be written as

$$p = \frac{\left(\frac{b_0 + b_1\beta + \dots + b_{n-1}\beta^{n-1}}{\beta^N}\right)}{\beta^m}$$
$$= \frac{b_0 + b_1\beta + \dots + b_{n-1}\beta^{n-1}}{\beta^M}$$

where $b_i, M \ge 0$, and for some M = N + m > 0.

Therefore each element p > 0 of the ring $\mathbb{Z}[\tau]$ can be expressed as a sum of powers of τ using only nonnegative coefficients.

2.3 Subdivisions and Trees

2.3.1 β -Subdivisions

We will begin by formalising our definition of a subdivision.

Definition 2.3.2. A finite subdivision of [0,1], S = S(B[S], I(S)), of the real interval [0,1], is described by a pair of sets:

- The finite set of breakpoints in S is $B[S] \subset [0,1]$. $B[S] = \{0 = b_0, b_1, \dots, b_n = 1\}$, where $b_i < b_{i+1}$ for each *i*.
- The finite set of sub-intervals is I[S]. For all $I, J \in I[S], I, J \subset [0, 1]$, and $I \cap J = \emptyset$

The sets $B[S] \cup I[s] = [0, 1]$ and $B[S] \cap I[S] = \emptyset$. The **size** of the subdivision size(S) = |I(S)| = |B(S)| - 1

Remark 4. A subdivision of [0, 1], S, can be defined solely by finding either of B[S] or I[S]. Having one set allows us to derive the other.

This remark allows us to refer to a subdivision by a set of breakpoints (respectively a set of sub-intervals) without having to define the corresponding sub-intervals (respectively breakpoints). In certain circumstances it will be more advantageous to think of a subdivision as a set of breakpoints, and in other cases as a set of sub-intervals.

Definition 2.3.3. We denote the length of an interval I to be L(I).

Let β be the unique positive root of the *irreducible* subdivision polynomial

$$f_{\beta} = X^n - a_{n-1}X^{n-1} - a_{n-2}X^{n-2} - \dots - a_1X - a_0$$

. Note that two important properties of f_{β} are that f_{β} is minimal and not equivalent to $g(X^k)$ for any $g \in \mathbb{Z}[X]$ and $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 2}$.

Definition 2.3.4. A β -subdivision of [0, 1], S, is any subdivision of [0, 1], S such that for any $\ell_i \in I[S]$ $L(\ell_i) = \beta^{r_i}$, for some $r_i \in \mathbb{Z}$.

Example 6. Let $f_2 = X - 2 \in \mathbb{Z}[X]$, an irreducible polynomial over \mathbb{Z} which has 2 as the only positive root. Then if S is a subdivision of [0,1] with $B[S] = \{0, \frac{1}{4}, \frac{3}{8}, \frac{1}{2}, 1\}$, then S is a 2-subdivision.



Example 7. Let $\beta = \frac{1+\sqrt{5}}{2}$. Then, $f_{\beta} = X^2 - X - 1$, where β is the unique positive root of f_{β} . We can find a β -subdivision below.



Note that there is not a unique subdivision polynomial with β as a root. Consider $f_2 = X - 2$, and $f'_2 = X^2 - X - 2$, both of which are subdivision polynomials for which 2 is a zero. Since f_2 is irreducible, this is the only irreducible subdivision polynomial for which 2 is a zero.

Lemma 2.3.5. Let the set $\{0 = p_0, p_1, \dots, p_t = 1\}$ partition of [0, 1] into t intervals such that $p_i \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau]$ for $i \in \{0, \dots, t\}$. Then there exists a β -subdivision S such that $\{p_0, p_1, \dots, p_t\} \subset B[S]$.

Proof. Since $p_i \in Z[\tau] \cap [0,1]$ for $i \in \{0, \ldots, t\}$, define $q_i = p_i - p_{i-1} \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau] \cap [0,1]$ for $i \in \{1, \ldots, t\}$.

We will prove the Lemma by recalling Corollary 2.2.20. As $q_i \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau] \cap [0,1]$, there exists $N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$q_{i} = \begin{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} b_{n-1}^{(i)} \\ b_{n-2}^{(i)} \\ \vdots \\ b_{1}^{(i)} \\ b_{0}^{(i)} \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix}_{N} = \frac{b_{0}^{(i)} + b_{1}^{(i)}\beta + \dots + b_{n-2}^{(i)}\beta^{n-2} + b_{n-1}^{(i)}\beta^{n-1}}{\beta^{N}}$$

where $b_j^{(i)} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ for $j \in \{0, \dots, n-1\}$. Each sub-interval q_i can be substituted for $b_0^{(i)} + \dots + b_{n-1}^{(i)}$ sub-intervals which all have length which is some power of β . Since we can convert every interval q_i in this way, there is a β -subdivision which contains the breakpoints $\{p_0, p_1, \dots, p_t\}$.

Recall the definition of the Bieri-Strebel group.

Definition. The Bieri-Strebel Group

The Bieri-Strebel Group G(I, A, P) is the group of all piecewise-linear homeomorphisms of the unit interval (I), with breakpoints in A, and slopes with gradient in P where P is a group of units contained in A.
2.3. SUBDIVISIONS AND TREES

In particular, we have defined G_{β} below

$$G_{\beta} = G\left([0,1], \mathbb{Z}\left[\frac{1}{\beta}\right], \left<\beta\right>\right)$$

for β the unique positive zero of an irreducible subdivision polynomial.

Given $g \in G_{\beta}$, $g : [0,1] \to [0,1]$, with breakpoints $\{(0,0) = (p_0,q_0), (p_1,q_1), \dots, (p_t,q_t) = (1,1)\},\$

$$g(x) = \left(\frac{q_{i+1} - q_i}{p_{i+1} - p_i}\right)(x - p_i) + q_i \text{ for } x \in [p_i, p_{i+1}]$$

for $i \in \{0, \ldots, t-1\}$.

Then there exist two subdivisions of [0, 1], P and Q, both of size t, where $P = \{p_0, p_1, \ldots, p_t\}$ and $Q = \{q_0, q_1, \ldots, q_t\}$, and we write g = (P, Q), the affine interpolation from the subdivision P to the subdivision Q.

Remark 5. Given any β -subdivisions P, Q, such that size(P) = size(Q), the map $g = (P, Q) \in G_{\beta}$.

Proposition 2.3.6. Let $g = (P,Q) \in G_{\beta}$ have breakpoints $\{(0,0) = (p_0,q_0), (p_1,q_1), \dots, (p_t,q_t) = (1,1)\}$. Then there exists β -subdivisions P', Q' such that g = (P',Q').

Proof. Let $g \in G_{\beta}$, such that g = (P,Q), where $P = \{0 = p_0, p_1, \dots, p_t = 1\}$ and $Q = \{0 = q_0, q_1, \dots, q_t = 1\}$. By Lemma 2.3.5, there exists P_1 , a β -subdivision of [0,1] such that $B[P] \subset B[P_1] = \{0 = b_0, b_1, \dots, b_s = 1\}$. Define Q_1 , a subdivision of [0,1] by taking $Q_1 = g(P_1)$ with $B[Q_1] = \{0 = g(b_0), g(b_1), \dots, g(b_s) = 1\}$. Since $p_i \in B[P_1]$, and $g(p_i) = q_i$ for $i \in \{0, \dots, t\}$, then $B[Q] \subset B[Q_1]$.

For all $b_j \in B[P_1]$, such that $p_i \leq b_j < p_{i+1}$),

$$g(b_j) = \beta^{r_i}(b_j - p_i) + q_i$$

for some $r_i \in \mathbb{Z}$.

Therefore if b_j and b_{j+1} are adjacent breakpoints in P_1 , then the difference between the adjacent breakpoints $g(b_j), g(b_{j+1})$ in Q_1 is,

$$g(b_{j+1}) - g(b_j) = \beta^{r_i}(b_{j+1} - p_i) + q_i - \beta^{r_i}(b_j - p_i) + q_i$$
$$= \beta^{r_i}(b_{j+1} - p_i) - \beta^{r_i}(b_j - p_i)$$
$$= \beta^{r_i}(b_{j+1} - b_j)$$

Since b_j, b_{j+1} are adjacent breakpoints in the β -subdivision $P_1, b_{j+1} - b_j = \beta^{r'_j}$ for some $r'_j \in \mathbb{Z}$. Thus,

$$g(b_{j+1}) - g(b_j) = \beta^{r_i} \beta^{r'_j} = \beta^r_{i,j}$$

for some $r_{i,j} \in \mathbb{Z}$.

So the difference between any two adjacent breakpoints in Q_1 is a power of β . So Q_1 is also a β -subdivision. Hence, $g = (P_1, Q_1)$ where P_1 and Q_1 are both β -subdivisions.

We now know that every element of G_{β} can be expressed as the affine interpolation between two β -subdivisions.

2.3.7 Regular β -subdivisions

We will now define what it means for a subdivision to be *regular*. We will provide a precise definition for regular β -subdivisions for which β is a quadratic integer. This definition will be analogous to a definition for regular β -subdivisions for any β , the unique root of an irreducible subdivision polynomial.

Let the quadratic integer β be the positive real zero of

$$f_{\beta} = X^2 - a_1 X - a_0$$

which is an irreducible polynomial, i.e. $\beta \notin \mathbb{Z}$. We can deduce from this that

$$\beta^2 = a_1 \beta^1 + a_0$$
$$\beta^N = a_1 \beta^{N-1} + a_0 \beta^{N-2}$$

Since $1 = \beta^0$,

$$1 = a_1 \beta^{-1} + a_0 \beta^{-2}$$
$$1 = a_1 \tau + a_0 \tau^2.$$

The subdivision polynomial f_{β} defines a β -subdivision of [0, 1] with a_1 sub-intervals of length τ and a_0 sub-intervals of length τ^2 . It is useful to let $K = a_1 + a_0$, and $N = a_1 + a_0 - 1$.

Note that the β -subdivision of [0, 1] defined by f_{β} contains K sub-intervals, and so the number of intervals has increased by N.

Definition 2.3.8. The coefficient vector $\underline{\mathbf{a}}$ of a subdivision polynomial $f_{\beta} = X^n - a_{n-1}X^{n-1} - a_{n-2}X^{n-2} - \cdots - a_1X - a_0$ is the vector $\underline{\mathbf{a}} = (a_{n-1}, \dots, a_1, a_0)$.

Example 8. Let $f_3 = X - 3$, then the coefficient vector $\underline{\mathbf{a}} = (3)$.

In [5] Brown looked at subdivision polynomials with coefficient vector (k, 1) for $k \ge 1$. Brown gives us the following definition.

Definition 2.3.9. [Brown]

A k-partition of the interval [0, 1] of **type** (i), where $1 \le i \le k+1$, is a subdivision of [0, 1] containing k+1 sub-intervals k of which have length τ and 1 which has length τ^2 which can be found in the i^{th} position.

In a k-partition of [0, 1] of type (i), there are i - 1 longer sub-intervals of length τ preceding the short sub-interval of length τ^2 .

Example 9. 2-partitions of type (1), (2), (3).



A k-partition of type (i) can be performed on a general interval [A, B], and is defined to be the image of the intervals of the k-partition of [0, 1] of type (i) under the map

$$x \mapsto A + (B - A)x.$$

We can extend this definition to subdivision polynomials with coefficient vector (a_1, a_0) , and here the type of the partition will still depend on the location of the shorter intervals. **Definition 2.3.10.** An (a_1, a_0) -partition of [0, 1] of type $(i_1, i_2 \dots, i_{a_0})$ with $1 \le i_1 < i_2 < \dots$ $\dots < i_{a_0} \le K$, is a subdivision of [0, 1], P, such that I(P) contains a_1 sub-intervals of length τ and a_0 sub-intervals of length τ^2 . The a_0 intervals of length τ^2 are found in positions i_j for $1 \le j \le a_0$.

Clearly a k-partition of type (i) can be equivalently described as a (k, 1)-partition of type (i_1) . Example 10. Below is a (2, 2)-partition of type (1, 3).



These (a_1, a_0) -partitions can similarly be performed on any interval. An (a_1, a_0) -partition of type (i_1, \ldots, i_{a_0}) of an interval [A, B] is defined to be the image of the intervals of the (a_1, a_0) -partition of type (i_1, \ldots, i_{a_0}) of [0, 1] under the map

$$x \mapsto A + (B - A)x$$

We use (a_1, a_0) -partitions to build up a specific type of subdivision.

Definition 2.3.11. An (a_1, a_0) -subdivision of level 0 is the unit interval [0, 1]. An (a_1, a_0) -subdivision of level N is a subdivision of [0, 1] obtained by performing an (a_1, a_0) -partition of any type on an interval in an (a_1, a_0) -subdivision of level N - 1.

Example 11. Below is a (2, 1)-subdivision of level 2.



Since $L([0,1]) = 1 = \beta^0$, the unit interval is a β -subdivision. By noting that the substitution $\beta^t = a_1\beta^{t-1} + a_0\beta^{t-2}$ is being used whenever performing an (a_1, a_0) -partition on an interval of length β^t , we have the following remark.

Remark 6. An (a_1, a_0) -subdivision of any level is a β -subdivision.

Definition 2.3.12. A β -subdivision which is equivalent to an (a_1, a_0) -subdivision of some level, is called a **regular** β -subdivision.

Whilst all regular β -subdivisions are β -subdivisions, **not** all β -subdivisions are *regular* β -subdivisions.

2.4 (a_1, a_0) -trees

Recall the definition of a *directed simple graph*

Definition 2.4.1. A directed simple graph $\Gamma(V, E)$ is a pair of sets, one set of vertices, V, and one set of directed edges, $E = \{(x, y) | x, y \in V^2, x \neq y\}$. A vertex $v \in V$ has in-degree $d_{in}(v) = |\{(x, y) \in E | y = v\}|$ and **out-degree** $d_{out}(v) = |\{(x, y) \in E | x = v\}|$. The degree of v is $d(v) = d_{in}(v) + d_{out}(v)$.

Unlike directed graphs, directed simple graphs do not admit repeated edges and so consist of a set, rather than a multiset, of edges.

Definition 2.4.2. A (rooted) tree is a directed simple graph with a root R such that for all $x \in V$, there exists a unique set of vertices $P = \{p_0, p_1, \ldots, p_t\} \subset V$ with $(p_i, p_{i+1}) \in E$, $(p_{i+1}, p_i) \notin E$, where $R = p_0$ and $x = p_t$. In a tree vertices are also called **nodes**.

Any node x in the tree with degree $d(x) = d_{in}(x) = 1$ is called a leaf. A non-leaf node, y in the tree must have $d_{out}(y) \neq 0$ and is the root of a sub-tree called a **caret** and is the *parent* to some number of other nodes called *children*. We use x(j) to denote the j^{th} child of the node x as we read from left to right.

It is worth noting that for a root node $R d_i n(R) = 0$, and $d_i n(X) = 1$ for all $X \in V \setminus R$.

In all of our trees, any edge is directed down the tree and so we will dispense with arrows to highlight this.

The following tree can be seen to represent a regular 3-subdivision of level 2.



For most subdivisions the nodes and leaves of the trees will represent different lengths. To show this, fix the height of a node representing a fixed length. The lower the node, the shorter the interval. Consider the following partition.



We can model this partition with the following caret.



We cannot move any of the nodes vertically, but they have freedom to move horizontally as long as they do not pass each other. If two nodes represent intervals of the same length then they must be at the same height, and if node x represents a shorter interval than node y then x should be lower than y. We will consider (a_1, a_0) -partitions through a tree-representation.

Brown [5] introduces modified trees, called k-trees as a way of representing the k-subdivisions. In a k-tree, the root node represents the interval [0, 1], then each time a k-partition is performed on an interval, k + 1 children are added to the leaf representing the partitioned interval. Each child is identified with an interval in the k-partition in left-to-right order, with the short interval drawn twice as far below its parent as the other children.

Brown introduced k-partitions as having k+1 different types, and this will need to be the same when defining the associated carets.

2.4. (A_1, A_0) -TREES

Example 12. Consider the subdivision polynomial $f_{\beta} = X^2 - 2X - 1$ Then f_{β} can describe any of the following partitions.



These partitions have corresponding carets:



The root of the polynomial equation $f = X^2 - 2X - 1 = 0$ is $\beta = \sqrt{2} + 1$. The ratio of the lengths represented by the highest node to the lengths represented by the middle nodes is β . In fact, if this change in height is found between any two nodes, the ratio of lengths represented is also β . The ratio of the lengths represented by the highest node to the lengths represented by the lowest node in these carets is β^2 .



These k-trees can be readily adapted to correspond to (a_1, a_0) -subdivisions. The root of the (a_1, a_0) -caret is the interval that is being (a_1, a_0) -partitioned. We assign each sub-interval in an (a_1, a_0) -partition of type (i_1, \ldots, i_{a_0}) to a child in the (a_1, a_0) -caret with the i_j^{th} child being drawn twice as far below the parent, for $j = 1, \ldots, a_0$.



Figure 2.1: Example of 3-tree and associated 3-subdivision of level 2.

Example 13. There are six types of (2, 2)-partition, shown here as (2, 2)-carets:



Note, the position of the longer legs in each caret correlate to the shorter sub-intervals in the (2, 2)-partition.

Definition 2.4.3. An (a_1, a_0) -tree of level N, is a tree with N carets in which every caret is an (a_1, a_0) -caret of some type.

Since (a_1, a_0) -carets correspond to (a_1, a_0) -partitions

Remark 7. Each (a_1, a_0) -tree of level N corresponds to an (a_1, a_0) -subdivision of size N.

Definition 2.4.4. Let X be a node in the (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T} . A sub-tree from the node X, is \mathcal{T}_X , the (a_1, a_0) -tree found within \mathcal{T} which has X as the root node.

The **absence** of the sub-tree from X is $\mathcal{T} \setminus \mathcal{T}_X$, the (a_1, a_0) -tree identical to \mathcal{T} , except that X is now a leaf.

In Figure 2.3, we see a (2, 1)-tree with root node N. The sub-tree from the first child of N, $\mathcal{T}_{N(1)}$,



Figure 2.2: Example of (2, 2)-tree of level 2 and associated (2, 2)-subdivision.



Figure 2.3: The sub-tree $\mathcal{T}_{N(1)}$ of the (2,1)-tree \mathcal{T} highlighted in red.

is highlighted with edges in red. The absence of the sub-tree from N(1), $\mathcal{T} \setminus \mathcal{T}_{N(1)}$ is highlighted with dashed edges in blue.

Definition 2.4.5. The **depth** of an (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T} is $D(\mathcal{T}) = d - 1$ where β^{-d} is the smallest size of an interval in the corresponding (a_1, a_0) -subdivision.

The **height** of a node $X \in \mathcal{T}$ is H(X) = h where β^{-h} is the length of the corresponding interval in the corresponding (a_1, a_0) -subdivision.

If \mathcal{T} is an (a_1, a_0) -tree, $D(\mathcal{T}) = H(X) + 1$, where X is a non-leaf node of maximal height.

Definition 2.4.6. An end-caret in an (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T} , is an (a_1, a_0) -caret in \mathcal{T} , such that all the children in the caret are leaves.



Figure 2.4: Any (2, 1)-caret has depth 1

The **root-caret** of an (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T} , is the (a_1, a_0) -caret with the root of \mathcal{T} as the parent.

Definition 2.4.7. The leaf sequence of an (a_1, a_0) -tree, \mathcal{T} is a vector with entries equal to the heights of the leaves in \mathcal{T} as read from left to right and is denoted $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{T})$.

Example 14. Consider the following (2, 1)-tree \mathcal{T} .



Then the leaf sequence of \mathcal{T} is $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{T}) = (2, 2, 3, 2, 1)$.

The (2, 1)-tree corresponds to the following (2, 1)-subdivision of level 2.

$$0 \mid \begin{array}{c|c} & \beta^{-2} & \beta^{-2} & \beta^{-3} & \beta^{-2} \end{array} \qquad \beta^{-1} \qquad 1$$

Notice, the leaf sequence only tells us the intervals and their order in the (2, 1)-subdivision at level 2, and does not tell us how this was obtained.

It is convenient to introduce a reduced (a_1, a_0) -tree notation. Each non-leaf node in an (a_1, a_0) -tree corresponds to an (a_1, a_0) -partition of some type in the (a_1, a_0) -subdivision. Replace each (a_1, a_0) -caret with a node labelled with the type of (a_1, a_0) -caret, and if the i^{th} child of the (a_1, a_0) -caret is a non-leaf node, give the edge joining the two labelled nodes the label i. As an example consider the following (2, 2)-tree.



This notation becomes particularly useful when dealing with (a_1, a_2) -trees where a_1 or a_2 are significantly large.

If $g = (S_1, S_2) \in G_\beta$, where S_1, S_2 are regular β -subdivisions, then we can also write

$$g = (\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2)$$

where \mathcal{T}_1 and \mathcal{T}_2 are corresponding (a_1, a_0) -trees to the (a_1, a_0) -subdivisions S_1 and S_2 respectively.

Now that we have an understanding of what an (a_1, a_0) -tree is, we can provide a proper definition for F_β , for β the positive zero of an irreducible subdivision polynomial $f_\beta = X^2 - a_1 X - a_0$.

Definition 2.4.8.

$$F_{\beta} := \left\{ g \in G_{\beta} \right| \text{ There exists } (a_1, a_0) \text{-trees } \mathcal{T}_1 \text{ and } \mathcal{T}_2 \text{ such that } g = (\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2) \right\}$$

2.4.9 (a_1, a_0) -refinements

Definition 2.4.10. An (a_1, a_0) -refinement of size 0 of a β -subdivision S is S. An (a_1, a_0) -refinement of size i, R, of a β -subdivision S is obtained by performing an (a_1, a_0) partition on a sub-interval in an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of size i - 1 of S. We denote the size of an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of size i a β -subdivision, [S : R] = i.

An (a_1, a_0) -refinement of a β -subdivision S can be thought of as hanging (a_1, a_0) -trees from nodes which represent the intervals of S.

Example 15. Let $f_{\beta} = X^2 - 2X - 1$, and so $\beta = \sqrt{2} + 1$. The following β -subdivision, S, is not regular.



We can model this β -subdivision as a forest of *empty* (2, 1)-trees where the i^{th} node represents the i^{th} sub-interval in the β -subdivision as read from left to right.



We can demonstrate a (2, 1)-refinement on S of size 1, by performing an (2, 1)-partition of type (1) on the fourth sub-interval of S.



 $\begin{array}{c|c} \text{This corresponds to the } \beta \text{-subdivision} \\ S' & 0 & & & \\ \hline \beta^{-2} & \beta^{-2} & \beta^{-2} & \beta^{-3} & \beta^{-2} & \beta^{-2} & \beta^{-3} \\ \hline \end{array} \right| 1 \\ \end{array}$

The β -subdivision S' is regular and has associated (2, 1)-tree



We have shown an instance when we can find an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of a non-regular β -subdivision, which is a regular β -subdivision.

Lemma 2.4.11. An (a_1, a_0) -refinement of an (a_1, a_0) -subdivision is still an (a_1, a_0) -subdivision.

Proof. An (a_1, a_0) -subdivision S is a regular β -subdivision, and has an associated (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T} . An (a_1, a_0) -refinement of S involves performing (a_1, a_0) -partitions on the sub-intervals of S. Each sub-interval of S corresponds to a leaf in \mathcal{T} , and each (a_1, a_0) -partition, corresponds to an (a_1, a_0) -caret.

So an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of S corresponds to hanging (a_1, a_0) -trees from the leaves of \mathcal{T} . In doing this, we will still have a tree in which every caret is an (a_1, a_0) -caret, so is still an (a_1, a_0) -tree. Every

 (a_1, a_0) -tree defines an (a_1, a_0) -subdivision, and so every (a_1, a_0) -refinement of an (a_1, a_0) -subdivision is also an (a_1, a_0) -subdivision.

Remark 8. Let S' be an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of a β -subdivision S. Any (a_1, a_0) -refinement of S' is also an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of S.

Uniform β -Subdivisions

An advantage of using (a_1, a_0) -refinements is that we can avoid dealing with an (a_1, a_0) -tree with incredibly *unbalanced* leaf sequences.

Example 16. The (2,1)-tree, \mathcal{T} , with leaf sequence $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{T}) = (4,3,3,1,1))$,

S

which corresponds to the (2, 1)-subdivision S

There is a large difference in the lengths of sub-intervals in this (2, 1)-subdivision. We can find a refinement of S, S' such that the ratio between any two sub-intervals is at most $\beta = \sqrt{2} + 1$. We will use the reduced (2, 1)-tree notation for the corresponding (2, 1)-tree to S', \mathcal{T}' :



The leaf sequence is $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{T}') = (4, 3, 3, 3, 3, 4, 3, 3, 3, 4, 4, 3, 4, 3, 4, 3, 3)$

Definition 2.4.12. An uniform β -subdivision of depth N is a β -subdivision with only intervals of length $\frac{1}{\beta^N}$ or $\frac{1}{\beta^{N+1}}$ for some $N \in \mathbb{N}$.



Any (a_1, a_0) -tree, \mathcal{T} , corresponding to a uniform (a_1, a_0) -subdivision, S, will have leaf sequence $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{T}) = (\ell_1, \ldots, \ell_r)$, where $\ell_i \in \{N, N+1\}$ for all $i \in \{1, \ldots, r\}$.

In a uniform (a_1, a_0) subdivision, each interval is either long or short.

Note that a uniform β -subdivision is not necessarily regular, nor is a regular β -subdivision necessarily uniform. A subdivision which is both uniform and regular will be called a uniform (a_1, a_0) -subdivision of depth N. The (2, 1)-subdivision, S' in example 16 is a uniform (2, 1)-subdivision, whereas S is not.

Lemma 2.4.13. Given a β -subdivision, there exists an (a_1, a_0) -refinement which is a uniform β -subdivision.

Proof. Let S be a β -subdivision, such that the smallest sub-interval in S is of length β^{-D} . Note that $D \ge 2$ and that if D = 2, then S is already a uniform β -subdivision. All sub-intervals in I(S) have length β^{-d} for $1 \le d \le D$.

If D = 3, then all sub-intervals are of length β^{-d} for $1 \le d \le 3$. By performing an (a_1, a_0) -partition of some type on all sub-intervals of length β^{-1} , we create an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of S which only has sub-intervals of length β^{-2} and β^{-3} . This (a_1, a_0) -refinement is a uniform β -subdivision of depth 2.

Each (a_1, a_0) -partition on an interval of length β^{-N} results in replacing that sub-interval with new sub-intervals with lengths $\beta^{-(N+1)}$ and $\beta^{-(N+2)}$. So if a sub-interval has length greater than β^{D-1} , we can perform successive (a_1, a_0) -partitions until there is no such sub-interval.

This leaves us with a β -subdivision only containing intervals of length $\beta^{-(D-1)}$ and β^{-D} , which is a uniform β -subdivision of depth D-1.

Lemma 2.4.14. Let S be a uniform β -subdivision of depth N. Then there exists S_t an (a_1, a_0) refinement of S, where S_t is a uniform β -subdivision of depth N + t for $t \in \mathbb{N}$.

Proof. As S is a uniform β -subdivision of depth N, all sub-intervals in I(S) are either of length β^{-N} or $\beta^{-(N+1)}$. These are called long and short intervals respectively.

To create S_1 we perform an (a_1, a_0) -partition of some type on every long interval in S simultaneously. All sub-intervals in $I(S_1)$ will have length $\beta^{-(N+1)}$ or $\beta^{-(N+2)}$. Hence, S_1 is a uniform β -subdivision of depth N + 1, and S_1 is an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of S.

To create S_t , a uniform β -subdivision of depth t, we perform an (a_1, a_0) -partition of some type on each long interval in S_{t-1} simultaneously. S_t is an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of S_{t-1} , and thus is also an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of S.

2.4.15 Leaf-Equivalent Trees

If the subdivision polynomial f has degree, $\delta f = 1$, then the trees associated to the regular β subdivisions are unique. This is not the case when $\delta f \geq 2$. This means that the each regular β -subdivision, S does not necessarily have a unique (a_1, a_0) -tree that corresponds to it.

Example 17. Consider the following (2, 1)-trees,



Both (2,1)-trees correspond to the following (2,1)-subdivision.

Definition 2.4.16. Two (a_1, a_0) -trees \mathcal{T}_1 and \mathcal{T}_2 are said to be **leaf-equivalent** if

$$\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{T}_1) = \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{T}_2)$$

We say that $\mathcal{T}_1 \sim \mathcal{T}_2$.

Whenever a subdivision has more than one corresponding (a_1, a_0) -tree, we are able to choose any corresponding (a_1, a_0) -tree we like.

Common (a_1, a_0) -refinements

Definition 2.4.17. Let S_1, S_2 be β -subdivisions. S' is a **common refinement** of S_1 and S_2 if S' is an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of both S_1 and S_2 .

We can also define common refinements on regular β -subdivisions and (a_1, a_0) -trees.

Definition 2.4.18. Two (a_1, a_0) -subdivisions S_1 and S_2 have a **common refinement** if there exists $S'_1 = S'_2$, where S'_1 and S'_2 (a_1, a_0) -refinements of S_1 and S_2 respectively.

Similarly, two (a_1, a_0) -trees \mathcal{T}_1 and \mathcal{T}_2 have a **common refinement** if there exists \mathcal{T}'_1 and \mathcal{T}'_2 , (a_1, a_0) refinements of \mathcal{T}_1 and \mathcal{T}_2 respectively, such that

$$\mathcal{T}_1' \sim \mathcal{T}_2'.$$

Example 18. The (4, 2)-carets of type (1, 2) and type (2, 3) have a common refinement. The following (4, 2)-trees have root-carets of type (1, 2) and (2, 3) respectively, and are leaf-equivalent.



2.4.19 Grafting

Grafting is the process of finding a common refinement between two β -subdivisions. We can then choose whichever original β -subdivision we wish to use.

Definition 2.4.20.

An (a_1, a_0) -caret is of **minimal type** if it has type $(1, i_2, \ldots, i_{a_0})$.

An (a_1, a_0) -caret is of **maximal type** if it is of type $(i_1, i_2, \ldots, i_{a_0-1}, K)$, where $K = a_1 + a_0$. If an (a_1, a_0) -caret is not minimal, respectively maximal, it is **non-minimal**, respectively **non-maximal**.

Definition 2.4.21. Grafting

Let S_1 be a uniform β -subdivision of depth N such that the j^{th} interval, I_j is a short sub-interval, and the $j + 1^{th}$ sub-interval, I_{j+1} is a long sub-interval. We construct S_2 , a uniform β -subdivision of depth N identical to S_1 , except the j^{th} and $j + 1^{th}$ sub-intervals have been swapped. Then S_1 and S_2 have a common refinement. This common refinement is found by performing an (a_1, a_0) -partition of type (i_1, \ldots, i_{a_0}) on the sub-interval I_{j+1} , where $i_{a_0} < k = a_1 + a_0$. This is shown by hanging a non-maximal (a_1, a_0) -caret from the node representing I_{j+1} below using (3, 2)-carets as an example.



The resulting (a_1, a_0) -refinement S'_1 , is equivalent to an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of S_2 , S'_2 , in which we perform an (a_1, a_0) -partition of type $(i_1 + 1, \ldots, i_{a_0} + 1)$ on the j^{th} sub-interval in S_2 .

We have moved a node a node of depth N + 1 to the right of a node of depth N by going from S'_1 to S'_2 . This is called a **right graft on** S_1 **at** j + 1.

Conversely, if we go from S_2 to S'_2 and replace with S'_1 , we have performed a **left graft on** S_2 **at** j.

We can use grafting to change the type of an (a_1, a_0) -caret X, when X is an end caret.

Definition 2.4.22. Let N be the root node of an (a_1, a_0) -caret such that for some $2 \le j \le K = a_1 + a_0$, N(j-1) is a long leg, and N(j) is a short child. A **right graft on** N **at** j + 1, is performed by hanging a non-maximal caret, from N(j).



There is now a leaf-equivalent tree with root node N'.



We can now substitute the (a_1, a_0) -tree with root node N with the leaf-equivalent (a_1, a_0) -tree with root node N'. A left graft on N' at j, is defined analogously.

Note that a left graft moves a long leg to the left passing a short leg in an (a_1, a_0) -caret, and a right graft moves a long leg to the right passing a short leg in an (a_1, a_0) -caret.

The process of grafting finds a common refinement between the sub-tree \mathcal{T}_N and \mathcal{T}'_N , which means they correspond to the same (a_1, a_0) -subdivision. As we have more than one (a_1, a_0) -tree corresponding to the same (a_1, a_0) -subdivision, we have the freedom to choose either of our corresponding (a_1, a_0) -trees.

Remark 9. If it is possible to perform a right graft on a node N to get to the node N', then it is possible to perform a left graft on N' to get to N.



Figure 2.5: A right graft on a (2, 1)-caret at N(3)

Lemma 2.4.23. Let M be an end (a_1, a_0) -caret of minimal (respectively maximal) type. If $a_1 \ge a_0$, we can right (respectively left) graft M to be of non-minimal (respectively non-maximal) type

Proof. Consider the following (a_1, a_0) -caret M of type $(1, 2, \ldots, a_0)$, clearly of minimal type.



Take the $(a_0 + 1)^{th}$ child of M, which will be a short leg/long interval, then hang an (a_1, a_0) -caret of type $(1, 2, \ldots, a_0)$.



As we have assumed that $a_1 \ge a_0$, we can find a_0 distinct equivalent trees $\overline{\mathcal{T}}_r$ such that M is of type $(1, \ldots, a_0 - r, a_0 - r + 2, \ldots, a_0 + 1)$ for $r \in \{1, \ldots, a_0\}$.



By taking $r = a_0$, M is of type $(2, 3, \ldots, a_0 + 1)$ in $\overline{\mathcal{T}}_{a_0}$, therefore is non-minimal.

It is not clear whether this Lemma holds for $a_1 < a_0$.

Example 19. Consider the following (1,3)-caret M of type (2,3,4). Then M is of non-minimal type. For this choice of $(a_1, a_0) = (1,3)$, there is only one non-minimal caret type.



We want to know if we can graft M to be of non-maximal type, so we need to graft M to be of type (1,2,3). We need to perform a left graft at position 2, by hanging a caret of non-minimal type.



This is equivalent to the following tree in which M is of type (1, 3, 4).



At this point we would try left graft on position 3, but the caret hanging from M(2) is minimal. Thus we need to graft this caret until it is non-minimal. However, in order to do this we would need to be able to graft from type (1, 2, 3) to type (2, 3, 4) which is the equivalent of grafting from (2, 3, 4) to (1, 2, 3). This is the task we started with, so we have formed a cycle.

Note that this does not prove that there is no common refinement, but it means we cannot use the same algorithm. This certainly suggests that the graft would not be possible.

2.5 Pisot β -subdivisions

We will prove that having the condition $a_1 \ge a_0$ is equivalent to saying that β is Pisot. i.e. If the two zeros of $f = X^2 - a_1 X - a_0$ are β and β^* , then $|\beta^*| < 1 < \beta$.

Definition 2.5.1. An algebraic integer β is **Pisot** if $1 < \beta \in \mathbb{R}$ and all other zeros of the minimal polynomial of β over \mathbb{Z} , have absolute value less than 1. [12]

Lemma 2.5.2. If β is the zero of an irreducible subdivision polynomial of the form

$$f_\beta = X^2 - a_1 X - a_0$$

then

 $a_1 \ge a_0$ if and only if β is Pisot.

Proof. We know that for an irreducible subdivision polynomial $f_{\beta} = X^2 - a_1 X - a_0$, there is a unique positive real zero β , and $\beta > 1$. Now f_{β} has one other root, β^* , which must also be real.

$$\beta^* = \frac{a_1 - \sqrt{a_1^2 + 4a_0}}{2}$$

If β is Pisot, then $|\beta^*| < 1$.

As
$$0 < a_1, a_0 \in \mathbb{Z}$$
, $\beta^* = \frac{a_1 - \sqrt{a_1^2 + 4a_0}}{2} < 0$, so if β is Pisot, we have $-1 < \beta^*$.
 $-1 < \frac{a_1 - \sqrt{a_1^2 + 4a_0}}{2}$
 $-2 < a_1 - \sqrt{a_1^2 + 4a_0}$
 $\sqrt{a_1^2 + 4a_0} < a_1 + 2$
 $a_1^2 + 4a_0 < a_1^2 + 4a_1 + 4$
 $4a_0 < 4a_1 + 4$
 $a_0 < a_1 + 1$
 $a_0 \le a_1$

Every step in this series of inequalities, is reversible, and so by working upwards, $a_0 \leq a_1$ implies that $-1 < \beta^* < 0$, and thus β is Pisot.

Hence, $a_1 \ge a_0$ is a necessary and sufficient condition for β to be Pisot.

Unless otherwise stated, all lemmas, propositions, and theorems will be true for β Pisot.

Definition 2.5.3. The connected (a_1, a_0) -caret C_i is the (a_1, a_0) -caret of type $(i+1, \ldots, i+a_0-1)$.

We see that in a connected (a_1, a_0) -caret, there are no short legs between any two long legs. In C_i there are *i* short legs to the left of the first long leg.

Proposition 2.5.4. If $a_1 \ge a_0$, and X and Y are (a_1, a_0) -carets of type (i_1, \ldots, i_{a_0}) and (j_1, \ldots, j_{a_0}) respectively. Then there is a common refinement between X and Y.

Proof. Let X be the root node of an end caret of type (i_1, \ldots, i_{a_0}) , with only leaves for children. We will add a_1 new (a_1, a_0) -carets, one to each of the short children of X. If X(j) is a short leg, then hang the connected (a_1, a_0) -caret C_t from X(j) where t is the number of long legs to the right of X(j). i.e. If $i_s < j < i_{s+1}$ hang the connected (a_1, a_0) -caret C_{a_0-s} from X(j) for $s \in \{1, \ldots, a_0 - 1\}$. If $j < i_1$ then hang the connected (a_1, a_0) -caret C_0 from X(j). If $j > i_{a_0}$, then hang the connected (a_1, a_0) -caret C_a from X(j).

The following sub-tree \mathcal{T}_X will have leaf sequence

$$\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{T}_X) = \left(\underbrace{2,\ldots,2}_{a_0},\underbrace{3,\ldots,3}_{a_0},\underbrace{2,\ldots,2}_{a_1},\cdots,\underbrace{3,\ldots,3}_{a_0},\underbrace{2,\ldots,2}_{a_1}\right)$$

Since this leaf sequence can be obtained from an (a_1, a_0) -caret of any type, there is a common refinement between any two (a_1, a_0) -carets.

Any such substitution of (a_1, a_0) -caret types is called a **basic move**.

Example 20. Consider the following (2, 2)-carets. By following the algorithm described in the proof of Proposition 2.5.4, we see that there is a common refinement between all three of these (2, 2)-carets.



The leaf sequence of each of these (a_1, a_0) -trees is (2, 2, 3, 3, 2, 2, 3, 3, 2, 2).

Lemma 2.5.5. Let \mathcal{T} be an (a_1, a_0) -tree of depth 2 where $a_1 \ge a_0$. Let X be an (a_1, a_0) -caret of some type. Then there exists a common refinement between \mathcal{T} and X.

Proof. Let N be the root of \mathcal{T} . If type(N) = type(X), then by hanging $\mathcal{T}_{N(i)}$ from the i^{th} child of X, we will get an exact copy of \mathcal{T} . Thus if type(N) = type(X), there is a common refinement between \mathcal{T} and X.

Suppose then that $type(N) = (j_1, \ldots, j_{a_0}) \neq (i_1, \ldots, i_{a_0}) = type(X)$. If we are able to perform a basic move, to make type(N) = type(X), then we can repeat the earlier process and hang the sub-tree $\mathcal{T}_{N(i)}$ from X(i) to find our common refinement.

In order to perform our basic move, we need to have the correct type of (a_1, a_0) -caret hanging from each of the short children of N. Let N(j) be a short child, so H(N(j)) = 1, and suppose $j_s < j < j_{s+1}$ for $s \in \{1, \ldots, a_0 - 1\}$.

If N(j) is a leaf, then we hang the connected (a_1, a_0) -caret C_{a_0-s} . Otherwise, we have an end (a_1, a_0) -caret hanging from N(j). If $type(N(j)) = C_{a_0-s}$, then we are done. If this is not the case, then we must perform a basic move on N(j) to make $type(N(j)) = type(C_{a_0-s})$. This is possible, as N(j) is an end-caret, and by Proposition 2.5.4, we can find a common refinement between two (a_1, a_0) -carets of any different types.

If $j < j_1$ (or $j > j_{a_0}$), then we can perform the same process to ensure that N(j) is the parent of a connected (a_1, a_0) -caret of type C_{a_0} (or C_0 respectively). By doing this for all N(j) with H(N(j)) = 1, we are able to perform basic moves to make type(N) = type(X). Then we can find a common refinement between the (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T} of depth 2 and the (a_1, a_0) -caret X.

Thus if \mathcal{T} is an (a_1, a_0) -tree of depth 2, we can find an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of \mathcal{T} which is leaf equivalent to an (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T}' , which has root-caret X.

Proposition 2.5.6. Let \mathcal{T} be an (a_1, a_0) -tree, and X an (a_1, a_0) -caret of some type, where $a_1 \ge a_0$. There exists a common refinement between \mathcal{T} and X.

Proof. We know from Proposition 2.5.4 Lemma 2.5.5, that if $D(\mathcal{T}) \leq 2$ and $a_1 \geq a_0$, then there is a common refinement between \mathcal{T} and X. Assume that for $d \leq D \in \mathbb{N}$ that any (a_1, a_0) -tree of depth d has a common refinement with the (a_1, a_0) -caret X.

Now consider an (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T} of depth D+1. Let N be the root node of \mathcal{T} . If type(N) = type(X), then we can find a common refinement by hanging the sub-tree $\mathcal{T}_{N(j)}$ from X(j).

If $type(N) = (i_1, \ldots, i_{a_0}) \neq type(X)$, then we consider each short child of N, N(j), where H(N(j)) = 1. If N(j) is a leaf, we can hang the appropriate (a_1, a_0) -caret to perform a basic move on N.

- If $j < i_1$, we hang the connected (a_1, a_0) -caret C_{a_0} .
- If $i_s < j < i_{s+1}$ for $s \in \{1, \ldots, a_0 1\}$, we have the connected (a_1, a_0) -caret C_{a_0-s} .
- If $j > i_{a_0}$ we hang the connected (a_1, a_0) -caret C_0 .

If N(j) is not a leaf, but is of the type that we would choose were it a leaf, then we do not need to make any changes to the sub-tree $\mathcal{T}_{N(j)}$.

Otherwise, we want to change the type of N(j). Since the sub-tree $\mathcal{T}_{N(j)}$ has depth D, we know that there is an (a_1, a_0) -refinement which is leaf-equivalent to an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of any (a_1, a_0) -caret, by assumption.

- If $j < i_1$, we substitute $\mathcal{T}_{N(j)}$ for an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of C_{a_0} which is leaf-equivalent to an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of $\mathcal{T}_{N(j)}$.
- If $i_s < j < i_{s+1}$ for $s \in \{1, \ldots, a_0 1\}$, we substitute $\mathcal{T}_{N(j)}$ for an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of C_{a_0-s} which is leaf-equivalent to an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of $\mathcal{T}_{N(j)}$.

• If $j > i_{a_0}$ we substitute $\mathcal{T}_{N(j)}$ for an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of C_0 which is leaf-equivalent to an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of $\mathcal{T}_{N(j)}$.

We are now able to perform a basic move on the root node N to be of type(X). Call the subsequent (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T}' with root node N'. Now by hanging the sub-tree $\mathcal{T}'_{N(i)}$ from X(i) for $1 \leq i \leq K = a_1 + a_0$. The resulting (a_1, a_0) -tree will be an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of X which is leaf-equivalent to an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of \mathcal{T} .

By induction, any (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T} has a common refinement with an (a_1, a_0) -caret X of any type.

Remark 10. Given $1 \leq i_1 < \cdots < i_{a_0} \leq K = a_1 + a_0$, there is always a process to find an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of an (a_1, a_0) -tree which is leaf equivalent to some (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T}' which has a root-caret of type (i_1, \ldots, i_{a_0}) , as long as $a_1 \geq a_0$.

This allows us to substitute an (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T} for an (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T}' which has any root-caret we want it to have.

As $f_{\beta} = X^2 - a_1 X - a_0$ is an irreducible integer polynomial, then there are no integer roots to $f_{\beta} = 0$. The rational root theorem [20], tells us that if $\frac{p}{q} \in \mathbb{Q}$ is a root of $f_{\beta} = 0$, then p divides a_0 and q divides 1. The only such solution can be an integer solution, which gives us the following remark.

Remark 11. As $f = X^2 - a_1 X - a_0$ is irreducible over \mathbb{Z} , then β is irrational.

Lemma 2.5.7. Let β be the unique positive zero of the irreducible integer subdivision polynomial $f = X^2 - a_1 X - a_0$.

The number of long intervals in a uniform β -subdivision of depth N is fixed, as is the number of short intervals.

Proof. Suppose for contradiction that there exists two uniform β -subdivisions of depth N, S, S' where

S has m longs and n shorts, and S' contains m' longs and n' shorts. Then

$$\frac{m}{\beta^N} + \frac{n}{\beta^{N+1}} = 1 = \frac{m'}{\beta^N} + \frac{n'}{\beta^{N+1}}$$
$$m + \frac{n}{\beta} = m' + \frac{n'}{\beta}$$
$$m - m' = \frac{n'}{\beta} - \frac{n}{\beta}$$
$$(m - m')\beta = n' - n$$
$$\beta = \frac{n' - n}{m - m'}$$

Thus we have a contradiction as β is irrational.

Lemma 2.5.8. Let P and Q be uniform β -subdivisions of depth N, such that Q can be obtained by swapping a long interval with an adjacent short interval in P. If P' is an (a_1, a_0) -refinements of P, then there exists a β -subdivision S, which is a common refinement between P' and Q.

Proof. Let I_i denote the i^{th} interval in P and I'_i denote the i^{th} interval in Q. Without loss of generality, let $L(I_j) = \beta^{-N} = L(I'_{j+1})$ and $L(I_{j+1}) = \beta^{-(N+1)} = L(I'_j)$.



Let P' be an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of P and let T_i be the (a_1, a_0) -tree representing the sequence of (a_1, a_0) -partitions performed on the interval I_i to get from P to P'. The (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T}_j will also be referred to as \mathcal{T} , to make notation simpler.

We construct Q', a β -subdivision, that is an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of Q such that P' = Q'. If $k \notin \{j, j+1\}$, hang the (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T}_k from I'_k in Q. As the same (a_1, a_0) -partition is performed on these intervals, any sub-interval $I \subset I_k = I'_k$ will be identical in P' as in Q'.

Let R_j be the root node of the (a_1, a_0) -tree T_j . Let R_j be of type (i_1, \ldots, i_{a_0}) . If $i_1 > 1$, then R_j is non-minimal, and so we can perform a left graft on P at j. Therefore we can find our common refinement Q', by hanging the sub-tree $\mathcal{T}_{R_j(1)}$ from I'_j and an (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T}'_{j+1} from I'_{j+1} . The root node of \mathcal{T}'_{j+1} , R'_{j+1} , is of type $(i_1 - 1, \ldots, i_{a_0} - 1)$, and the sub-tree $\mathcal{T}'_{R'_{j+1}(t)} = \mathcal{T}_{R_j(t+1)}$ for $t \in \{1, \ldots, K - 1 = a_1 + a_0 - 1\}$. The sub-tree $\mathcal{T}'_{R'_{j+1}(K)} = \mathcal{T}_{j+1}$. This process has been partially shown below in reduced (a_1, a_0) -tree notation.



The β -subdivisions P' and Q' are identical, and so P' and Q have a common refinement.

If R_j is minimal, so $i_1 = 1$, then we know that there is an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of P', P^* , in which R_j is non-minimal. The (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T}_j has an (a_1, a_0) -refinement which is leaf-equivalent to \mathcal{T}_j^* , and the root node of \mathcal{T}_j^* is non-minimal. We know this by Proposition 2.5.6.

We can then perform the same process as before to find an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of Q, Q^* , such that P^* and Q^* are identical β -subdivisions. In this case P' and Q have a common refinement in $P^* = Q^*$.

The following remark comes as a result of the fact that the symmetric group on n elements is generated by adjacent permutations [21].

Remark 12. Let P, Q be uniform β -subdivisions of depth N. There exist uniform β -subdivisions of depth N, say $P = P_0, P_1, \ldots, P_n = Q$, such that P_{i+1} can be obtained by swapping a long interval with a short interval in P_i .

Lemma 2.5.9. Let S_1 and S_2 be uniform β -subdivisions of depth N. There exists a common refinement between S_1 and S_2 .

Proof. By Remark 12, we know that there is a sequence of uniform β -subdivisions $S_1 = P_0, P_1, \ldots, P_n = S_2$, such that P_{i+1} can be obtained by swapping a long interval with a short interval in P_i .

Lemma 2.5.8 tells us that there is a common refinement between P_1 and any (a_1, a_0) -refinement of P_0 . In particular, P_0 is the trivial (a_1, a_0) -refinement of P_0 , so there is a common refinement of P_0 and P_1 . We shall call this P'_1 .

Lemma 2.5.8, can be used again here as P_2 has a common refinement with any (a_1, a_0) -refinement of P_1 . Since P'_1 is an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of P_1 , there is a β -subdivision, P'_2 , a common refinement of P'_1 and P_2 . Since P'_1 is an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of P_0 , so is P'_2 an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of P_0 .

We continue in this vain, by finding the β -subdivision P'_i , a common refinement between P_i and P'_{i-1} . In each case P'_i is an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of both P_i and P_0 .

By constructing the β -subdivision P'_n , we have found a common refinement between P_0 and P_n . Thus S_1 and S_2 have a common refinement.

Theorem 2.5.10. If β , the zero of an irreducible subdivision polynomial $f_{\beta} = X^2 - a_1 X - a_0$, is Pisot, then any two β -subdivisions have a common refinement.

Proof. Let P and Q be β -subdivisions. By Lemma 2.4.13 there exists uniform β -subdivisions P_1 and Q_1 of depths D_1 and D_2 respectively, which are (a_1, a_0) -refinements of P and Q respectively.

Lemma 2.4.14 tells us that there exists two uniform β -subdivisions of depth $N_1 + N_2$, P_2 and Q_2 , such that P_2 is an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of P_1 , and Q_2 is an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of Q_2 .

By Lemma 2.5.9, any two uniform β -subdivisions of the same depth have a common refinement if $a_1 \ge a_0$. If β is Pisot and the zero of an irreducible subdivision polynomial $f = X^2 - a_1 X - a_0$, then $a_1 \ge a_0$. Therefore, there exists S, a β -subdivision which is an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of both P_2 and Q_2 .

Therefore S is an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of both P and Q, and so there is a common refinement between P and Q.

Corollary 2.5.11. If β is Pisot, then any β -subdivision has an (a_1, a_0) -refinement which is a regular β -subdivision.

Proof. Let S_1 be a β -subdivision, and let S_2 be the trivial subdivision of [0, 1], i.e. $B[S_2] = \{0, 1\}$. Note that S_2 is a regular β -subdivision of level 0, and so is also known as an (a_1, a_0) -subdivision.

Our Theorem 2.5.10 tells us that there must exist a common refinement between S_1 and S_2 . Let S^* be a β -subdivision which is an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of both S_1 and S_2 .

Lemma 2.4.11, any (a_1, a_0) -refinement of an (a_1, a_0) -subdivision, is an (a_1, a_0) -subdivision. This means that S^* is a regular β -subdivision.

As we have found S^* an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of S_1 , where S_1 could be any β -subdivision, then any β -subdivision has an (a_1, a_0) -refinement which is a regular β -subdivision.

We now note the important corollary to this theorem.

Corollary 2.5.12. Let β be the positive zero of the irreducible polynomial $f = X^2 - a_1 X - a_0$, with $a_1 \ge a_0 \ge 1$. Let $g \in G_{\beta}$. There exists (a_1, a_0) -trees, $\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2$, such that

$$g = (\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2)$$

and thus

$$F_{\beta} = G_{\beta}.$$

Proof. We have already seen that $F_{\beta} \subset G_{\beta}$ for all β .

Let $g \in G_{\beta}$. Then by Proposition 2.3.6, g = (P, Q), where P and Q are β -subdivisions.

We know from Corollary 2.5.11 that P has an (a_1, a_0) -refinement, P_1 , which is a regular β subdivision. For the j^{th} interval in $P, I_j \in I(P)$, the (a_1, a_0) -refinement to get from P to P_1 subdivides I_j . As this subdivision must be made up of a series of (a_1, a_0) -partitions, we can think of this as hanging an (a_1, a_0) -tree, \mathcal{T}_j from the a node which represents the interval I_j .

We can construct Q_1 , a β -subdivision which is an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of Q, by hanging the (a_1, a_0) tree \mathcal{T}_j from the j^{th} interval in Q. Then

$$g = (P, Q) = (P_1, Q_1).$$

As Q_1 is a β -subdivision, there exists an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of Q_1 which is a regular β -subdivision. We will call this (a_1, a_0) -refinement Q_2 . For the k^{th} interval in P, $I'_k \in I(P)$, the (a_1, a_0) -refinement to get from Q_1 to Q_2 subdivides I'_k . Again, this subdivision is akin to hanging an (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T}'_k from a node representing the interval I'_k .

We can similarly hang the (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T}'_k from the k^{th} sub-interval of P_1 to find an (a_1, a_0) refinement of P_1 which we will call P_2 . Since P_2 is an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of a regular β -subdivision, then P_2 is also a regular β -subdivision. Thus

$$g = (P, Q) = (P_1, Q_1) = (P_2, Q_2).$$

Here P_2, Q_2 are regular β -subdivisions, so have associated (a_1, a_0) -trees \mathcal{T}_1 and \mathcal{T}_2 respectively.

Thus $g = (\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2) \in F_{\beta}$. So $G_{\beta} \subset F_{\beta}$ when β is Pisot. Since $F_{\beta} \subset G_{\beta}$,

$$F_{\beta} = G_{\beta}$$

when β is Pisot.

Of all the Bieri-Strebel Groups of type G_{β} , the cases in which we have been able to find expressions for all elements as tree-pairs, have consistently held the property that β is Pisot. Thus we make the following conjecture.

Conjecture 2.5.13. Let β be the unique positive real zero of the irreducible integer polynomial $f = X^n - a_{n-1}X^{n-1} - a_{n-2}X^{n-2} - \cdots - a_1X - a_0$, with $a_i > 0$ for $i \in \{0, \dots, n-1\}$. If β is Pisot, then

$$F_{\beta} = G_{\beta}.$$

In this chapter we have been able to show that if β is a Perron number that the matrix associated to the subdivision polynomial is primitive. In fact, every Pisot number is a Perron number, but the converse is not true. We will explore this further in the next chapter.

Chapter 3

Non-Pisot β -Subdivisions

In the last chapter we were able to show that any element of G_{β} , for Pisot β the zero of $f_{\beta} = X^2 - a_1 X - a_0$, can be expressed as a pair of (a_1, a_0) -trees. In this chapter we will aim to show that if β is non-Pisot, than there are elements $g_i \in G_{\beta}$ such that there exists no (a_1, a_0) -trees $\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2$ such that

$$g_i = (\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2).$$

This means that if β is non-Pisot, then

$$F_{\beta} \subset G_{\beta}.$$

I.e., F_{β} is a proper subset of G_{β} . To do this, we will find find points in $\mathbb{Z}[\tau] \cap [0, 1]$ which can never be found as a breakpoint in a regular β -subdivision.

First, we will prove that for every point $p \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau] \cap [0, 1]$, there exists an element $g_p = (S_1, S_2) \in G_\beta$ for some β -subdivisions S_1, S_2 , such that $p \in B[S_1]$.

3.1 Breakpoints

3.1.1 The ring $\mathbb{Z}[\tau]$

Recall, $\tau = \frac{1}{\beta}$ where β is the unique positive real zero of the subdivision polynomial

$$f = X^{n} - a_{n-1}X^{n-1} - a_{n-2}X^{n-2} - \dots - a_{1}X - a_{0}$$

We can see that $\beta \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau]$ and is in fact a unit of the ring $\mathbb{Z}[\tau]$.

$$1 = a_0 \tau^n + a_1 \tau^{n-1} + \dots + a_{n-1} \tau$$
$$1 = (a_0 \tau^{n-1} + a_1 \tau^{n-2} + \dots + a_{n-1}) \tau$$
$$1 = \beta \tau$$

For every element p in $\mathbb{Z}[\beta]$, p can be expressed as

$$p = b_0 + b_1\beta + \dots + b_{n-1}\beta^{n-1}$$

for some $b_i \in \mathbb{Z}$. [15] Therefore, for all $p \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau] = \mathbb{Z}[\beta] \left[\frac{1}{\beta}\right]$, we can write an expression for p as

$$p = \frac{b_0 + b_1\beta + \dots + b_{n-1}\beta^{n-1}}{\beta^m}$$

for some $b_i \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $m \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$. It becomes clear that this expression is not unique, in particular by using $\beta^{n-1} = a_{n-1}\beta^{n-2} + \cdots + a_1 + a_0\beta^{-1}$, we see that

$$p = \frac{b_0 + b_1\beta + \dots + b_{n-1}\beta^{n-1}}{\beta^m}$$

$$p = \frac{b_0 + b_1\beta + \dots + b_{n-1}(a_{n-1}\beta^{n-2} + \dots + a_1 + a_0\beta^{-1})}{\beta^m}$$

$$p = \frac{b_{n-1}a_0\beta^{-1} + (b_0 + b_{n-1}a_1) + \dots + (b_{n-2} + b_{n-1}a_{n-1})\beta^{n-2}}{\beta^m}$$

$$p = \frac{b_{n-1}a_0 + (b_0 + b_{n-1}a_1)\beta + \dots + (b_{n-2} + b_{n-1}a_{n-1})\beta^{n-1}}{\beta^{m+1}}$$

$$p = \frac{b'_0 + b'_1\beta + \dots + b'_{n-1}\beta^{n-1}}{\beta^{m+1}}$$

where $b'_i \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $m \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$.

Proposition 3.1.2. Let $p \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau] \cap [0, 1]$. There exists a β -subdivision of [0, 1] which contains p as a breakpoint.

Proof. Clearly p and 1 - p are in $\mathbb{Z}[\tau] \cap [0, 1]$, so by Theorem 2.2.19 can be expressed as

$$p = \frac{b_0 + b_1 \beta + \dots + b_{n-2} \beta^{n-2} b_{n-1} \beta^{n-1}}{\beta^m}$$
$$1 - p = \frac{c_0 + c_1 \beta + \dots + c_{n-2} \beta^{n-2} c_{n-1} \beta^{n-1}}{\beta^{m'}}$$

for some $b_0, \ldots, b_{n-1}, c_0, \ldots, c_{n-1}, m, m' \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$. We can use these expressions for p and 1 - p to construct a β -subdivision of [0, 1] in which p is a breakpoint. We will make S, our subdivision of [0, 1], by taking the initial $b_0 + \cdots + b_{n-1}$ sub-intervals in S contain b_i sub-intervals of length β^{i-m} for $0 \leq i \leq n-1$. From this, we see that $p \in B[S]$. However, S is not yet a β -subdivision. To make this so, we need to split the remainder of the unit interval, which must have length 1 - p, into $c_0 + \cdots + c_{n-1}$ sub-intervals of which precisely c_j are of length $\beta^{j-m'}$ for $0 \leq j \leq n-1$.

S is now a subdivision of [0, 1], in which all intervals in I(S) have length which is a power of β . So S is a β -subdivision containing p as a breakpoint.

Corollary 3.1.3. For all $p \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau] \cap [0, 1]$, there exists $g \in G_{\beta}$ such that (p, p) is a breakpoint of g.

Proof. Let $p \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau] \cap [0, 1]$. By Proposition 3.1.2, we know that there exists a β -subdivision S such that $p \in B[S]$. S can be thought of as the union of two subdivisions $S_{\leq p}$ and $S_{\geq p}$ which are β -subdivisions of [0, p] and [p, 1] respectively. Let the intervals in $I(S_{\leq p})$ be labelled I_1, \ldots, I_k where $k = size(S_{\leq p})$. Let I_k have length β^m . We consider 2 cases:

Case 1:

First consider the case where at least one of the subdivisions $S_{\leq p}$ or $S_{\geq p}$ contains at least two intervals of different lengths. Without loss of generality, suppose $S_{\leq p}$ contains at least two intervals whose length is not equal. Then there exists I_j which has length $\beta^{m'}$ for some $1 \leq j \leq k - 1$ where $m' \neq m$. So I_j and I_k must be sub-intervals of different lengths.

Take \bar{S} to be the β -subdivision of [0, 1] which is identical to S except the intervals I_j and I_k have been swapped. We will construct g by taking $g = (S, \bar{S})$, the affine interpolation from S to \bar{S} . Since S and \bar{S} are both β -subdivisions of the same size, it is clear that $(S, \bar{S}) \in G_{\beta}$. The gradient of y = g(x) for $x \in [p, 1]$ is 1. The gradient of y = g(x) for $x \in I_k$ is $\beta^{m'-m} \neq 1$. Thus (p, p) is a breakpoint in the map $g \in G_{\beta}$.

Case 2:

Suppose that all lengths of intervals in $S_{\leq p}$ are the same, and also all lengths of intervals in $S_{\geq p}$ are

the same. Then by making use of the substitution

$$\beta^m = a_{n-1}\beta^{m-1} + \dots + a_1\beta^{m-(n-1)} + a_0\beta^{m-n}$$

to subdivide the interval I_k into smaller powers of β . For $n \ge 2$, we now have the same conditions as in case 1, and so can follow that procedure. In the case n = 1 and $size(S_{\le p}) = 1$, then all sub-intervals before p will be the same in which case we can again subdivide the sub-interval immediately before pand we will then have the conditions to follow the instructions set out in case 1.

Corollary 3.1.3 tells us that every $p \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau]$ is a breakpoint in the domain of some some $g \in G_{\beta}$. If we are able to show that for some β , there exists $p \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau]$, such that p is not a breakpoint in any regular β -subdivision, then we can definitively say that

$$F_{\beta} \neq G_{\beta}.$$

We will show that some β do have this property, and we will aim to find all such β which are the unique positive zero of the irreducible quadratic subdivision polynomial

$$X^2 - a_1 X - a_0.$$

To do this we will have to work out when a point $p \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau]$ is a breakpoint of a regular β -subdivision.

3.1.4 Obtainable points

Let β be the unique positive zero of the irreducible subdivision polynomial $f = X^2 - a_1 X - a_0$. The origin of the following definition is from the work of Cleary [3], and was reintroduced in his later work [4].

Definition 3.1.5. A point $p \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau] \cap [0,1]$ is said to be **obtainable** if there exists a regular β -subdivision, S, such that $p \in B[S]$.

We say that p is obtained as a breakpoint in S, or more simply p is obtained in S.

Recall that a regular β -subdivision is also called an (a_1, a_0) -subdivision, and these can always be represented as (a_1, a_0) -trees.

Lemma 3.1.6. Let the point p be obtainable in an (a_1, a_0) -subdivision, S. Then p is obtainable in any (a_1, a_0) -refinement of S.

Proof. For all (a_1, a_0) -refinements of an (a_1, a_0) -subdivision S, \bar{S} , the set of breakpoints $B[S] \subset B[\bar{S}]$.

Recall from Lemma 2.4.13 that any (a_1, a_0) -subdivision can be refined to a uniform (a_1, a_0) subdivision.

Remark 13. If $p \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau] \cap [0, 1]$ is obtainable in an (a_1, a_0) -subdivision S of depth D, then p is obtainable in a uniform (a_1, a_0) -subdivision of depth D.

This means that we can find all obtainable points by considering uniform (a_1, a_0) -subdivisions. This was initially considered by Cleary for the cases $(a_1, a_0) = (2, 1)[3]$ and $(a_1, a_0) = (1, 1)[4]$.

Definition 3.1.7. $p \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau] \cap [0, 1]$ is obtainable at depth N if there exists an (a_1, a_0) -subdivision S of depth N such that $p \in B[S]$.

The following Lemma is clear.

Lemma 3.1.8. If $P \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau] \cap [0,1]$ is obtainable at depth N, then P is obtainable at depth N + 1.

Recall from Remark 11, that β is irrational.

Lemma 3.1.9. For all $p \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau], 1 \leq N \in \mathbb{Z}$ there exists a unique integer pair m_1, m_2 such that $p = \frac{m_1}{\beta^N} + \frac{m_2}{\beta^{N+1}}$

Proof. First we need to show existence. For any $p \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau]$, we can write an expression for p in the form

$$p = b_1 + b_2 \tau = \frac{b_1}{\beta^0} + \frac{b_2}{\beta^1},$$

for some $b_1, b_2 \in \mathbb{Z}$. By using the substitution $\frac{1}{\beta^0} = \frac{a_1}{\beta^1} + \frac{a_0}{\beta^2}$, we can rewrite this expression as

$$p = \frac{b_1}{\beta^0} + \frac{b_2}{\beta^1} = \frac{a_1b_1 + b_2}{\beta^1} + \frac{a_0b_1}{\beta^2}.$$

Since $a_0, a_1, b_1, b_2 \in \mathbb{Z}$, there exists an integer pair c_1, c_2 such that we have an expression for p in the form

$$p = \frac{c_1}{\beta^1} + \frac{c_2}{\beta^2}.$$

In fact, we can always use the substitution $\frac{1}{\beta^N} = \frac{a_1}{\beta^{N+1}} + \frac{a_0}{\beta^{N+2}}$, to take an expression for p at depth N,

$$p = \frac{m_1}{\beta^N} + \frac{m_2}{\beta^{N+1}}$$

to attain a similar expression at depth N + 1,

$$p = \frac{a_1 m_1 + m_2}{\beta^{N+1}} + \frac{a_1 m_1}{\beta^{N+2}}.$$

As there clearly exists an integer pair to satisfy such an expression when N = 1, there must also exist an integer pair to satisfy such an expression when $N \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}$.

To show uniqueness, we will revisit the ideas presented in Lemma 2.5.7. Suppose for contradiction that for some $p \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau]$ and for some $N \in \mathbb{Z}$,

$$\frac{m_1}{\beta^N} + \frac{m_2}{\beta^{N+1}} = p = \frac{n_1}{\beta^N} + \frac{n_2}{\beta^{N+1}}$$


Figure 3.1: Obtainable points in a specific (2, 1)-subdivision

for some $m_1, m_2, n_1, n_2 \in \mathbb{Z}, (m_1, m_2) \neq (n_1, n_2).$

$$\begin{split} \frac{m_1}{\beta^N} + \frac{m_2}{\beta^{N+1}} &= \frac{n_1}{\beta^N} + \frac{n_2}{\beta^{N+1}} \\ m_1 + \frac{m_2}{\beta} &= n_1 + \frac{n_2}{\beta} \\ m_1 - n_1 &= \frac{n_2 - m_2}{\beta} \\ \frac{m_1 - n_1}{n_2 - m_2} &= \frac{1}{\beta} \\ \frac{n_2 - m_1}{m_1 - n_1} &= \beta. \end{split}$$

However, we know that β is irrational. Hence we have a contradiction, so there is in fact a unique integer pair m_1, m_2 for each $N \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that $p = \frac{m_1}{\beta^N} + \frac{m_2}{\beta^{N+1}}$.

Note that Lemma 2.5.7, is a corollary of the Lemma above.

Remark 14. If $p \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau] \cap [0, 1]$ is a breakpoint in a uniform (a_1, a_0) -subdivision of depth N, then the number of longer and shorter intervals preceding p is uniquely defined.

Definition 3.1.10. A (long, short)-pair (m_1, m_2) is obtainable at depth N if there is a uniform (a_1, a_0) -subdivision of depth N with an initial segment containing $m_1 + m_2$ intervals, m_1 of which are of length $\frac{1}{\beta^N}$ and m_2 of which are of length $\frac{1}{\beta^{N+1}}$.

The longer intervals described in the (long, short)-pair are longs, ℓ , and the shorter intervals are shorts, s. In Figure 3.1 we can see that the only (long, short)-pairs obtainable at depth 0 are (0, 0) and (1, 0), as you can either take the entire interval or none of it.

We recall the notation used in the previous chapter,

$$\begin{bmatrix} m_1 \\ m_2 \end{bmatrix}_N = \frac{m_1}{\beta^N} + \frac{m_2}{\beta^{N+1}}.$$

Remark 15. For each $p \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau] \cap [0, 1]$ obtainable at depth N, there exists a unique (long, short)-pair (m_1, m_2) that is obtainable at depth N such that

$$p = \begin{bmatrix} m_1 \\ m_2 \end{bmatrix}_N = \frac{m_1}{\beta^N} + \frac{m_2}{\beta^{N+1}}.$$

This remark suggests that each (long, short)-pair is representative of an unique obtainable point in $\mathbb{Z}[\tau] \cap [0, 1]$. Therefore by considering the set of all (long, short)-pairs obtainable at depth N, we can find all $p \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau] \cap [0, 1]$ such that p is obtainable at depth N. We introduce a visual representation of this idea in the following section.

3.2 (a_1, a_0) -Tiles

In this section we consider the set of obtainable (long, short)-pairs in a uniform (a_1, a_0) -subdivision of level N, and plot them as lattice points in \mathbb{Z}^2 .

Let β be the positive real zero of the irreducible subdivision polynomial $f = X^2 - a_1 X - a_0$.

Definition 3.2.1. The (a_1, a_0) -tile of level 0, T_0 , is the set $\{(0, 0), (1, 0)\}$. The (a_1, a_0) -tile of level $N \in \mathbb{Z}$, T_N , is the set of points $(p, q) \in \mathbb{Z}^2$, $p, q \ge 0$ such that there exists a uniform (a_1, a_0) -subdivision of depth N which contains $\frac{p}{\beta^N} + \frac{q}{\beta^{N+1}}$ as a breakpoint.

The (2, 1)-tiles of level 0, 1, and 2 can be seen in figure 3.2, and the (1, 3)-tiles of level 0, 1, and 2 can be seen in figure 3.3.

Remark 16. If
$$(p,q) \in T_N$$
, and $x = \begin{bmatrix} p \\ q \end{bmatrix}_N = \frac{p}{\beta^N} + \frac{q}{\beta^{N+1}}$, then x is obtainable in a uniform (a_1, a_0) -subdivision.

As the (a_1, a_0) -tile of level N is defined as the set of positive integer pairs (p, q) such that $P = \frac{p}{\beta^N} + \frac{q}{\beta^{N+1}}$ is obtainable at depth N. The contrapositive of this statement gives us the following Lemma.

3.2. (A_1, A_0) -TILES

Lemma 3.2.2. If $(p,q) \notin T_N$, and $x = \begin{bmatrix} p \\ q \end{bmatrix}_N = \frac{p}{\beta^N} + \frac{q}{\beta^{N+1}}$, then x is **not** obtainable at depth N.

The (a_1, a_0) -tile of level N can be considered to represent the set of all *long,short*-pairs that can be found in an initial segment of some uniform (a_1, a_0) -subdivision of depth N. The (*long, short*)-pair is unique in each tile because β is irrational.

Remark 17. If $(p,q) \in T_N$, the (a_1, a_0) -tile of level N, then there exists an (a_1, a_0) -tree of depth N which contains $\frac{p}{\beta^N} + \frac{q}{\beta^{N+1}}$ as a breakpoint.

Note that whilst a uniform (a_1, a_0) -subdivision of depth 0 considers the interval [0, 1] as a long interval, a uniform (a_1, a_0) -subdivision of depth -1 considers the interval [0, 1] as a short interval. We consider the (a_1, a_0) -tile of level -1, T_{-1} , to be the set of points $(p, q) \in \mathbb{Z}^2$, with $p, q \ge 0$ such that $p\beta + q$ is a breakpoint in some (a_1, a_0) -subdivision of [0, 1] of depth -1. Since $\beta > 1$, this set consists of just two points, $T_{-1} = \{(0, 0), (0, 1)\}$, and $A(T_{-1}) = (0, 1)$.

Remark 18. Let $N \in \mathbb{Z}$, such that $N \leq -2$. Then the (a_1, a_0) -tile of level N is

$$T_N = \{(0,0)\}.$$

Lemma 3.2.3. If $(p,q) \in T_N$, then

$$\begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1 \\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} p \\ q \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} p' \\ q' \end{pmatrix} \in T_{N+1}$$

Proof. Let $(p,q) \in T_N$, such that $P = \frac{p}{\beta^N} + \frac{q}{\beta^{N+1}}$. Then P is obtainable at depth N. Therefore P is also obtainable at depth N + 1, by Lemma 3.1.8.

$$P = \frac{p}{\beta^N} + \frac{q}{\beta^{N+1}}$$
$$= p\left(\frac{a_1}{\beta^{N+1}} + \frac{a_0}{\beta^{N+2}}\right) + \frac{q}{\beta^{N+1}}$$
$$= \frac{a_1p+q}{\beta^{N+1}} + \frac{a_0p}{\beta^{N+2}}$$
$$= \left[\begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1\\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} p\\ q \end{pmatrix} \right]_{N+1}$$
$$= \left[\begin{pmatrix} p'\\ q' \end{pmatrix} \right]_{N+1}.$$

Lemma 3.1.9 tells us that this is in fact the unique expression for P in terms of $\beta^{-(N+1)}$ and $\beta^{-(N+2)}$. Since P is obtainable at depth N + 1, the (long, short)-pair (p', q') is obtainable at depth N + 1. Therefore, $\begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1 \\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} p \\ q \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} p' \\ q' \end{pmatrix} \in T_{N+1}$.

Lemma 3.2.4. Let T_N be the (a_1, a_0) -tile of level N. Then there is some $(p, q) \in T_N$ such that

$$\frac{p}{\beta^N} + \frac{q}{\beta^{N+1}} = 1.$$

Proof. If S is a subdivision of [0, 1], then $1 \in B[S]$. Therefore any $((a_1, a_0))$ -subdivision of [0, 1] of depth N, contains 1 as a breakpoint. By Remark 15, there must be a (long, short)-pair (p, q) which is obtainable at depth N such that

$$\frac{p}{\beta^N} + \frac{q}{\beta^{N+1}} = 1.$$

- 1			
- 6			

Definition 3.2.5. The Apex of an (a_1, a_0) -tile of the level N, T_N , is $A(T_N) = (p, q)$ where

$$\frac{p}{\beta^N} + \frac{q}{\beta^{N+1}} = 1$$

Remark 19. The Apex of any (a_1, a_0) -tile of level 0 is $A(T_0) = (1, 0)$. The Apex of any (a_1, a_0) -tile of level 1 is $A(T_1) = (a_1, a_0)$.

Lemma 3.2.6. Let T_N be the (a_1, a_0) -tile of level N, and let $A(T_N) = (p_N, q_N)$. Then for all $(p,q) \in T_N, 0 \le p \le p_N$ and $0 \le q \le q_N$.

Proof. Clearly if $(p,q) \in T_N$, the (a_1, a_0) -tile of level N, then $0 \le p$ and $0 \le q$. From the previous chapter, Lemma 2.5.7 tells us that the number of long (respectively short) sub-intervals in a uniform (a_1, a_0) -subdivision of depth N is uniquely defined. This means that there are precisely α_1 long subintervals and α short sub-intervals in any uniform (a_1, a_0) -subdivision of depth N for some $\alpha_1, \alpha_2 \in \mathbb{Z}_{\ge 0}$.

We know from Lemma 3.2.4, that the Apex of the tile, $A(T_N)$ exists in T_N . Let $(p_N, q_N) = A(T_N)$, then $\frac{p_N}{\beta^N} + \frac{q_N}{\beta^{N+1}} = 1$. Therefore $\alpha_1 = p_N$ and $\alpha_2 = q_N$ as the unit interval must be spanned by



Figure 3.2: The (2, 1)-tiles of levels 0, 1, and 2



Figure 3.3: The (1, 3)-tiles of levels 0, 1, 2

the intervals counted in $A(T_N)$. As there cannot be any more than p_N long (respectively q_N short) sub-intervals in any uniform (a_1, a_0) -subdivision, if $(p, q) \in T_N$, $p \leq p_N$ and $q \leq q_N$. 3.2. (A_1, A_0) -TILES



Figure 3.4: Composing the (1,3)-tiles of level 0, 1

Lemma 3.2.7. For $N \ge 0$, let T_N , T_{N+1} be the (a_1, a_0) -tiles of level N and N + 1 respectively.

Then
$$\begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1 \\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} A(T_N) = A(T_{N+1}).$$

Proof. Let $A(T_N) = (p_N, q_N)$, so $1 = \frac{p_N}{\beta^N} + \frac{q_N}{\beta^{N+1}}$. By using the substitution $\frac{1}{\beta^N} = \frac{a_1}{\beta^{N+1}} + \frac{a_0}{\beta^{N+2}}$, we can find the expression

$$1 = p_N \left(\frac{a_1}{\beta^{N+1}} + \frac{a_0}{\beta^{N+2}} \right) + \frac{q_N}{\beta^{N+1}} \\ = \frac{a_1 p_N + q_N}{\beta^{N+1}} + \frac{a_0 p_N}{\beta^{N+2}}$$

Definition 3.2.8. We compose two (a_1, a_0) -tiles X, Y to get

$$X \circ Y := X \cup \{A(X) + y | y \in Y\} = X \cup \{A(X) + Y\}.$$

We extend this definition to composition of tiles

Note that here we must take the apex of a tile X to be the pair (p_X, q_X) such that for all $(p, q) \in X$, $p \leq p_X$ and $q \leq q_X$. This

Remark 20. For two well defined (a_1, a_0) -tile X and Y,

$$A(X \circ Y) = A(X) + A(Y).$$



Figure 3.5: $\bigcirc(T_0, T_1)$

We can see in figure 3.4 that composition of tiles is not commutative.

Lemma 3.2.9. Composition of (a_1, a_0) -tiles is an associative operation.

Proof. Let X, Y, Z be (a_1, a_0) -tiles such that A(X), A(Y), and A(Z) are well defined. We will first consider $(X \circ Y) \circ Z$.

$$(X \circ Y) \circ Z = (X \cup \{A(X) + Y\}) \circ Z$$
$$= (X \cup \{A(X) + Y\}) \cup \{A(X \circ Y) + Z\}$$
$$= X \cup \{A(X) + Y\} \cup \{A(X \circ Y) + Z\}.$$

Next consider $X \circ (Y \circ Z)$:

$$\begin{split} X \circ (Y \circ Z) &= X \cup \{A(X) + (Y \circ Z)\} \\ &= X \cup \{A(X) + Y \cup \{A(Y) + Z\}\} \\ &= X \cup (\{A(X) + Y\} \cup \{A(X) + A(Y) + Z\}) \\ &= X \cup \{A(X) + Y\} \cup \{A(X) + A(Y) + Z\}. \end{split}$$

These expressions are the same as in remark 20 we noted that $A(X \circ Y) = A(X) + A(Y)$.

It makes sense that the composition is associative as it can be described visually by overlaying a series of tiles only overlapping the origin of one tile with the apex of the tile that comes before it.



Figure 3.6: Possible composition of more than two (2, 1)-tiles, $\bigcirc (T_0, 2T_1)$

Definition 3.2.10. The set of all points that can be found in some composition of the (a_1, a_0) -tiles X and Y in any order is

$$\bigcirc (X,Y) = \{X \circ Y\} \cup \{Y \circ X\}.$$

As composition is associative, we can define this set for more than two (a_1, a_0) -tiles, X, Y, Z:

$$\bigcirc (X,Y,Z) = \bigcirc \left(\bigcirc (X,Y),Z\right) = \bigcirc \left(X,\bigcirc (Y,Z)\right).$$

If an (a_1, a_0) -tile is repeated in composition we can write it using the following shorthand.

$$\bigcirc (\mu_1 X, \mu_2 Y) = \bigcirc (\underbrace{X, \dots, X}_{\mu_1}, \underbrace{Y, \dots, Y}_{\mu_2}).$$

Lemma 3.2.11. For $N \ge 0$, let $(p,q) \in T_N$ the (a_1, a_0) -tile of level N. Then $(p,q) \in T_{N+1}$.

Proof. Let $(p,q) \in T_N$. Then there exists a uniform (a_1, a_0) -subdivision, S, that contains the breakpoint

$$\begin{bmatrix} p \\ q \end{bmatrix}_N = \frac{p}{\beta^N} + \frac{q}{\beta^{N+1}}.$$

Let \mathcal{T} be the corresponding uniform (a_1, a_0) -tree to S. Then initial p + q leaves of \mathcal{T} contain p leaves of height N and q leaves of height N + 1.

Consider an (a_1, a_0) -tree T of size 1, i.e. an (a_1, a_0) -caret of type $(i_1, \ldots, i_{a_0}) = \mathcal{L}(T)$. Choose the type of this $i_1 > 1$, so the first leaf in T has height 1.

We hang the (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T} from the first leaf of T to get $T(1)_{\mathcal{T}}$. The first p+q leaves of will contain p leaves with height N+1, and q leaves of height N+2.

Thus
$$\begin{bmatrix} p \\ q \end{bmatrix}_{N+1} = \frac{p}{\beta^{N+1}} + \frac{q}{\beta^{N+2}}$$
 is a breakpoint in an (a_1, a_0) -subdivision of $[0, 1]$. Therefore (p, q) belongs to the (a_1, a_0) -tile of level $N + 1, T_{N+1}$.

Lemma 3.2.11 is true for all $(p,q) \in T_N$, so we reach the following remark.

Remark 21. For $N \ge 0$, let T_N, T_{N+1} be the (a_1, a_0) -tiles of levels N and N+1 respectively. Then

$$T_N \subset T_{N+1}$$

Note, if T_{-1} and T_0 are the (a_1, a_0) -tiles of level -1 and level 0 respectively.

$$T_{-1} \not\subset T_0.$$

Lemma 3.2.12. Let $(p,q) \in T_N$. If $P = \begin{bmatrix} p \\ q \end{bmatrix}_N \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau] \cap [0,1]$ is obtainable at depth N, then $\frac{P}{\beta}$ is obtainable at depth N + 1.

Proof. If
$$(p,q) \in T_N$$
, then $P = \begin{bmatrix} p \\ q \end{bmatrix}_N \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau] \cap [0,1]$ is obtainable at depth N. By Lemma 3.2.11,

3.2. (A_1, A_0) -TILES

$$(p,q) \in T_{N+1}, \text{ so } P' = \begin{bmatrix} p \\ q \end{bmatrix}_{N+1} \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau] \cap [0,1] \text{ is obtainable at depth } N+1.$$
$$P' = \begin{bmatrix} p \\ q \end{bmatrix}_{N+1} = \frac{p}{\beta^{N+1}} + \frac{q}{\beta^{N+2}} = \frac{1}{\beta} \left(\frac{p}{\beta^N} + \frac{q}{\beta^{N+1}} \right) = \frac{1}{\beta} \begin{bmatrix} p \\ q \end{bmatrix}_N = \frac{P}{\beta}.$$

Remark 22. $\left[A(T)_N\right]_{N+t} = \frac{1}{\beta^t}$

We consider the (a_1, a_0) -tile of level -1, T_{-1} , to be the set of points $(p, q) \in \mathbb{Z}^2$, with $p, q \ge 0$ such that $p\beta + q$ is a breakpoint in some (a_1, a_0) -subdivision of [0, 1] of depth -1. Since $\beta > 1$, the set consists of just two points, $T_{-1} = \{(0, 0), (0, 1)\}$, and $A(T_{-1}) = (0, 1)$.

Note that whilst a uniform (a_1, a_0) -subdivision of depth 0 considers the interval [0, 1] as a long interval, a uniform (a_1, a_0) -subdivision of depth -1 considers the interval [0, 1] as a short interval.

Remark 23. Let T_{-1} and T_0 be the (a_1, a_0) -tiles of level -1 and level 0 respectively. Then

 $T_{-1} \not\subset T_0.$

Proposition 3.2.13. For $N \ge 2$, let T_{N-2}, T_{N-1}, T_N be the (a_1, a_0) -tile of level N - 2, N - 1, N respectively. Then

$$T_N = \bigcirc (a_1 T_{N-1}, a_0 T_{N-2}).$$

Proof. We must first show that each point in T_N can be found in the composition $\bigcirc (a_1 T_{N-1}, a_0 T_{N-2})$.

Suppose $(p,q) \in T_N$, the (a_1, a_0) -tile of level N. Let \mathcal{T} be an (a_1, a_0) -tree corresponding to a uniform (a_1, a_0) -subdivision S, with $P = \frac{p}{\beta^N} + \frac{q}{\beta^{N+1}} \in B[S]$. Let R be the root node of \mathcal{T} , which has $k = a_1 + a_0$ children, $R(1), \ldots, R(k)$. Let the type of R be (i_1, \ldots, i_{a_0}) . The breakpoint P_N is contained in exactly one of the sub-trees $\mathcal{T}_{R(1)}, \ldots, \mathcal{T}_{R(k)}$. Note that each of these sub-trees are uniform of depth N - 1 or depth N - 2.

Suppose without loss of generality that P as a breakpoint is found in the sub-tree R(j), with $1 \leq i_{\alpha} < j \leq i_{\alpha+1} \leq k$. Then for m < j, all leaves of $\mathcal{T}_{R(m)}$ must be included in the p + q leaves that come before the breakpoint P_N . As $i_{\alpha} < j \leq i_{\alpha+1} < k$, we know that α of the first children of R will have height 2, and $j - 1 - \alpha$ with height 1.

If H(R(m)) = 1, then R(m) represents the interval $\frac{1}{\beta}$, and if H(R(m)) = 2, then R(m) represents the interval $\frac{1}{\beta^2}$. There exists $0 \le p', q' \in Z$ such that

$$P = \frac{j-1-\alpha}{\beta} + \frac{\alpha}{\beta^2} + \frac{p'}{\beta^N} + \frac{q'}{\beta^{N+1}}$$
$$= \frac{j-1-\alpha}{\beta} + \frac{\alpha}{\beta^2} + \frac{P'}{\beta^{H(R(j))}}$$
$$= (j-1-\alpha) \left[A(T_{N-1}) \right]_N + \alpha \left[A(T_{N-2}) \right]_N + \frac{P'}{\beta^{H(R(j))}}.$$

Note P as a breakpoint in \mathcal{T} corresponds to the breakpoint P' in $\mathcal{T}_{R(j)}$, and $\frac{P'}{\beta^{H(R(j))}} = \frac{p'}{\beta^N} + \frac{q'}{\beta^{N+1}}$. Here p' and q' represent the number of long, and short intervals respectively, that add up to P' at level N - H(r(j)). Clearly then, $(p', q') \in T_{N-H(R(j))}$. This means we are able to describe any point $(p,q) \in T_N$ as some $\alpha_1 A(T_{N-1}) + \alpha_0 A(T_{N-2}) + (p',q')$, where $0 \leq \alpha_1 \leq a_1, 0 \leq \alpha_0 \leq a_0$, and $(p',q') \in T_{N-1} \cup T_{N-2}$. Therefore

$$T_N \subset \bigcirc (a_1 T_{N-1}, a_0 T_{N-2}).$$

Conversely, suppose $(p,q) \in \bigcirc (a_1 T_{N-1}, a_0 T_{N-2})$. We can construct a uniform (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T} of depth N in which $P = \frac{p}{\beta^N} + \frac{q}{\beta^{N+1}}$ is a breakpoint.

There exists and expression for (p,q) in terms of $A(T_{N-1}), A(T_N-2)$, namely

$$(p,q) = \gamma_1 A(T_{N-1}) + \gamma_2 A(T_{N-2}) + (p',q')$$

with $0 \le \gamma_1 \le a_1, 0 \le \gamma_2 \le a_0, (p', q') \in T_{N-1} \cup T_{N-2}$.

We construct an (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T} by taking the root (a_1, a_0) -caret to be of type $(i_1, \ldots, i_{\gamma_2}, i_{\gamma_2+1}, \ldots, i_{a_0})$ with $i_{\gamma_2} < \gamma_1 + \gamma_2 \le i_{\gamma_2+1}$. For each child of R, R(i), $i \ne \gamma_1 + \gamma_2 + 1$, we will hang a uniform (a_1, a_0) -tree of depth N - H(R(i)). From $R(\gamma_1 + \gamma_2 + 1)$ we will hang the uniform (a_1, a_0) -tree which has p'leaves of height $N - H(R(\gamma_1 + \gamma_2 + 1))$, q' leaves of height $N + 1 - H(R(\gamma_1 + \gamma_2 + 1))$ within the first p' + q' leaves.

The resulting (a_1, a_0) -tree is uniform and contains $P = \frac{p}{\beta^N} + \frac{q}{\beta^{N+1}}$ as a breakpoint. Therefore

$$\bigcirc (a_1 T_{N-1}, a_0 T_{N-2}) \subset T_N.$$

$$\therefore T_N = \bigcirc (a_1 T_{N-1}, a_0 T_{N-2}).$$



Figure 3.7: The possible combinations in $\bigcirc (2T_1, T_0)$

This can be seen in a construction of the (2, 1)-tile of level 2 from the (2, 1)-tiles of level 0 and 1, seen in figure 3.7.

We can see the process of composing (a_1, a_0) -tiles through the associated vectors.

Definition 3.2.14. Let T_N be the (a_1, a_0) -tile of level N. The associated vector $V(T_N)$ is

$$V(T_N) := \overrightarrow{O(T_N)A(T_N)}.$$

This is shown for (2, 1)-tiles in figure 3.8 and for (1, 3)-tiles in figure 3.9.

Definition 3.2.15. Let C be an (a_1, a_0) -caret of type (i_1, \ldots, i_{a_0}) . The **reverse of** C is C^r which is an (a_1, a_0) -caret of type $(k - i_{a_0}, \ldots, k^-)$, where $k = a_1 + a_0$.

We can similarly define the **reverse** of an (a_1, a_0) -tree.







Figure 3.8: The associated vectors for the possible combinations in $\bigcirc (2T_1, T_0)$



Figure 3.9: T_2 as composed by $V(T_1)$ and $V(T_0)$



Figure 3.10: The reverse of the (3, 2)-caret of type (1, 2) is type (4, 5)



Figure 3.11: The reverse of an (2, 1)-tree

Definition 3.2.16. If \mathcal{T} is an (a_1, a_0) -tree of depth 1 with root (a_1, a_0) -caret R, the reverse tree \mathcal{T} is $\mathcal{T}^r = R^r$.

If \mathcal{T} is an (a_1, a_0) -tree is of depth N, with root (a_1, a_0) -caret R, then the **reverse of** \mathcal{T} is \mathcal{T}^r , an (a_1, a_0) -tree with root (a_1, a_0) -caret R^r , and each sub-tree $\mathcal{T}_{R(j)} = \mathcal{T}_{R^r(k-j)}^r$.

The visualization of composing (a_1, a_0) -tiles as seen through associated vectors suggests that each (a_1, a_0) -tile of any given level is rotationally symmetrical. This is better understood in the following Lemma.

Lemma 3.2.17. Let $(p,q) \in T_N$, the (a_1, a_0) -tile of level N. If $A(T_N) = (\alpha_N, \alpha'_N)$, then

$$(\alpha_N - p, \alpha'_N - q) \in T_N.$$

Proof. Let \mathcal{T} be a uniform (a_1, a_0) -tree with $P = \begin{bmatrix} p \\ q \end{bmatrix}_N$ as a breakpoint. First recall that $\begin{bmatrix} \alpha_N \\ \alpha'_N \end{bmatrix} = 1$ by Lemma 3.2.4. Therefore

$$\begin{bmatrix} \alpha_N - p \\ \alpha'_N - q \end{bmatrix}_N = \frac{\alpha_N - p}{\beta^N} + \frac{\alpha'_N - q}{\beta^{N+1}}$$
$$= \frac{\alpha_N}{\beta^N} + \frac{\alpha'_N}{\beta^{N+1}} - \left(\frac{p}{\beta^N} + \frac{q}{\beta^{N+1}}\right)$$
$$= \begin{bmatrix} \alpha_N \\ \alpha'_N \end{bmatrix}_N - \begin{bmatrix} p \\ q \end{bmatrix}_N$$
$$= 1 - P.$$

We need to show that if $P \in \mathbb{Z}[\beta] \cap [0,1]$ is a breakpoint in some uniform (a_1, a_0) -subdivision S, then there exists a uniform (a_1, a_0) -subdivision S' such that $1 - P \in B[S]$. If \mathcal{T} be the uniform (a_1, a_0) -tree which contains P as a breakpoint, then the reverse (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T}^r

must contain the breakpoint 1 - P.

3.2.18 Tile Width The matrix $A = \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1 \\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ has eigenvector $v_{\beta} = \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \end{pmatrix}$ associated to the eigenvalue β .

$$Av_{\beta} = \beta v_{\beta}$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1 \\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \end{pmatrix} = \beta \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \end{pmatrix}$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} a_1 x + y \\ a_0 x \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \beta x \\ \beta y \end{pmatrix}$$

The line $L := \{rv_{\beta} | r \in \mathbb{R}\}$ is the extension of the eigenvector through the origin. This has equation $L : y = \frac{a_0}{\beta}x = (\beta - a_1)x = |\beta^*|x$, where β^* is the Gaussian conjugate of β . Remark 24. Since $\beta \notin \mathbb{Q}$, if $(x, y) \in \mathbb{Z}^2$ is on the line L, then x = y = 0.

We now define a semi-norm on \mathbb{R}^2 , with respect to the line L.

Definition 3.2.19. For all $(p,q) \in \mathbb{R}^2$ define $\overline{(p,q)}$ to be the minimal Euclidean distance from (p,q) to the line $L: y = \frac{a_0}{\beta}x = (\beta - a_0)x$.

Furthermore, we describe points below L, i.e. adding some positive value to the *y*-coordinate is necessary to get to L, **negative**. Similarly, points above this line are **positive**. We will use the following notation.

$$T_N^+ := \{ P \in T_N | P \text{ is positive} \}$$
$$T_N^- := \{ P \in T_N | P \text{ is negative} \}.$$

The function $\overline{\cdot}: \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ satisfies the properties of a semi-norm. For $(p,q), (p',q') \in \mathbb{R}^2$ and $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$,

1.
$$\overline{(p,q) + (p',q')} \le \overline{(p,q)} + \overline{(p',q')}$$

2. $\overline{\alpha(p,q)} = |\alpha|\overline{(p,q)}$

Remark 25.

Remark 26. If $(x, y), (p, q) \in \mathbb{R}^2$ are both positive or both negative, then

$$\overline{(x,y) + (p,q)} = \overline{(x,y)} + \overline{(p,q)}$$

Lemma 3.2.20. Let $(p,q) \in T_N$ such that (p,q) is positive *(respectively negative)*, then

$$(p',q') = \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1\\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} p\\ q \end{pmatrix} \in T_{N+1}$$

and (p', q') is negative (respectively positive).

Proof. Let M be a square real matrix of size n. It is well known [22] that if all of the eigenvalues of M are distinct then their corresponding eigenvectors are linearly independent and thus form a basis of \mathbb{R}^n .

Our matrix A has two distinct eigenvalues, β and β^* , and so their corresponding eigenvectors form a basis for \mathbb{R}^2 . Note that $\beta^* = \frac{-a_0}{\beta}$, which makes β^* a negative number (notice that we say negative number to highlight the difference between the commonly understood meaning of negative with respect to the real numbers, and the negative coordinates in \mathbb{R}^2 with respect to our semi-norm). Let v_β and v_{β^*} be the normalised eigenvectors of A associated with β and β^* respectively.



Therefore every point $P \in \mathbb{R}^2$ can be expressed as

 $P = r_1 v_\beta + r_2 v_{\beta^*}$

for some $r_1, r_2 \in \mathbb{R}$. As v_β and v_{β^*} are eigenvectors of A,

$$Av_{\beta} = \beta v_{\beta}$$
$$Av_{\beta^*} = \beta^* v_{\beta^*}$$

Then letting $\mathbf{P} = r_1 v_\beta + r_2 v_{\beta^*}$

$$A * P = \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1 \\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} (r_1 v_\beta + r_2 v_{\beta^*})$$

= $r_1 \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1 \\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} v_\beta + r_2 \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1 \\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} v_{\beta^*}$
= $r_1 \beta v_\beta + r_2 \beta^* v_{\beta^*}$
= $r_1 \beta v_\beta - r_2 |\beta^*| v_{\beta^*}$
= $r'_1 v_\beta + r'_2 v_{\beta^*}$

The sign of the coefficient of the eigenvector v_{β^*} after multiplication by A is the opposite of the sign beforehand. Therefore multiplication by A takes positive (respectively negative) coordinates in \mathbb{R}^2 and maps them to negative (respectively positive) coordinates in \mathbb{R}^2 with respect to our semi-norm. \Box

 $A(T_0)$ is clearly a negative point, as it lies on the x-axis.

Remark 27.

 $\overline{A(T_N)}$ is positive if N is odd $\overline{A(T_N)}$ is negative if N is even.

Lemma 3.2.21. Let $(p,q) \in \mathbb{R}^2$. Then

$$\overline{\begin{pmatrix}a_1 & 1\\a_0 & 0\end{pmatrix}\begin{pmatrix}p\\q\end{pmatrix}} = |\beta^*|\overline{(p,q)}$$

where $\beta^* = -\frac{a_0}{\beta}$ is the Galois conjugate of β .

Proof. We have already shown that for all $P \in \mathbb{R}^2$, we can write $P = r_1 v_\beta + r_2 v_{\beta^*}$ for some $r_1, r_2 \in \mathbb{R}$.

$$\overline{P'} = \overline{r_1 v_\beta + r_2 v_{\beta^*}} = |r_2|\overline{v_{\beta^*}}.$$

If we map the point P by A, then

$$P' = A * P = \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1 \\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} (r_1 v_\beta + r_2 v_{\beta^*})$$
$$= r_1 \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1 \\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} v_\beta + r_2 \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1 \\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} v_{\beta^*}$$
$$= r_1 \beta v_\beta + r_2 \beta^* v_{\beta^*}$$
$$= r_1 \beta v_\beta - r_2 |\beta^*| v_{\beta^*}.$$

Then $\overline{P'}$ can be calculated

$$P' = r_1 \beta v_\beta + r_2 \beta^* v_\beta$$
$$= |r_2 \beta^*| \overline{v_{\beta^*}}$$
$$= |r_2| |\beta^*| \overline{v_{\beta^*}}$$
$$= |\beta^*| \overline{P}.$$

Since
$$A(T_{N+1}) = \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1 \\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} A(T_N)$$
, we reach the following remark.

Remark 28. For $N \ge 0$, let T_N be the (a_1, a_0) -tile of level N. Then

$$\overline{A(T_{N+1})} = |\beta^*|\overline{A(T_N)}$$

Remark 29. If β is Pisot, $\overline{A(T_{N+1})} < \overline{A(T_N)}$. If β is Non-Pisot, then $\overline{A(T_{N+1})} > \overline{A(T_N)}$.

Note that $|\beta^*| = 1$ implies that either 1 or -1 is a solution to f_β , the irreducible integer polynomial, so there is no case such that $\overline{A(T_{N+1})} = \overline{A(T_N)}$. Recall that the associated vector of the (a_1, a_0) -tile of level N, T_N , is $V(T_N)$.

Remark 30. If β is Pisot then the associated vector of the (a_1, a_0) -tile of level N, $V(T_N)$, aligns more closely to the line L spanned by v_β as N increases. I.e., considering $V(T_N)$ as a position vector,

$$\overline{V(T_{N+1})} < \overline{V(T_N)}$$

Conversely note if β is non-Pisot, then

$$\overline{V(T_{N+1})} > \overline{V(T_N)}$$

For a given T_N there exists some $(p',q') \in \mathbb{Z}^2$ $p,q \ge 0$, such that $\overline{(p',q')} > \overline{(p,q)}$ for all $(p,q) \in T_N$. In this case, we might say that (p',q') is too positive, or too negative. We want to define the points in T_N which are the most positive and the most negative. These points are the further from the line Lthan all other points within T_N , and hence have maximal value under the semi-norm.



Figure 3.12: Maximal distances highlighted in (2, 1)-tiles of level 0, 1 and 2

Definition 3.2.22. For $0 \le N \in \mathbb{N}$

$$D_m(T_N) = \left\{ (p,q) \in T_N \middle| \overline{(p,q)} = \max_{(x,y) \in T_N} \left\{ \overline{(x,y)} \right\} \in \mathbb{R} \right\}$$
$$D_m^+(T_N) = \left\{ (p,q) \in T_N^+ \middle| \overline{(p,q)} = \max_{(x,y) \in T_N^+} \left\{ \overline{(x,y)} \right\} \in \mathbb{R} \right\}$$
$$D_m^-(T_N) = \left\{ (p,q) \in T_N^- \middle| \overline{(p,q)} = \max_{(x,y) \in T_N^-} \left\{ \overline{(x,y)} \right\} \in \mathbb{R} \right\}.$$

Thus $D_m(T_N)$ is the set of points in T_N which are the furthest distance from L. In fact we can show these to be singletons.

Lemma 3.2.23. $D_m(T_N)$, $D_m^+(T_N)$ and $D_m^-(T_N)$ are singletons for all $N \ge 0$.

Proof. Suppose for contradiction that $P, Q \in D_m(T_N) \subset \mathbb{Z}^2$, with $P = (p_1, p_2) \neq Q = (q_1, q_2)$. Then \overrightarrow{PQ} is parallel to L as the points P and Q are equally far from L. Then

$$P = Q + \lambda \begin{pmatrix} p_1 \\ \beta - a_1 \end{pmatrix}$$

The level 0 (1, 3)-tile, T_0 :



The level 1 (1,3)-tile, T_1 :



The level 2 (1, 3)-tile, T_2 :



Figure 3.13: Maximal distances highlighted in (1, 3)-tiles of levels 0, 1, 2

3.2. (A_1, A_0) -TILES

$$\begin{pmatrix} p_1 \\ p_2 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} q_1 \\ q_2 \end{pmatrix} + \lambda \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ \beta - a_1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

This gives us the following two equations:

$$p_1 = q_1 + \lambda$$
$$p_2 = q_2 + \lambda(\beta - a_1)$$

This allows us to solve for λ in terms of p_1, q_1 to get $\lambda = p_1 - q_1$. We can rearrange the second equation to give

$$p_2 = q_2 + (p_1 - q_1)(\beta - a_1)$$
$$p_2 - q_2 + a_1(p_1 - q_1) = (p_1 - q_1)\beta$$
$$\frac{p_2 - q_2 + a_1(p_1 - q_1)}{p_1 - q_1} = \beta.$$

We know that $p_1, p_2, q_1, q_2, a_1 \in \mathbb{Z}$, so this implies that $\beta \in \mathbb{Q}$. However we know that β is irrational, so we have a contradiction. In this case $D_m(T_N)$ is a singleton. This argument also applies to $D_m^+(T_N)$ and $D_m^-(T_N)$.

c	-	-	-	-	
L					

We have proved that $D_m^{\pm}(T_N)$ are singletons for all $N \in \mathbb{N}$.

 $Remark \ 31. \ \overline{D_m^-(T_N)} > 0 \ \text{for all} \ N \ge 0. \ \overline{D_m^+(T_N)} > 0 \ \text{for all} \ N \ge 1.$

This is easily seen if we recall that $T_N \subset T_{N+1}$, and so $T_0 \subset T_N$ for all $N \in \mathbb{N}$. As $D_m(T_0) > 0$, then $D_m(T_N) > 0$ for all $N \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$.

Lemma 3.2.24. For all $N \in \mathbb{N}$

$$\overline{D_m^{\pm}(T_N)} \le \overline{D_m^{\pm}(T_{N+1})}.$$

Proof. Remark 21 tells us that $T_N \subset T_{N+1}$ for all $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$. Therefore $D_m(T_N) \in T_{N+1}$, and so $\overline{D_m(T_N)} \leq \overline{D_m(T_{N+1})}$.

Let the notation $[\cdot]_N$ extend to $D_m^{\pm}(T_N)$, so that if $D_m^{\pm}(T_N) = (x, y)$,

$$[D_m^{\pm}(T_N)]_N = \begin{bmatrix} x\\ y \end{bmatrix}_N = \frac{x}{\beta^N} + \frac{y}{\beta^{N+1}}.$$

The point $D_m^+(T_N)$ (respectively $D_m^-(T_N)$) is defined such that the interval $[0, [D_m^+(T_N)]_N]$ (respectively the interval $[0, [D_m^-(T_N)]_N]$) has the greatest (respectively least) ratio of short sub-intervals to long sub-intervals.

Lemma 3.2.25. Let $N \ge 0$, and T_N be the (a_1, a_0) -tile of level N. Then

$$D_m^+(T_N) + D_m^-(T_N) = A(T_N)$$

and as such $[D_m^+(T_N)]_N + [D_m^-(T_N)]_N = [A(T_N)]_N = 1.$

Proof. Recall that the (a_1, a_0) -tile of level N is rotationally symmetrical as shown in Lemma 3.2.17. Then to make the interval $[0, [D_m^+(T_N)]_M]$ contain the greatest ratio of short sub-intervals to long sub-intervals, you must ensure the interval $[[D_m^+(T_N)]_N, 1]$ contains the least possible ratio of short sub-intervals to long intervals. This means that $[[D_m^+(T_N)]_N, 1] = [1 - [D_m^-(T_N)]_N, 1]$, and so we conclude that

$$[D_m^+(T_N)]_N + [D_m^-(T_N)]_N = [A(T_N)]_N = 1$$

and thus $D_m^+(T_N) + D_m^-(T_N) = A(T_N).$

Proposition 3.2.26. For $N \ge 1$

$$D_m^+(T_N) = \begin{cases} a_0 A(T_{N-2}) + D_m^+(T_{N-1}) & N \text{ odd} \\ (a_1 - 1)A(T_{N-1}) + D_m^+(T_{N-1}) & N \text{ even} \end{cases}$$

$$D_m^-(T_N) = \begin{cases} (a_1 - 1)A(T_{N-1}) + D_m^-(T_{N-1}) & N \text{ odd} \\ \\ a_0A(T_{N-2}) + D_m^-(T_{N-1}) & N \text{ even} \end{cases}$$

Proof. We will prove this by induction. Consider the (a_1, a_0) -tiles of level -1, 0 and $1, T_{-1}, T_0$ and T_1 .

96

$$D_m^+(T_{-1}) = (0, 1)$$
$$D_m^-(T_{-1}) = (0, 0)$$
$$D_m^+(T_0) = (0, 0)$$
$$D_m^-(T_0) = (1, 0)$$
$$D_m^+(T_1) = (0, a_0)$$
$$D_m^-(T_1) = (a_1, 0).$$

We can check the hypothesis for the base case N = 1,

$$D_m^+(T_1) = (0, a_0) = a_0(0, 1) + (0, 0)$$

= $a_0 A(T_{-1}) + D_m^+(T_0)$
$$D_m^-(T_1) = (0, a_0) = (a_1 - 1)(1, 0) + (1, 0)$$

= $(a_1 - 1)A(T_0) + D_m^-(T_0).$

Notice that $D_m^+(T_1) + D_m^-(T_1) = A(T_1)$:

$$D_m^+(T_2) = (a_1^2 - a_1, a_0^2) = (a_1 - 1)(a_1, a_0) + (0, a_0)$$
$$= (a_1 - 1)A(T_1) + D_m^+(T_1)$$
$$, D_m^-(T_2) = (a_0 + a_1, 0) = a_0(1, 0) + (a_1, 0)$$
$$= a_0A(T_0) + D_m^-(T_1).$$

Suppose that the Proposition is true for all $1 \le k < N$.

$$D_m^+(T_k) = \begin{cases} a_0 A(T_{k-2}) + D_m^+(T_{k-1}) & k \text{ odd} \\ (a_1 - 1)A(T_{k-1}) + D_m^+(T_{k-1}) & k \text{ even} \end{cases}$$

$$D_m^-(T_k) = \begin{cases} (a_1 - 1)A(T_{k-1}) + D_m^-(T_{k-1}) & k \text{ odd} \\ \\ a_0A(T_{k-2}) + D_m^-(T_{k-1}) & k \text{ even} \end{cases}$$

Proposition 3.2.13 tells us that $T_N = \bigcirc (a_1 T_{N-1}, a_0 T_{N-2})$. We will split this question into four cases, $D_m^+(T_N), D_m^+(T_N)$ with N odd, and $D_m^+(T_N), D_m^+(T_N)$ with N even.

Case 1, N is odd.

If N is odd, we have remark 27 which tells us that $\overline{A(T_N)} > 0$. Since $D_m^+(T_N) + D_m^-(T_N) = A(T_N) > 0$ by Lemma 3.2.25, we see that $\overline{D_m^+(T_N)} > \overline{D_m^-(T_N)}$, and so $D_m(T_N) = D_m^+(T_N)$.



Figure 3.14: The associated vectors in the (a_1, a_0) -tile composition of some T_N

In figure 3.14, we can see the associated vectors of a tile composition of the (a_1, a_0) -tile of level N, T_N , in terms of T_{N-1} and T_{N-2} . Each line in the figure is the associated vector of either T_{N-1} or T_{N-2} , and each circle represents the origin of one of these (a_1, a_0) -tiles. Clearly the apex of T_N is seen to be a positive point.

By looking at figure 3.14, we can justify two possible tiles which could contain $D_m(T_N) = D_m^+(T_N)$, these being where the origin and associated vector has been coloured red. We can therefore assume that $D_m^+(T_N) \in \{(x, y) + (a_0 - 1)A(T_{N-2})|$ for some $(x, y) \in \bigcirc (T_{N-1}, T_{N-2})\}$.

3.2. (A_1, A_0) -TILES

The maximal distance in the tile must be equivalent to one of the maximal distances in either the tile of level T_{N-1} or the tile of level T_{N-2} . Thus $D_m^+(T_N) = (a_0 - 1)A(T_{N-2}) + D_m^+(T_{N-2})$, or $D_m^+(T_N) = a_0A(T_{N-2}) + D_m^+(T_{N-1})$. We will now compare the two to see which must have greater maximal distance. Making use of Lemma 3.2.24, we find that,

$$\overline{a_0 A(T_{N-2}) + D_m^+(T_{N-1})} = \overline{a_0 A(T_{N-2})} + \overline{D_m^+(T_{N-1})}$$

$$> \overline{a_0 A(T_{N-2})} + \overline{D_m^+(T_{N-2})}$$

$$> \overline{(a_0 - 1)A(T_{N-2})} + \overline{D_m^+(T_{N-2})}$$

$$= \overline{(a_0 - 1)A(T_{N-2}) + D_m^+(T_{N-2})}.$$

Therefore $D_m^+(T_N) = a_0 A(T_{N-2}) + D_m^+(T_{N-1})$. From this we can deduce an iterative formula for $D_m^-(T_N)$. Recall Lemma 3.2.25 tells us that $D_m^+(T_N) + D_m^-(T_N) = A(T_N)$. By rearranging this we see that

$$D_m^-(T_N) = A(T_N) - D_m^+(T_N)$$

= $(a_1A(T_{N-1}) + a_0A(T_{N-2})) - (a_0A(T_{N-2}) + D_m^+(T_{N-1}))$
= $a_1A(T_{N-1}) - D_m^+(T_{N-1})$
= $(a_1 - 1)A(T_{N-1}) + (A(T_{N-1}) - D_m^+(T_{N-1}))$
= $(a_1 - 1)A(T_{N-1}) + D_m^-(T_{N-1}).$

Therefore $D_m^-(T_N) = (a_1 - 1)A(T_{N-1}) + D_m^-(T_{N-1})$ when N is odd.



Figure 3.15: The associated vectors in the (a_1, a_0) -tile composition of T_N , N even

Case 2, N is even. In figure 3.15 we see the (a_1, a_0) -tile composition of T_N where N is even. Remark 27 tells us that $A(T_N)$ is negative, and so $D_m(T_N) = D_m^-(T_N)$. The point in T_N of maximal negative distance must lie in one of the (a_1, a_0) -tiles indicated by the blue edges, which have their bases highlighted by blue circles. This means that either $D_m^-(T_N) = (a_0 - 1)A(T_{N-2}) + D_m^-(T_{N-2})$, or $D_m^-(T_N) = a_0A(T_{N-2}) + D_m^-(T_{N-1})$.

Thus $D_m^+(T_N) = (a_0 - 1)A(T_{N-2}) + D_m^+(T_{N-2})$, or $D_m^+(T_N) = a_0A(T_{N-2}) + D_m^+(T_{N-1})$. We will now compare the two to see which must have greater maximal distance. Making use of Lemma 3.2.24, we find that

$$a_0 A(T_{N-2}) + D_m^-(T_{N-1}) = \overline{a_0 A(T_{N-2})} + \overline{D_m^-(T_{N-1})}$$

$$> \overline{a_0 A(T_{N-2})} + \overline{D_m^-(T_{N-2})}$$

$$> \overline{(a_0 - 1)A(T_{N-2})} + \overline{D_m^-(T_{N-2})}$$

$$= \overline{(a_0 - 1)A(T_{N-2}) + D_m^-(T_{N-2})}$$

Therefore $D_m^-(T_N) = a_0 A(T_{N-2}) + D_m^-(T_{N-1}).$

From this we can deduce an iterative formula for $D_m^+(T_N)$. Recall Lemma 3.2.25 tells us that

$$D_m^+(T_N) + D_m^-(T_N) = A(T_N).$$

By rearranging this we see that

$$D_m^+(T_N) = A(T_N) - D_m^-(T_N)$$

= $(a_1A(T_{N-1}) + a_0A(T_{N-2})) - (a_0A(T_{N-2}) + D_m^-(T_{N-1}))$
= $a_1A(T_{N-1}) - D_m^-(T_{N-1})$
= $(a_1 - 1)A(T_{N-1}) + (A(T_{N-1}) - D_m^-(T_{N-1}))$
= $(a_1 - 1)A(T_{N-1}) + D_m^+(T_{N-1}).$

Therefore $D_m^+(T_N) = (a_1 - 1)A(T_{N-1}) + D_m^+(T_{N-1})$ when N is odd.

By considering the two cases we have shown that for $N \ge 1$, we reach our intended result:

$$D_m^+(T_N) = \begin{cases} a_0 A(T_{N-2}) + D_m^+(T_{N-1}) & N \text{ odd} \\ (a_1 - 1)A(T_{N-1}) + D_m^+(T_{N-1}) & N \text{ even} \end{cases},$$
$$D_m^-(T_N) = \begin{cases} (a_1 - 1)A(T_{N-1}) + D_m^-(T_{N-1}) & N \text{ odd} \\ a_0 A(T_{N-2}) + D_m^-(T_{N-1}) & N \text{ even} \end{cases}.$$

It will become extremely useful to create a shorthand for the apex of a tile. Whenever T_N appears in an equation, we will take this to mean $A(T_N)$ unless specified otherwise. The following is a statement about the apexes of the (a_1, a_0) -tiles of level N - 2, N - 1, and N

$$T_N = a_1 T_{N-1} + a_0 T_{N-2}$$

The context will usually make it clear which definition is being used.

Corollary 3.2.27. For $N - 2 \ge 0$:

$$D_m^+(T_N) = \begin{cases} (a_1 + a_0 - 1)(T_{N-2} + \dots + T_3 + T_1) + \begin{pmatrix} 0\\a_0 \end{pmatrix} & N \text{ odd} \\ \\ (a_1 - 1)T_{N-1} + (a_1 + a_0 - 1)(T_{N-3} + \dots + T_3 + T_1) + \begin{pmatrix} 0\\a_0 \end{pmatrix} & N \text{ even} \end{cases}$$

$$D_m^-(T_N) = \begin{cases} (a_1 - 1)T_{N-1} + (a_1 + a_0 - 1)(T_{N-3} + \dots + T_2 + T_0) + \begin{pmatrix} 1\\ 0 \end{pmatrix} & N \text{ odd} \\ \\ (a_1 + a_0 - 1)(T_{N-2} + \dots + T_2 + T_0) + \begin{pmatrix} 1\\ 0 \end{pmatrix} & N \text{ even} \end{cases}$$

Proof. For each of $D_m^+(T_N)$ and $D_m^-(T_N)$ we consider the cases, N odd and N even. **Case 1**, $D_m^+(T_N)$ with N odd

By Proposition 3.2.26, we know that we can write $D_m^+(T_N) = a_0 T_{N-2} + D_m^+(T_{N-1})$. We are then able to reuse Proposition 3.2.26 to expand $D_m^+(T_{N-1})$:

$$D_m^+(T_N) = a_0 T_{N-2} + D_m^+(T_{N-1})$$

= $a_0 T_{N-2} + (a_1 - 1) T_{N-2} + D_m^+(T_{N-2})$
= $(a_1 + a_0 - 1) T_{N-2} + D_m^+(T_{N-2})$
= $(a_1 + a_0 - 1) T_{N-2} + a_0 T_{N-4} + D_m^+(T_{N-3})$
= $(a_1 + a_0 - 1) T_{N-2} + a_0 T_{N-4} + (a_1 - 1) T_{N-4} + D_m^+(T_{N-4})$
= $(a_1 + a_0 - 1) (T_{N-2} + T_{N-4}) + D_m^+(T_{N-4})$
:
= $(a_1 + a_0 - 1) (T_{N-2} + T_{N-4}) + \cdots + T_1) + D_m^+(T_1)$
= $(a_1 + a_0 - 1) (T_{N-2} + T_{N-4} + \cdots + T_1) + \binom{0}{a_0}$.

Case 2, $D_m^+(T_N)$ with N odd

Again by Proposition 3.2.26, we know that we can write $D_m^+(T_N) = (a_1 - 1)T_{N-1} + D_m^+(T_{N-1})$. We

are then able to use our previous result to expand $D_m^+(T_{N-1})$, as N-1 is odd.

$$D_m^+(T_N) = (a_1 - 1)T_{N-1} + D_m^+(T_{N-1})$$

= $(a_1 - 1)T_{N-1} + (a_1 + a_0 - 1)(T_{N-3} + T_{N-5} + \dots + T_1) + \begin{pmatrix} 0\\a_0 \end{pmatrix}.$

Case 3, $D_m^-(T_N)$ with N even

By Proposition 3.2.26, we know that we can write $D_m^-(T_N) = a_0 T_{N-2} + D_m^-(T_{N-1})$. We are then able to reuse Proposition 3.2.26 to expand $D_m^-(T_{N-1})$:

$$D_m^-(T_N) = a_0 T_{N-2} + D_m^-(T_{N-1})$$

= $a_0 T_{N-2} + (a_1 - 1) T_{N-2} + D_m^-(T_{N-2})$
= $(a_1 + a_0 - 1) T_{N-2} + D_m^-(T_{N-2})$
= $(a_1 + a_0 - 1) T_{N-2} + a_0 T_{N-4} + D_m^-(T_{N-3})$
= $(a_1 + a_0 - 1) T_{N-2} + a_0 T_{N-4} + (a_1 - 1) T_{N-4} + D_m^-(T_{N-4})$
= $(a_1 + a_0 - 1) (T_{N-2} + T_{N-4}) + D_m^-(T_{N-4})$
:
= $(a_1 + a_0 - 1) (T_{N-2} + T_{N-4}) + \dots + T_2 + T_0) + D_m^+(T_0))$
= $(a_1 + a_0 - 1) (T_{N-2} + T_{N-4} + \dots + T_2 + T_0) + D_m^+(T_0))$

Case 4, $D_m^+(T_N)$ with N even

Again by Proposition 3.2.26, we know that we can write $D_m^+(T_N) = (a_1 - 1)T_{N-1} + D_m^+(T_{N-1})$. We are then able to use our previous result to expand $D_m^+(T_{N-1})$, as N-1 is even.

$$D_m^+(T_N) = (a_1 - 1)T_{N-1} + D_m^-(T_{N-1})$$

= $(a_1 - 1)T_{N-1} + (a_1 + a_0 - 1)(T_{N-3} + T_{N-5} + \dots + T_2 + T_0) + \begin{pmatrix} 1\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$

Combing the four cases, we have proved that for $N\geq 2:$

$$D_m^+(T_N) = \begin{cases} (a_1 + a_0 - 1)(T_{N-2} + \dots + T_3 + T_1) + \begin{pmatrix} 0\\a_0 \end{pmatrix} & N \text{ odd} \\ \\ (a_1 - 1)T_{N-1} + (a_1 + a_0 - 1)(T_{N-3} + \dots + T_3 + T_1) + \begin{pmatrix} 0\\a_0 \end{pmatrix} & N \text{ even} \end{cases},$$
$$D_m^-(T_N) = \begin{cases} (a_1 - 1)T_{N-1} + (a_1 + a_0 - 1)(T_{N-3} + \dots + T_2 + T_0) + \begin{pmatrix} 1\\0 \end{pmatrix} & N \text{ odd} \\ \\ (a_1 + a_0 - 1)(T_{N-2} + \dots + T_2 + T_0) + \begin{pmatrix} 1\\0 \end{pmatrix} & N \text{ even} \end{cases}.$$

Remark 32. For $N \ge 2$,

$$D_m(T_N) = (a_1 + a_0 - 1)A(T_{N-2}) + D_m(T_{N-2}).$$

We can see in Figure 3.16 and Figure 3.17, the maximal distances within the tiles as described in Corollary 3.2.27.

The level 1 (2, 1)-tile, T_1 :



The level 2 (2, 1)-tile, T_2 :

$$s \longrightarrow L: y = \frac{1}{\beta}x$$

$$D_m^+(T_2) = (2-1) \begin{pmatrix} 2\\1 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} 0\\a_0 \end{pmatrix}$$

$$= \begin{pmatrix} 2\\2 \end{pmatrix}$$

$$D_m^-(T_2) = (2+1-1) \begin{pmatrix} 1\\0 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} 1\\0 \end{pmatrix}$$

$$= \begin{pmatrix} 3\\0 \end{pmatrix}$$

Figure 3.16: The maximal distances in (2, 1)-tiles as found using their formulae

The level 1 (1, 3)-tile, T_1 :

The level 2 (1,3)-tile, T_2 :

Figure 3.17: The maximal distances in (1,3)-tiles as found using their formulae

3.2. (A_1, A_0) -TILES

Lemma 3.2.28. For $N \ge 2$,

$$\overline{D_m(T_N)} = (a_1 + a_0 - 1)|\beta^*|^{N-2}\overline{A(T_0)} + \overline{D_m(T_{N-2})}.$$

In fact we can derive the following:

$$\overline{D_m(T_N)} = \begin{cases} (a_1 + a_0 - 1) \left(|\beta^*|^{N-2} + \dots + |\beta^*|^3 + |\beta^*| \right) \overline{A(T_0)} + \overline{(0, a_0)} & N \text{ odd} \\ (a_1 + a_0 - 1) \left(|\beta^*|^{N-2} + \dots + |\beta^*|^2 + 1 \right) \overline{A(T_0)} + \overline{(1, 0)} & N \text{ even} \end{cases}$$

Proof. By combining Remark 32, and Remark 28, we see that

$$\overline{D_m(T_N)} = (a_1 + a_0 - 1)|\beta^*|^{N-2}\overline{A(T_0)} + \overline{D_m(T_{N-2})}.$$

Now recall from Corollary 3.2.27, that

$$D_m^+(T_N) = \begin{cases} (a_1 + a_0 - 1)(T_{N-2} + \dots + T_3 + T_1) + \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ a_0 \end{pmatrix} & N \text{ odd} \\ (a_1 - 1)T_{N-1} + (a_1 + a_0 - 1)(T_{N-3} + \dots + T_3 + T_1) + \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ a_0 \end{pmatrix} & N \text{ even} \end{cases},$$
$$D_m^-(T_N) = \begin{cases} (a_1 - 1)T_{N-1} + (a_1 + a_0 - 1)(T_{N-3} + \dots + T_2 + T_0) + \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} & N \text{ odd} \\ (a_1 + a_0 - 1)(T_{N-2} + \dots + T_2 + T_0) + \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} & N \text{ even} \end{cases}.$$

Also recall that $D_m(T_N) = D_m^+(T_N)$ if N even, and $D_m(T_N) = D_m^-(T_N)$ if N odd. Since all of the apexes added will share the same parity, we can see that

$$\overline{T_{N-2} + \dots + T_2 + T_0} = \overline{T_{N-2}} + \dots + \overline{T_2} + \overline{T_0} \text{ if } N \text{ even}$$
$$\overline{T_{N-1} + \dots + T_3 + T_1} = \overline{T_{N-1}} + \dots + \overline{T_3} + \overline{T_1} \text{ if } N \text{ odd.}$$

Lemma 3.2.29. If β is non-Pisot, then there exists $(p_0, q_0) \in \mathbb{Z}^2$ where $\begin{bmatrix} p_0 \\ q_0 \end{bmatrix}_0 = P \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau] \cap [0, 1],$

such that

$$\overline{\begin{pmatrix}a_1 & 1\\a_0 & 0\end{pmatrix}^N \begin{pmatrix}p_0\\q_0\end{pmatrix}} > \overline{D_m(T_N)} \text{ for all } N \ge 0.$$
Proof. Let $(p_0, q_0) \in \mathbb{Z}^2$ such that $P = \begin{bmatrix}p_0\\q_0\end{bmatrix}_0 = p_0 + \frac{q_0}{\beta} \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau] \cap [0, 1].$
Let $\begin{pmatrix}p_N\\q_N\end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix}a_1 & 1\\a_0 & 0\end{pmatrix}^N \begin{pmatrix}p_0\\q_0\end{pmatrix}$ and recall that $\begin{bmatrix}p_N\\q_N\end{bmatrix}_N = P.$

If we let $\overline{(p_0, q_0)} = d$, then $\overline{(p_N, q_N)} = |\beta^*|^N \times d$. In Lemma 3.2.28, we have a formula for $\overline{D_m(T_N)}$, so suppose for contradiction that

$$\overline{(p_N, q_N)} = |\beta^*|^N \times d \le \begin{cases} (a_1 + a_0 - 1) \left(|\beta^*|^{N-2} + \dots + |\beta^*|^3 + |\beta^*| \right) \overline{A(T_0)} + \overline{(0, a_0)} & N \text{ odd} \\ (a_1 + a_0 - 1) \left(|\beta^*|^{N-2} + \dots + |\beta^*|^2 + 1 \right) \overline{A(T_0)} + \overline{(1, 0)} & N \text{ even} \end{cases}$$

Without loss of generality, suppose N is even, and rearrange the inequality to find the expression,

$$\begin{split} d &\leq \frac{1}{|\beta^*|^N} \left((a_1 + a_0 - 1) \left(|\beta^*|^{N-2} + \dots + |\beta^*|^2 + 1 \right) \overline{A(T_0)} + \overline{(1,0)} \right) \\ &\leq (a_1 + a_0 - 1) \left(\frac{|\beta^*|^{N-2}}{|\beta^*|^N} + \dots + \frac{|\beta^*|^2}{|\beta^*|^N} + \frac{1}{|\beta^*|^N} \right) \overline{A(T_0)} + \frac{\overline{(1,0)}}{|\beta^*|^N} \\ &\leq (a_1 + a_0 - 1) \left(|\beta^*|^{-2} + \dots + |\beta^*|^{2-N} + |\beta^*|^{-N} \right) \overline{A(T_0)} + \overline{(1,0)} |\beta^*|^{-N} \\ &< (a_1 + a_0 - 1) \overline{A(T_0)} \sum_{i=1}^N \frac{1}{|\beta^*|^i} + \overline{(1,0)} |\beta^*|^{-N} \\ &< (a_1 + a_0 - 1) \overline{A(T_0)} \sum_{i=1}^\infty \frac{1}{|\beta^*|^i} + \overline{(1,0)} |\beta^*|^{-N}. \end{split}$$

As $\frac{1}{|\beta^*|} < 1$, the geometric series $\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{|\beta^*|^i}$ converges to some positive constant [23], and so the value for *d* is bounded above.

Since $P = (p_0, q_0)$ can be any integer pair such that $\begin{bmatrix} p_0 \\ q_0 \end{bmatrix}_0 \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau] \cap [0, 1]$, we can find P such that $\overline{P} = d$ is arbitrarily large. Hence there can be no such upper bound for d, and so we have reached a contradiction. Therefore there must exist $P = (p_0, q_0)$ satisfying the conclusion of the lemma.
This Lemma directly proves our theorem.

Theorem 3.2.30. If β is non-Pisot, then there exist breakpoints $P \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau] \cap [0, 1]$ that cannot be found in a regular β -subdivision.

Corollary 3.2.31. Let β be the positive root of the irreducible polynomial $X^2 - a_1 X - a_0 \in \mathbb{Z}[X]$ where $0 < a_1 < a_0$. Then

$$F_{\beta} \subsetneq G_{\beta}.$$

I.e., F_{β} is a proper subset of G_{β} .

Proof. Let β be the positive root of the irreducible polynomial $X^2 - a_1 X - a_0 \in \mathbb{Z}[X]$ where $0 < a_1 < a_0$. Then β is non-Pisot and by Theorem 3.2.30, there exists $P \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau] \cap [0, 1]$ such that P is not a breakpoint in any regular β -subdivision.

Corollary 3.1.3 tells us that for every $p \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau] \cap [0, 1]$, there exists $g \in G_{\beta}$ which contains (p, p) as a breakpoint. In particular this means that there exists $g_P \in G_{\beta}$ such that (P, P) is a breakpoint of g_P . If we assume for contradiction that $g_P = (\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2) \in F_{\beta}$ where $\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2$ are (a_1, a_0) -trees then this implies that P is a breakpoint of both \mathcal{T}_1 and \mathcal{T}_2 , but Theorem 3.2.30 tells us that in fact P cannot be a breakpoint in either \mathcal{T}_1 or \mathcal{T}_2 .

Thus we have an element $g_P \in G_\beta$ but $g_P \notin F_\beta$. So F_β is a proper subset of G_β .

 $F_{\beta} \subsetneq G_{\beta}.$

		-	

3.2.32 Example $f = X^2 - X - 3$

We now know that F_{β} is sometimes a proper subset of G_{β} , which leads us to ask is F_{β} even a subgroup of G_{β} . Throughout this section we will use the example $\beta = \frac{1 + \sqrt{13}}{2}$, the zero of $f_{\beta} = X^2 - X - 3$. We will begin by finding an explicit element of G_{β} which can not be found in F_{β} . This is found by looking at properties of the points of maximal distance.

Lemma 3.2.33. For $N \ge 1$,

$$\begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1\\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} D_m^+(T_N) = D_m^-(T_{N+1}) - \begin{pmatrix} a_1\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1\\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} D_m^-(T_N) = D_m^+(T_{N+1}) + \begin{pmatrix} a_1\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Proof. We prove this in 4 cases, $D_m^+(T_N)$ with N even and odd, and $D_m^-(T_N)$ with N even and odd.

Case 1, $D_m^+(T_N)$, N odd:

We take the definition for $D_m^+(T_N)$ for odd N from Corollary 3.2.27 and then pre-multiply by the matrix $\begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1\\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$: $\begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1\\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} D_m^+(T_N) = \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1\\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \left((a_1 + a_0 - 1)(T_{N-2} + \dots + T_3 + T_1) + \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ a_0 \end{pmatrix} \right)$ $= (a_1 + a_0 - 1) \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1\\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} (T_{N-2} + \dots + T_3 + T_1) + + \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1\\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ a_0 \end{pmatrix}$ $= (a_1 + a_0 - 1) \left(\begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1\\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} T_{N-2} + \dots + \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1\\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} T_1 \right) + \begin{pmatrix} a_0\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$ $= (a_1 + a_0 - 1) (T_{N-1} + \dots + T_2) + \begin{pmatrix} a_0\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$ Note that $\begin{pmatrix} a_0\\ 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} a_1 + a_0 - 1\\ 0 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} 1\\ 0 \end{pmatrix} - \begin{pmatrix} a_1\\ 0 \end{pmatrix} = (a_1 + a_0 - 1)T_0 + \begin{pmatrix} 1\\ 0 \end{pmatrix} - \begin{pmatrix} a_1\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$. Thus

$$\begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1\\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} D_m^+(T_N) = (a_1 + a_0 - 1) \left(T_{N-1} + \dots + T_4 + T_2 \right) + \begin{pmatrix} a_1 + a_0 - 1\\ 0 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} 1\\ 0 \end{pmatrix} - \begin{pmatrix} a_1\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= (a_1 + a_0 - 1) \left(T_{N-1} + \dots + T_4 + T_2 + T_0 \right) + \begin{pmatrix} 1\\ 0 \end{pmatrix} - \begin{pmatrix} a_1\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= D_m^-(T_{N+1}) - \begin{pmatrix} a_1\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Case 2, $D_m^+(T_N)$, N even:

We take the definition for $D_m^+(T_N)$ for even N from Proposition 3.2.26, and then pre-multiply by the

3.2. (A_1, A_0) -TILES

$$\begin{array}{l} \text{matrix} \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1 \\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \text{. So} \\ \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1 \\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} D_m^+(T_N) = \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1 \\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \left((a_1 - 1)T_{N-1} + D_m^+(T_{N-1}) \right) \\ &= (a_1 - 1) \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1 \\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} T_{N-1} + \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1 \\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} D_m^+(T_{N-1}) \text{.} \\ \end{array}$$

$$\begin{array}{l} \text{In case 1, we showed that} \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1 \\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} D_m^+(T_{N-1}) = D_m^-(T_N) - \begin{pmatrix} a_1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \text{ if } N \text{ is even.} \\ \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1 \\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} D_m^+(T_N) = (a_1 - 1) \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1 \\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} T_{N-1} + D_m^-(T_N) - \begin{pmatrix} a_1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \\ &= (a_1 - 1)T_N + D_m^-(T_N) - \begin{pmatrix} a_1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

$$= D_m^-(T_{N+1}) - \begin{pmatrix} a_1\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Case 3, $D_m^-(T_N)$, N even:

We take the definition for $D_m^+(T_N)$ for even N from Corollary 3.2.27, and then pre-multiply by the

$$\begin{aligned} \text{matrix} \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1 \\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \text{. So} \\ \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1 \\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} D_m^-(T_N) &= \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1 \\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \left((a_1 + a_0 - 1)(T_{N-2} + \dots + T_0) + \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \right) \\ &= (a_1 + a_0 - 1) \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1 \\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} (T_{N-2} + \dots + T_0) + \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1 \\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \\ &= (a_1 + a_0 - 1) \left(\begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1 \\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} T_{N-2} + \dots + \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1 \\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} T_0 \right) + \begin{pmatrix} a_1 \\ a_0 \end{pmatrix} \\ &= (a_1 + a_0 - 1) (T_{N-1} + \dots + T_3 + T_1) + \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ a_0 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} a_1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \\ &= D_m^+(T_{N+1}) + \begin{pmatrix} a_1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \\ &= D_m(T_{N+1}) + \begin{pmatrix} a_1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} . \end{aligned}$$

Case 4, $D_m^-(T_N)$, N odd:

We take the definition for $D_m^-(T_N)$ for odd N from Proposition 3.2.26, and then pre-multiply by the

matrix
$$\begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1\\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
. So

$$\begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1\\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} D_m^-(T_N) = \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1\\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} ((a_1 - 1)T_{N-1} + D_m^-(T_{N-1}))$$

$$= (a_1 - 1) \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1\\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} T_{N-1} + \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1\\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} D_m^-(T_{N-1}).$$

3.2. (A_1, A_0) -TILES

In case 3, we showed that
$$\begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1\\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} D_m^-(T_{N-1}) = D_m^+(T_N) + \begin{pmatrix} a_1\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
 if N is odd.
 $\begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1\\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} D_m^-(T_N) = (a_1 - 1) \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1\\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} T_{N-1} + D_m^+(T_N) + \begin{pmatrix} a_1\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$
$$= (a_1 - 1)T_N + D_m^+(T_N) + \begin{pmatrix} a_1\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= D_m^+(T_{N+1}) + \begin{pmatrix} a_1\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Putting all four cases together, we have proved that for $N\geq 0$

$$\begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1 \\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} D_m^+(T_N) = D_m^-(T_{N+1}) - \begin{pmatrix} a_1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
$$\begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1 \\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} D_m^-(T_N) = D_m^+(T_{N+1}) + \begin{pmatrix} a_1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Lemma 3.2.34. For $a_1 \neq a_0 + 1$, there exists a family of points $\begin{pmatrix} x_N \\ y_N \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^2$ with

$$\begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1 \\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_N \\ y_N \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} x_{N+1} \\ y_{N+1} \end{pmatrix}$$

and a fixed real vector $\begin{pmatrix} X \\ Y \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^2$ such that

$$\begin{pmatrix} x_N \\ y_N \end{pmatrix} = \begin{cases} D_m(T_N) + \begin{pmatrix} X \\ Y \end{pmatrix} & \text{if } N \text{ odd} \\ \\ D_m(T_N) - \begin{pmatrix} X \\ Y \end{pmatrix} & if Neven \end{cases}.$$

We can determine the values of X and Y to be

$$\begin{pmatrix} X \\ Y \end{pmatrix} = \frac{a_1}{a_1 - a_0 + 1} \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ -a_0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Proof. Let $a_1, a_0 \ge 0$, such that $a_1 + 1 \ne a_0$. Suppose there exists $X, Y \in \mathbb{R}$ such that for some even N,

$$\begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1\\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_N\\ y_N \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} x_{N+1}\\ y_{N+1} \end{pmatrix}$$
$$\begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1\\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} D_m(T_N) - \begin{pmatrix} X\\ Y \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix} = D_m(T_{N+1}) + \begin{pmatrix} X\\ Y \end{pmatrix}$$
$$\begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1\\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} D_m(T_N) - \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1\\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} X\\ Y \end{pmatrix} = D_m(T_{N+1}) + \begin{pmatrix} X\\ Y \end{pmatrix}.$$

Since N is even, $D_m(T_N) = D_m^-(T_N)$, and $D_m(T_{N+1}) = D_m^+(T_{N+1})$. We can then use Lemma 3.2.33 to expand the left hand side of this system of equations.

$$\begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1\\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} D_m^-(T_N) - \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1\\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} X\\ Y \end{pmatrix} = D_m^+(T_{N+1}) + \begin{pmatrix} X\\ Y \end{pmatrix}$$
$$D_m^+(T_{N+1}) + \begin{pmatrix} a_1\\ 0 \end{pmatrix} - \begin{pmatrix} a_1X + Y\\ a_0X \end{pmatrix} = D_m^+(T_{N+1}) + \begin{pmatrix} X\\ Y \end{pmatrix}$$
$$\begin{pmatrix} a_1\\ 0 \end{pmatrix} - \begin{pmatrix} a_1X + Y\\ a_0X \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} X\\ Y \end{pmatrix}.$$

From the second components, we see that $Y = -a_0 X$. We can substitute this into the first components to find

$$a_1 - a_1 X + a_0 X = X$$

 $a_1 - (a_1 - a_0 + 1)X = 0$
 $X = \frac{a_1}{a_1 - a_0 + 1}.$

3.2. (A_1, A_0) -TILES

Hence we have

$$\begin{pmatrix} X \\ Y \end{pmatrix} = \frac{a_1}{a_1 - a_0 + 1} \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ -a_0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

We now need to check that this is still true when N is odd.

We have worked out what values these would take.

Now let
$$\begin{pmatrix} x_0 \\ y_0 \end{pmatrix} = D_m(T_0) - \frac{a_1}{a_1 - a_0 + 1} \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ -a_0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} - \frac{a_1}{a_1 - a_0 + 1} \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ -a_0 \end{pmatrix}$$
 Then
$$\begin{pmatrix} x_N \\ y_N \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1 \\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}^N \begin{pmatrix} x_0 \\ y_0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Note that the case $a_1 + 1 = a_0$, can already be discounted, as the subdivision polynomial $f = X^2 - a_1 X - (a_1 + 1)$ is reducible over \mathbb{Z} ,

$$X^{2} - a_{1}X - (a_{1} + 1) = (X - (a_{1} + 1))(X + 1).$$

In Figure 3.18, we see the (2, 1)-tiles of level 1 and 2. The points of maximal distance within the tiles have been highlighted. When $(a_1, a_0) = (2, 1)$,

$$\begin{pmatrix} X \\ Y \end{pmatrix} = \frac{2}{2-1+1} \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ -1 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ -1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Thus

$$\begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ y_1 \end{pmatrix} = D_m(T_1) + \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ -1 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ -1 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
$$\begin{pmatrix} x_2 \\ y_2 \end{pmatrix} = D_m(T_2) - \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ -1 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 3 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} - \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ -1 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 2 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} .$$

In Figure 3.19, we see the (1,3)-tiles of level 1 and 2. The points of maximal distance within the

tiles have been highlighted. When $(a_1, a_0) = (1, 3)$,

$$\begin{pmatrix} X \\ Y \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{1-3+1} \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ -3 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -1 \\ 3 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Thus

$$\begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ y_1 \end{pmatrix} = D_m(T_1) + \begin{pmatrix} -1 \\ 3 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 3 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} -1 \\ 3 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -1 \\ 6 \end{pmatrix}$$
$$\begin{pmatrix} x_2 \\ y_2 \end{pmatrix} = D_m(T_2) - \begin{pmatrix} -1 \\ 3 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 4 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} - \begin{pmatrix} -1 \\ 3 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 5 \\ -3 \end{pmatrix} .$$

Notice that when $(a_1, a_0) = (2, 1), \overline{(x_1, y_1)} < D_m(T_1)$, but when $(a_1, a_0) = (1, 3), \overline{(x_1, y_1)} > D_m(T_1)$.

The level 1 (2, 1)-tile, T_1 :



The level 2 (2, 1)-tile, T_2 :

s_{\uparrow}						
		•	•		/	
_	j .	•	/			
• •	×	•	•	•		
					. /	2
					→ł	

Figure 3.18: The points $\begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ y_1 \end{pmatrix}$, $\begin{pmatrix} x_2 \\ y_2 \end{pmatrix}$ inside the (2, 1)-tiles of level 1 and 2

116

The level 1 (1, 3)-tile, T_1 :







Figure 3.19: The point $\begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ y_1 \end{pmatrix}$, $\begin{pmatrix} x_2 \\ y_2 \end{pmatrix}$ outside the (1,3)-tiles of level 1 and 2

Whether $\begin{pmatrix} X \\ Y \end{pmatrix}$ is positive or negative with respect to the semi-norm $\overline{\cdot}$ is dependent on the sign of $\frac{a_1}{a_1 - a_0 + 1} = \gamma$.

If
$$a_0 \le a_1$$
, then $\frac{a_1}{a_1 - a_0 + 1} = \gamma > 0$, and so $\begin{pmatrix} X \\ Y \end{pmatrix}$ is directed South East.
If $a_0 \ge a_1 + 2$, then $\frac{a_1}{a_1 - a_0 + 1} = \gamma < 0$ and so $\begin{pmatrix} X \\ Y \end{pmatrix}$ is directed North West.

The case $\gamma > 0$ is represented in Figure 3.20.



Lemma 3.2.35. If $a_1 + 2 \le a_0$, for all $N \ge 0$

$$\overline{(x_N, y_N)} > \overline{D_m(T_N)}.$$

Proof. If $a_1 \le a_0 + 2$, then $\begin{pmatrix} X \\ Y \end{pmatrix} = \gamma \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ -a_0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \gamma \\ -a_0 \gamma \end{pmatrix}$ where $\gamma < 0$. In Figure 3.20, we can clearly see that $\begin{pmatrix} \gamma \\ -a_0 \gamma \end{pmatrix}$ is positive with respect to the semi-norm as long as $\gamma < 0$, so $\overline{X, Y} > 0$. If

we take N to be odd, we see that

$$\overline{(x_N, y_N)} = \overline{D_m(T_N) + (X, Y)}$$
$$= \overline{D_m^+(T_N) + (X, Y)}$$
$$= \overline{D_m^+(T_N)} + \overline{(X, Y)}$$
$$> \overline{D_m^+(T_N)}$$
$$> \overline{D_m^+(T_N)}.$$

Conversely if N is even

$$\overline{(x_N, y_N)} = \overline{D_m(T_N) - (X, Y)}$$
$$= \overline{D_m^-(T_N) - (X, Y)}$$
$$= \overline{D_m^-(T_N)} + \overline{(X, Y)}$$
$$> \overline{D_m^-(T_N)}$$
$$> \overline{D_m^-(T_N)}.$$

Note that if
$$\begin{pmatrix} x_0 \\ y_0 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{Z}^2$$
 and $a_1 + 2 \le a_0$, then $\begin{pmatrix} x_0 \\ y_0 \end{pmatrix} \notin T_0$.
Remark 33. If $\begin{pmatrix} x_0 \\ y_0 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{Z}^2$, then $\begin{pmatrix} x_N \\ y_N \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{Z}^2$ for all $N \ge 0$.

This leads us to the following Lemma.

Lemma 3.2.36. If
$$a_1 + 2 \le a_0$$
, and $\begin{pmatrix} x_0 \\ y_0 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{Z}^2$. Then for $N \ge 0$,
 $\begin{pmatrix} x_N \\ y_N \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{Z}^2$, and $\begin{pmatrix} x_N \\ y_N \end{pmatrix} \notin T_N$.
Proof. If $\begin{pmatrix} x_0 \\ y_0 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{Z}^2$ then $\begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ y_1 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1 \\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_0 \\ y_0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} a_1 x_0 + y_0 \\ a_0 x_0 \end{pmatrix}$. Since $a_0, a_1, x_0, y_0 \in \mathbb{Z}$, then it
must also be the case that $a_1 x_0 + y_0 \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $a_0 x_0 \in \mathbb{Z}$. So $\begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_0 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{Z}^2$. As $A = \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1 \\ a_1 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \in M_2(\mathbb{Z})$,

must also be the case that $a_1x_0 + y_0 \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $a_0x_0 \in \mathbb{Z}$. So $\begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ y_1 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{Z}^2$. As $A = \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1 \\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \in M_2(\mathbb{Z})$, we can extend this to

$$\begin{pmatrix} x_N \\ y_N \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1 \\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}^N \begin{pmatrix} x_0 \\ y_0 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{Z}^2.$$

If $a_1 + 2 \le a_0$, then by Lemma 3.2.35,

$$\overline{(x_N, y_N)} > \overline{D_m(T_N)}.$$

Thus by definition of $D_m(T_N)$, $(x_N, y_N) \notin T_N$.

Therefore if
$$\begin{pmatrix} x_0 \\ y_0 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{Z}^2$$
 and the corresponding β is non-Pisot, then the real value $P = \begin{bmatrix} x_N \\ y_N \end{bmatrix}_N$ is not obtainable at depth N for all $N \ge 0$.

not obtainable at depth N for all $N \ge 0$. We will now return to our specific case, $(a_1, a_0) = (1, 3)$. Here $\beta = \frac{1 + \sqrt{13}}{2}$ is the positive root of the irreducible polynomial $f = X^2 - X - 3$ and is non-Pisot, as $|\beta^*| \approx 1.3028 > 1$.

119

The level 0 (1,3)-tile, T_0 :



The level 1 (1, 3)-tile, T_1 :



The level 2 (1,3)-tile, T_2 :



Figure 3.21: Points of fixed distance outside the (1,3)-tiles of level 0, 1 and 2

3.2. (A_1, A_0) -TILES

By definition of the fixed points $\begin{pmatrix} x_N \\ y_N \end{pmatrix}$, we can see that

$$\begin{bmatrix} x_0 \\ y_0 \end{bmatrix}_0 = \begin{bmatrix} x_1 \\ y_1 \end{bmatrix}_1 = \begin{bmatrix} x_2 \\ y_2 \end{bmatrix}_2 = \dots = \begin{bmatrix} x_N \\ y_N \end{bmatrix}_N = \dots$$

As $a_1 + 2 \le a_0$, and $\begin{pmatrix} x_0 \\ y_0 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{Z}^2$ we know that $\begin{pmatrix} x_N \\ y_N \end{pmatrix} \notin T_N$ for all $N \ge 0$. This means that

$$P = \begin{bmatrix} x_0 \\ y_0 \end{bmatrix}_0 = \begin{bmatrix} x_N \\ y_N \end{bmatrix}_N$$

is **not** obtainable. In our case $P = \begin{bmatrix} 2 \\ -3 \end{bmatrix}_0 = 2 - \frac{3}{\beta} \approx 0.6972.$

As P is not obtainable, we know that $1 - P = -1 + \frac{3}{\beta} = \begin{bmatrix} -1 & 3 \end{bmatrix}_0$ is also not obtainable. However, we notice that

$$1 - P = \begin{bmatrix} -1 \\ 3 \end{bmatrix}_0 = \begin{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 3 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} -1 \\ 3 \end{bmatrix}_1 = \begin{bmatrix} 2 \\ -3 \end{bmatrix}_1 = \frac{1}{\beta} \begin{bmatrix} 2 \\ -3 \end{bmatrix}_0 = \frac{P}{\beta}.$$

Consider then the map g as shown below.



The map g is not in F_{β} as neither P, nor P are obtainable points. The two slopes have gradients

 $\frac{P}{1-P} = \beta$ and $\frac{1-P}{P} = \frac{1}{\beta}$ respectively, and so we have an explicit example of an element $g \in G_{\beta}$, but $g \notin \beta$.

Remark 34. When $(a_1, a_0) = (1, 3)$,

$$P = \begin{bmatrix} x_N \\ y_N \end{bmatrix}_{N+1} \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau] \cap [0,1] \text{ is not obtainable}$$

Conjecture 3.3

3.3.1Higher degree algebraic integers

It seems reasonable to hypothesise that for a cubic irreducible subdivision polynomial $f = X^3$ – $a_2X^2 - a_1X - a_0$ we could construct something akin to (a_2, a_1, a_0) -tiles, T_N , although they might be best described as (a_2, a_1, a_0) -staircases. The corresponding matrix

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} a_2 & 1 & 0 \\ a_1 & 0 & 1 \\ a_0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

Consider two cases, first where β is the only real root of $f = X^3 - a_2 X^2 - a_1 X - a_0 = 0$. This matrix has one real eigenvalue, β with corresponding eigenvector v_{β} . The other eigenvalues are the complex conjugate roots of f = 0. The associated eigenvectors to the complex eigenvalues span a plane and spiralling towards the origin if β is Pisot, and spiralling away from the origin if β is non-Pisot.

If β is non-Pisot, the eigenspace of A, will map points in \mathbb{R}^3 by way of a parabolic curve, similar to that shown in figure 3.22. This parabolic curve will be skewed, but effectively centered on the eigenvector v_{β} , so we could still define our semi-norm $\overline{\cdot}$.



Figure 3.22: Parabolic curve

If we were able to similarly find a formula for the maximal distance of a point in the (a_2, a_1, a_0) -tile of level N, $D_m(T_N)$, then we should be able to show that for some $P = \begin{bmatrix} p_0 \\ q_0 \end{bmatrix}_0 \in \mathbb{Z} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{\beta} \end{bmatrix} \cap [0, 1]$. Then

$$\overline{A^N \begin{pmatrix} p_0 \\ q_0 \end{pmatrix}} > \overline{D_m(T_N)}$$

for all $N \ge 0$. If we are able to prove this then we can state that there exists $P \in \mathbb{Z}\left[\frac{1}{\beta}\right] \cap [0, 1]$ such that P is not obtainable in a β -regular subdivision of any depth.

Alternatively consider the case where $f = X^3 - a_2X^2 - a_1X - a_0 = 0$ has 3 real roots β , α_1 , α_2 . Two of these must be negative by Lemma 2.2.2, so $\alpha_1, \alpha_2 < 0$. Also since β is a Perron number but is non-Pisot, we can say that for at least one of these negative roots, say α_1 ,

$$-|\beta| < \alpha_1 \le -1.$$

As $|\alpha_1| > 1$, each subdivision level takes the unique triple representing any real value p to unique triple which is further from the eigenvector corresponding to β , v_{β} . Since all coordinates that are obtainable tend to stay close to the line spanned by v_{β} , there is enough justification to make the following conjecture.

Conjecture 3.3.2. Let β be the positive real zero of an irreducible integer polynomial $f = X^3 - a_2X^2 - a_1X - a_0$ and let β be Non-Pisot. Then there exists $P \in \mathbb{Z}\left[\frac{1}{\beta}\right] \cap [0, 1]$, such that P is not a breakpoint in any regular β -subdivision.

In fact, this argument could theoretically extend to any non-Pisot β the root of any irreducible subdivision polynomial

$$f = X^{n} - a_{n-1}X^{n-1} - a_{n-2}X^{n-2} - \dots - a_{1}X - a_{0}$$

Therefore we can make the further conjecture:

Conjecture 3.3.3. Let β be the positive real zero of an irreducible integer polynomial $f = X^n - C^n$

 $a_{n-1}X^{n-1} - a_{n-2}X^{n-2} - \dots - a_1X - a_0$ and let β be Non-Pisot. Then there exists $P \in \mathbb{Z}\left[\frac{1}{\beta}\right] \cap [0,1]$, such that P is not a breakpoint in any regular β -subdivision.

This would imply that if β , the positive real zero of $X^n - a_{n-1}X^{n-1} - a_{n-2}X^{n-2} - \cdots - a_1X - a_0$, is non-Pisot, then

$$F_{\beta} \subsetneq G_{\beta}$$

i.e. F_{β} is a proper subset of G_{β} for all such non-Pisot β .

3.3.4 Is F_{β} a group?

Let β be the positive real zero of the irreducible subdivision polynomial $f = X^2 - a_1 X - a_0$. When $a_1 \ge a_0$, we know that β is Pisot, and by Corollary 2.5.12 that

$$F_{\beta} = G_{\beta}.$$

So if β is the root of the Pisot polynomial $f = X^2 - a_1 X - a_0$, then F_{β} is a group.

Conversely, if β is the zero of a non-Pisot irreducible integer polynomial $f = X^2 - a_1 X - a_0$, we do not know if F_{β} is a sub-group of G_{β} . Recall that F_{β} is a non-empty set consisting of the maps in G_{β} which can be expressed as pairs of (a_1, a_0) -trees. The operation under which F_{β} could form a group is composition of maps.

We should already note the following is clear.

- Composition of maps is associative over the elements of F_{β}
- The identity map, $id \in F_{\beta}$
 - For any (a_1, a_0) -tree $\mathcal{T}, id = (\mathcal{T}, \mathcal{T})$
- Every element in F_{β} has an inverse
 - For every pair of (a_1, a_0) -trees $(\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2), (\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2)^{-1} = (\mathcal{T}_2, \mathcal{T}_1)$

Thus, if we are able to show that F_{β} is closed under composition, then we will have shown that F_{β} is a group.

Let us return to the non-Pisot case where $(a_1, a_0) = (1, 3)$, and $\beta = \frac{1 + \sqrt{13}}{2}$. Then g_1 , as shown below, is certainly a map contained in F_{β} .



Consider the rectangle diagram for g_1 . The gradient of each linear segment of g is highlighted in the middle section of the diagram.



We construct the rectangle diagram for g_1^2 , and remove any lines which do not denote a change in gradient. A dashed line does not change the gradient but tracks where a breakpoint has been mapped to.



If we simplify this we have the simplified rectangle diagram for g_1^2 .



So g_1^2 has breakpoints $\{(0,0)(\tau^3,\tau), (\tau^2, 2\tau - \tau^2), (4\tau^2 - \tau, \tau + 2\tau^2), (3\tau^2, 4\tau^2 + 2\tau^3)(1,1)\}$.

In particular, note that $4\tau^2 - \tau$ is a breakpoint in the domain of g_1^2 , and that $(-1, 4) \in L_1$ where

$$L_{i}: \begin{pmatrix} x_{i} \\ y_{i} \end{pmatrix} + \lambda \left(\begin{pmatrix} x_{i+2} \\ y_{i+2} \end{pmatrix} - \begin{pmatrix} x_{i} \\ y_{i} \end{pmatrix} \right) \text{ for } \lambda \in [0,1].$$

Lemma 3.3.5. Let (p,q) be a point on the straight line between $\begin{pmatrix} x_i \\ y_i \end{pmatrix}$ and $\begin{pmatrix} x_{i+2} \\ y_{i+2} \end{pmatrix}$ for some $i \ge 0$.

i.e. $(p,q) \in L_i$ where

$$L_i: \begin{pmatrix} x_i \\ y_i \end{pmatrix} + \lambda \left(\begin{pmatrix} x_{i+2} \\ y_{i+2} \end{pmatrix} - \begin{pmatrix} x_i \\ y_i \end{pmatrix} \right) \text{ for } \lambda \in [0,1].$$

Then

$$\begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1 \\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} p \\ q \end{pmatrix} \in L_{i+1}.$$

Proof. Let $\lambda^* \in [0,1]$ such that

$$\begin{pmatrix} p \\ q \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} x_i \\ y_i \end{pmatrix} + \lambda^* \left(\begin{pmatrix} x_{i+1} \\ y_{i+1} \end{pmatrix} - \begin{pmatrix} x_i \\ y_i \end{pmatrix} \right) \in L_i$$

Then

$$\begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1 \\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} p \\ q \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1 \\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_i \\ y_i \end{pmatrix} + \lambda^* \left(\begin{pmatrix} x_{i+2} \\ y_{i+2} \end{pmatrix} - \begin{pmatrix} x_i \\ y_i \end{pmatrix} \right) \end{bmatrix}$$

$$= \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1 \\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_i \\ y_i \end{pmatrix} + \lambda^* \left(\begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1 \\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_{i+1} \\ y_{i+1} \end{pmatrix} - \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 1 \\ a_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_i \\ y_i \end{pmatrix} \right)$$

$$= \begin{pmatrix} x_{i+1} \\ y_{i+1} \end{pmatrix} + \lambda^* \left(\begin{pmatrix} x_{i+3} \\ y_{i+3} \end{pmatrix} - \begin{pmatrix} x_{i+1} \\ y_{i+1} \end{pmatrix} \right) \in L_{i+1}.$$

We have all points on L_i are mapped to L_{i+1} . However we do not yet know that whether an integer point that lies on a line L_i can ever be obtained in some (a_1, a_0) -tile. For this reason, the following is left as a conjecture.

Conjecture 3.3.6. Let $P = \begin{bmatrix} p \\ q \end{bmatrix}_N \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau] \cap [0,1]$ for some $N \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$, such that (p,q) lies on the line L_i for some $i \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$. Then P is not obtainable at any depth.

In particular, this would mean that the in our earlier example, $\begin{bmatrix} -1 \\ 4 \end{bmatrix} = 4\tau^2 - \tau$ is not obtainable at any depth. Therefore, there exists no regular (1,3)-subdivision which contains $4\tau^2 - \tau$ as a breakpoint.

In particular this means that the map g^2 cannot be expressed as a (1,3)-tree pair. i.e. F_β is not closed under composition, and thus F_β is not a group.

We conjecture that this extends to all non-Pisot β .

Conjecture 3.3.7. If β , the positive real zero of the irreducible subdivision polynomial $f_{\beta} = X^2 - a_1 X - a_0$ is non-Pisot, then F_{β} is not a group.

Chapter 4

A Presentation of G_{β}

4.1 Background

In a previous chapter concerning regular subdivisions of the unit interval, we found Theorem 2.5.11 has the Corollary 2.5.12 which stated that if β the positive real zero of the irreducible subdivision polynomial $f_{\beta} = X^2 - a_1 X - a_0$ is Pisot, then

$$F_{\beta} = G_{\beta}.$$

We want to use this information to find a presentation for the group G_{β} .

If β is the positive zero of the subdivision polynomial $X^2 - X - 1$ then Cleary first showed that F_{β} was FP_{∞} and hence finitely generated in [4]. In [11], Burillo, Nucinkis, and Reeves found an explicit finite presentation for F_{β} using (1, 1)-tree pairs, and in particular used this to show that the abelianisation F_{τ}^{ab} contained 2-torsion.

We will be looking at some examples for our polynomials of the form $X^2 - a_1 X - a_0$ to find similar results where possible. An infinite presentation has been found in the work of Brown [5] who in turn found 2-torsion in the abelianisations for these groups.

In this chapter we will find a presentation for F_{β} where β is Pisot and the zero of the irreducible Pisot polynomial $f = X^2 - a_1 X - a_0$, with $a_1, a_0 > 0$. We will then attempt to find properties of the abelianisations for particular choices of β .

Much of the work on (a_1, a_0) -tree pairs is already well known in the irrational Thompsons group

canon, but I have attempted to include as much background as is necessary to understand the notations and proofs. I am indebted to the work of Bieri [10] Brown [5], Burillo [13], Nucinkis and Reeves [11].

4.2 Tree pair Multiplication

Let β be the positive real zero of the irreducible subdivision polynomial $f_{\beta} = X^2 - a_1 X - a_0$, and let β be Pisot. From Corollary 2.5.12, every element of G_{β} can be expressed as a pair of (a_1, a_0) -trees. We will say that $(\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2)$ is an (a_1, a_0) -tree pair if $(\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2) \in F_{\beta}$, i.e. $size(\mathcal{T}_1) = size(\mathcal{T}_2)$. The size of an (a_1, a_0) -tree pair, is $size(\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2) = size(\mathcal{T}_1) = size(\mathcal{T}_2)$.

In notation, we will only refer to F_{β} as the (a_1, a_0) -tree pair description of elements will be more useful for us.

4.2.1 Simultaneous refinements

Definition 4.2.2. Let $g = (\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2) \in F_\beta$, for some (a_1, a_0) -trees $\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2$. A simultaneous refinement of $(\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2)$ is an (a_1, a_0) -tree pair $(\mathcal{T}'_1, \mathcal{T}'_2)$ where \mathcal{T}'_1 and \mathcal{T}'_2 are (a_1, a_0) -refinements of \mathcal{T}_1 and \mathcal{T}_2 respectively, such that

$$g = (\mathcal{T}_1', \mathcal{T}_2')$$

A simultaneous refinement of $(\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2)$ is found by hanging an (a_1, a_0) -tree T_i from the i^{th} leaf of both T_1 and T_2 .

Example 21. Consider the following (2, 1)-tree pair



We can find a simultaneous refinement of $(\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2)$, by performing the same (a_1, a_0) -refinement on each sub-interval represented by a leaf in \mathcal{T}_1 as on the sub-interval represented by the corresponding leaf in \mathcal{T}_2 . I.e, we need to hang the same (a_1, a_0) -tree from corresponding leaves in \mathcal{T}_1 and \mathcal{T}_2 .



Here, $(\mathcal{T}'_1, \mathcal{T}'_2)$ is a simultaneous refinement of $(\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2)$.

Lemma 4.2.3. Let $g = (\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2) \in F_\beta$, and let $(\mathcal{T}'_1, \mathcal{T}'_2)$ be a simultaneous refinement of $(\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2)$. If $g' = (\mathcal{T}'_1, \mathcal{T}'_2)$ then g = g'.

Proof. Let I_t and J_t be the intervals corresponding to the t^{th} leaves in \mathcal{T}_1 and \mathcal{T}_2 respectively. Then $g(I_t) = (J_t)$, for all t. Let $(\mathcal{T}'_1, \mathcal{T}'_2)$ be a simultaneous refinement of $(\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2)$. Let T_t be the (a_1, a_0) -tree representing the (a_1, a_0) -refinement of I_t that takes \mathcal{T}_1 to \mathcal{T}'_2 . As $(\mathcal{T}'_1, \mathcal{T}'_2)$ is a simultaneous refinement, T_t is also the (a_1, a_0) -refinement of J_t that takes \mathcal{T}_2 to \mathcal{T}'_2 .

Then if l_k is the k^{th} leaf of T_t , and I_{t_k} and J_{t_k} the corresponding intervals \mathcal{T}'_1 and \mathcal{T}'_2 respectively. Then

$$H(J_t) - H(I_t) = H(J_{t_k}) - H(I_{t_k})$$

for each of the leaves in T_t . Therefore the gradient of the slope in $(\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2)$ as in $(\mathcal{T}'_1, \mathcal{T}'_2)$, and thus $g = (\mathcal{T}'_1, \mathcal{T}'_2)$.

4.2.4 Composition of (a_1, a_0) -tree pairs

Given $g \in F_{\beta}$, there is not a unique (a_1, a_0) -tree pair $(\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2)$ such that $g = (\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2)$. This means that in order to define composition of elements in F_{β} , we must find a well-defined multiplication of any two (a_1, a_0) -tree pairs.

For the purposes of this, we need to address the direction of our composition, and the direction in which $g \in F_{\beta}$ acts on [0, 1]. We have previously shown g as a left action, g(x) for $x \in [0, 1]$ and we will keep to this convention. We will also follow the convention that $(g_2 \circ g_1)(x) = g_2(g_1(x))$.

Definition 4.2.5. (a_1, a_0) -tree multiplication

Let $(\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2)$ and $(\mathcal{T}'_1, \mathcal{T}'_2)$ be (a_1, a_0) -tree pairs. Define (not uniquely)

$$(\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2) \star (\mathcal{T}_1', \mathcal{T}_2') = (R_1, S_2)$$

where (R_1, R_2) and (S_1, S_2) are simultaneous refinements of $(\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2)$ and $(\mathcal{T}_1', \mathcal{T}_2')$ respectively, and $R_2 \sim S_1$.

We note that there must exist (a_1, a_0) -trees R_2 and S_1 , refinements of \mathcal{T}_2 and \mathcal{T}'_1 respectively, with $R_2 \sim S_1$, as we have shown in Chapter 1.

The choice of output of (a_1, a_0) -tree pair multiplication is not unique. Thus in certain cases, as shown in the following remark, we will make a natural choice.

Remark 35. Let $\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2, \mathcal{T}_3$ be (a_1, a_0) -trees. We make the choice

$$(\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2) \star (\mathcal{T}_2, \mathcal{T}_3) = (\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_3).$$

Lemma 4.2.6. Let $g_1, g_2 \in F_\beta$ and let $g_1 = (\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2)$ and $g_2 = (\mathcal{T}'_1, \mathcal{T}'_2)$. Then

$$g_2 \circ g_1 = (\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2) \star (\mathcal{T}_1', \mathcal{T}_2').$$

Proof. Let $g_1, g_2 \in F_\beta$, represented by some (a_1, a_0) -tree pairs $g_1 = (\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2)$ and $g_2 = (S_1, S_2)$. Let $(R_1, R_2) = (\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2) \star (S_1, S_2)$. Note that (R_1, R_2) is not unique, so can be any (a_1, a_0) -tree pair such that (R_1, \mathcal{T}_2') and (S'_1, R_2) are simultaneous refinements of $(\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2)$ and (S_1, S_2) respectively.

As (R_1, \mathcal{T}'_2) and (S'_1, R_2) are simultaneous refinements of $(\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2)$ and (S_1, S_2) respectively, then $g_1 = (R_1, \mathcal{T}'_2)$ and $g_2 = (S'_1, R_2)$. We now have

$$(R_1, R_2) = (R_1, \mathcal{T}'_2) \star (S'_1, R_2)$$

Let $g_3 = (R_1, R_2)$. Let P_1, P_2, P_3 represent the regular β -subdivisions of [0, 1] that are represented by $R_1, T'_2 \sim S'_1$, and R_2 respectively. Then $g_3 = (P_1, P_3)$, which is the same as performing the affine linear interpolation (P_1, P_2) followed by (P_2, P_3) . We have already seen that $(P_1, P_2) = g_1$ and $(P_2, P_3) = g_2$, so this means that

$$g_3 = (R_1, R_2) = \mathcal{T} \star (S_1, S_2) = g_2 \circ g_1$$

as required.

In contrast to the order of composition of maps, the multiplication of (a_1, a_0) -tree pairs is written $g_2 \circ g_1 = (\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2) \star (\mathcal{T}'_1, \mathcal{T}'_2)$. To remind us that this is strange multiplication, we have used the symbol \star .

Example 22. Consider the following multiplication of two (2, 1)-tree pairs.



We perform simultaneous refinements on $(\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2)$ and $(\mathcal{T}_1', \mathcal{T}_2')$ to get



We see that $R_2 \sim S_1$, so we can find a (2, 1)-tree pair $(R_1, S_2) = (\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2) \star (\mathcal{T}'_1, \mathcal{T}'_2)$.



4.2.7 Right aligned (a_1, a_0) -trees

 (a_1, a_0) -spines

Definition 4.2.8. The spine of an (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T} with root node R, is the (a_1, a_0) -tree S contained in \mathcal{T} that features the (a_1, a_0) -carets of the form $R(K)(K)(K)\cdots(K)$ where $K = a_1 + a_0$.

To be clear, the notation X(i)(j), is the j^{th} child of the i^{th} child of X.

The (a_1, a_0) -carets in the spine of \mathcal{T} are all of the (a_1, a_0) -carets which contain an edge in the unique path from the R to the right-most leaf in \mathcal{T} .

Definition 4.2.9. An (a_1, a_0) -spine of size S, Sp(S) is an (a_1, a_0) -tree of size S with only (a_1, a_0) -carets of type $(1, \ldots, a_0)$. Each (a_1, a_0) -caret in an (a_1, a_0) -spine except from the lowest caret has a single child from the right-most leg.

Example 23. The (3, 2)-spine of size 3, demonstrated in the reduced (3, 2)-tree notation, and standard (3, 2)-notation.



It is useful to use the notation $Sp(\mathcal{T})$ to refer to an (a_1, a_0) -spine which is the same size as the (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T} .

Right alignment

Definition 4.2.10. A right aligned (a_1, a_0) -tree is a simplified (a_1, a_0) -tree with a spine of (a_1, a_0) -carets of type $(1, \dots, a_0)$.

A right aligned (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T} has a spine of connected (a_1, a_0) -carets of type C_0 . Recall the definition of connected (a_1, a_0) -carets from Chapter 1.

Definition 4.2.11. The connected (a_1, a_0) -caret C_i is the (a_1, a_0) -caret of type $(i, i + 1, ..., i + a_0 - 1)$.



Figure 4.1: A right-aligned (3, 1)-tree

In a connected (a_1, a_0) -caret, there are no short legs between any two long legs. In C_i there are *i* short legs to the left of the first long leg. We can use connected (a_1, a_0) -carets to perform *basic moves*.

Lemma 4.2.12. Let X and Y be (a_1, a_0) -carets of any type. There is a common refinement between X and Y.

Proof. Let X be the root node of an (a_1, a_0) -caret of type (i_1, \ldots, i_{a_0}) , with only leaves for children. We will add a_1 new (a_1, a_0) -carets, one to each of the short children of X. If X(j) is a short leg, then hang the connected (a_1, a_0) -caret C_t from X(j) where t is the number of long legs to the right of X(j). I.e., If $i_s < j < i_{s+1}$ hang the connected (a_1, a_0) -caret C_{a_0-s} from X(j) for $s \in \{1, \ldots, a_0\}$. If $j < i_1$, hang C_{a_0} , and if $i_{a_0} < j$.

The resulting (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T}_X will have leaf sequence

$$\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{T}_X) = \left(\underbrace{2,\ldots,2}_{a_0},\underbrace{3,\ldots,3}_{a_0},\underbrace{2,\ldots,2}_{a_1},\cdots,\underbrace{3,\ldots,3}_{a_0},\underbrace{2,\ldots,2}_{a_1}\right)\right).$$

We can find an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of Y, with the same leaf sequence by following the same rules. Since this leaf sequence can be obtained from an (a_1, a_0) -caret of any type, there is a common refinement between any two (a_1, a_0) -carets.

Recall the basic move defined in 4.2.12 in Chapter 1.

Definition 4.2.13. A **basic move** is any graft which can be described by the above process defined in Lemma 4.2.12.

Note that for connected (a_1, a_0) -carets of type C_0 , and C_{a_0} , the basic move will add only connected (a_1, a_0) -carets of type C_0 and C_{a_0} .

Lemma 4.2.14. There exists a common (a_1, a_0) -refinement between an (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T} with root node R, and the connected (a_1, a_0) -caret C_0 in which the sub-tree $\mathcal{T}_{R(K)}$ is unchanged.

Proof. In 4.2.12, we showed that there is a common (a_1, a_0) -refinement between any two (a_1, a_0) -carets X and Y of type (i_1, \ldots, i_{a_0}) and type (i'_1, \ldots, i'_{a_0}) respectively, by following the basic move method. However, if there exists $1 \leq s \leq K$ such that $i_t < s < i_{t+1}$ and $i'_t < s < i'_{t+1} \ s \in \{1, \ldots, K\}$ and $t \in \{1, \ldots, a_0 - 1\}$, then the (a_1, a_0) -caret hung from X(s) is the same as that from Y(s). This is redundant, and so to find a common refinement between X and Y we can avoid hanging anything from X(s) and Y(s).

Now let \mathcal{T} be an (a_1, a_0) -tree with root-caret R of type (i_1, \ldots, i_{a_0}) . If R(K) is a short leg, i.e. $i_{a_0} < K$, then in order to find a common refinement between R and the connected (a_1, a_0) -caret C_0 without hanging anything from either X(K) or $C_0(K)$.

For each R(j) for $j \notin \{i_1, \ldots, i_{a_0}\}$, with j < K the sub-tree $\mathcal{T}_{R(j)}$ has a common refinement with the (a_1, a_0) -caret C_{a_0-s} where $i_s < j < i_{s+1}$. Call this (a_1, a_0) -refinement of C_{a_0-s} , $\mathcal{T}'_{R(j)}$. Then we can construct an (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T}' with root caret R, with $\mathcal{T}'_{R(i_t)} = \mathcal{T}_{R(i_t)}$, $R(j) = \mathcal{T}'_j$ for $j \notin \{i_1, \ldots, i_{a_0}\}$, with j < K, and $\mathcal{T}'_{R(K)} = \mathcal{T}_{R(K)}$. Then we are able to perform a basic move to change the root-caret R to be the connected (a_1, a_0) -caret of type C_0 , with the sub-tree $\mathcal{T}'_{R(K)} = \mathcal{T}_{R(K)}$ unchanged.

Conversely if $R(K) = i_{a_0}$, then R(K) is a long leg. Now for all $j \notin \{i_1, \ldots, i_{a_0}\}$, we can similarly find a common refinement of the sub-tree $\mathcal{T}_{R(j)}$ with an (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T}'_j with root-caret of type C_{a_0-s} , where $i_s < j < i_{s+1}$. By swapping out all of the sub-trees $\mathcal{T}_{R(j)}$ for \mathcal{T}'_j , we construct the (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T}' . This (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T}' is a sub-tree of the (a_1, a_0) -tree constructed in Lemma 4.2.12, and so we are able to swap out this for the leaf-equivalent refinement of C_0 . Note that this means the (a_1, a_0) -tree $\mathcal{T}_{R(K)}$ is unchanged.

Example 24. Consider the (2, 2)-carets of type (2, 3) and (3, 4), and .



There exists a common refinement between the (2, 2)-caret of type (1, 2), the connected (2, 2)-caret C_0 , and any (2, 2)-caret X of type (i_1, i_2) where $X_{X(4)}$ is untouched.



Proposition 4.2.15. Any (a_1, a_0) -tree has an (a_1, a_0) -refinement which is leaf equivalent to a right aligned (a_1, a_0) -tree.

Proof. Suppose that the (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T} has a spine containing n (a_1, a_0) -carets, $R = X_1, \ldots, X_n$, where X_{i+1} is the K^{th} child of X_i .

Consider the last (a_1, a_0) -caret in the spine of \mathcal{T} , X_n . We know that $X_n(K)$ is a leaf. If X_n is of type C_0 , then we will leave the sub-tree \mathcal{T}_{X_n} alone. Otherwise, suppose that $X_n(K)$ is a short leg. We know from Lemma 4.2.14, that there is an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of \mathcal{T}_{X_n} which is leaf-equivalent to an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of C_0 in which there is no (a_1, a_0) -refinement of $X_n(K)$. Thus there exists \mathcal{T}'_{X_n} which has a root-caret R' of type C_0 , with R'(K) a leaf.

If $X_n(K)$ is a long leg, then we can similarly find a common refinement between \mathcal{T}_{X_n} and C_0 , in which we do not refine the node $X_n(K)$. Therefore, there exists \mathcal{T}'_{X_n} which has root-caret R' of type C_0 , and so R'(K)(K) is a short leg, and is a leaf. This must be so as there must be a node $Y \in \mathcal{T}'_{X_n}$ of height 2 which is a leaf, and corresponds to $X_n(K)$ in \mathcal{T}_{X_n} . Now, R'(K) is the root node of the last (a_1, a_0) -caret in the spine of \mathcal{T}'_{X_n} , and the K^{th} leg is short. We can therefore replace $\mathcal{T}'_{R'(K)}$ with a leaf-equivalent (a_1, a_0) -tree with root-caret of type C_0 .

In both cases, we are able to replace \mathcal{T}_{X_n} with a right aligned sub-tree \mathcal{T}'_{X_n} .

Now consider the (a_1, a_0) -caret in the spine X_j such that \mathcal{T}_{X_j} is a right aligned (a_1, a_0) -tree. I.e., X_{j+1}, \ldots, X_n are all of type C_0 . If X_j is of type C_0 , then \mathcal{T}_{X_j} is a right-aligned (a_1, a_0) -tree. Otherwise, we wish to find an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of \mathcal{T}_{X_j} which is leaf-equivalent to a right-aligned (a_1, a_0) -tree. Suppose $X_j(K)$ is a short leg. By Lemma 4.2.14, we can find an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of \mathcal{T}_{X_j} which is leaf-equivalent to an (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T}'_{X_j} with root-caret R'_j of type C_0 , where $\mathcal{T}_{X_j(K)} = \mathcal{T}'_{R'(K)}$. Therefore the sub-tree $\mathcal{T}'_{R'_j}$ is a right-aligned (a_1, a_0) -tree.

If $X_j(K)$ is a long leg, we can similarly find an (a_1, a_0) -refinement which is leaf-equivalent to an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of the (a_1, a_0) -caret C_0 . Call the (a_1, a_0) -refinement of $C_0 \mathcal{T}'$, with root node R'_j . As each sub-interval represented by a node in the sub-tree $\mathcal{T}_{X_j(K)}$ must have also be represented by a node found in \mathcal{T}' , $R'_j(K)(K)$ is a short leg, and corresponds to the node $X_j(K)$. Therefore there is an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of the (a_1, a_0) -tree $\mathcal{T}_{R'_j(K)}$ which is leaf-equivalent to a right aligned (a_1, a_0) -tree, as shown in the case where $X_j(K)$ was a short leg.

By repeating this process for each X_i , we can find an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of \mathcal{T} which is leafequivalent to a right aligned (a_1, a_0) -tree.

Corollary 4.2.16. Given an (a_1, a_0) -tree pair $(\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2)$, we can find an equivalent (a_1, a_0) -tree pair $(\mathcal{T}'_1, \mathcal{T}'_2)$ such that T'_1 and T'_2 are right aligned.

Proof. Let $(\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2)$ be an (a_1, a_0) -tree pair. There exists an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of \mathcal{T}_1 which is a right aligned (a_1, a_0) -tree. Let this (a_1, a_0) -refinement be \mathcal{T}' , and let $(\mathcal{T}'_1, \mathcal{T}'_2)$ be a simultaneous refinement of $(\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2)$.

If \mathcal{T}'_2 is not right aligned, we can certainly find an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of \mathcal{T}'_2 which is right-aligned, by following the process outlined in Proposition 4.2.15.

Consider the right-most leaf of \mathcal{T}'_2 throughout this process. At no point is there a refinement of the corresponding interval to this leaf. Therefore, there is an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of \mathcal{T}'_2 , R_2 , such that R_2 is leaf-equivalent to a right-aligned (a_1, a_0) -tree R'_2 and if (R_1, R_2) is the simultaneous refinement of $(\mathcal{T}'_1, \mathcal{T}'_2)$, then R_1 is a right-aligned (a_1, a_0) -tree. This is because, in the process of refining \mathcal{T}'_2 to R_2 , we will not affect the spine of \mathcal{T}'_1 in the simultaneous refinement to R_1 .

Therefore $g = (R_1, R'_2)$ where both R_1 and R'_2 are right-aligned (a_1, a_0) -trees.

Definition 4.2.17. An (a_1, a_0) -tree pair $(\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2)$ in which both \mathcal{T}_1 and \mathcal{T}_2 are right aligned, is called a right aligned (a_1, a_0) -tree pair.

Lemma 4.2.18. Let $(\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2)$ and $(\mathcal{T}'_1, \mathcal{T}'_2)$ be right aligned (a_1, a_0) -tree pairs. Then there exists $(T_1, T_2) = (\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2) \star (\mathcal{T}'_1, \mathcal{T}'_2)$ such that (T_1, T_2) is also a right aligned (a_1, a_0) -tree pair.

Proof. Let $(\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2)$ and $(\mathcal{T}'_1, \mathcal{T}'_2)$ be right-aligned (a_1, a_0) -tree pairs. Then

$$(\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2) \star (\mathcal{T}_1', \mathcal{T}_2') = (R_1, S_2)$$

where (R_1, R_2) and (S_1, S_2) are simultaneous refinements of $(\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2)$ and $(\mathcal{T}'_1, \mathcal{T}'_2)$ respectively, and $R_2 \sim S_1$.

Therefore R_2 and S_1 are (a_1, a_0) -refinements of \mathcal{T}_2 and \mathcal{T}'_1 respectively. Now R_2 and S_1 represent a common refinement of \mathcal{T}_2 and \mathcal{T}'_1 . Since \mathcal{T}_2 and \mathcal{T}'_1 are right aligned, they will have spines consisting of only connected (a_1, a_0) -carets of type C_0 . Suppose the pines of \mathcal{T}_2 and \mathcal{T}'_1 are $S_X = \{X_1, \ldots, X_n\}$ and $S_Y = \{Y_1, \ldots, Y_m\}$ for some $n, m \in \mathbb{N}$.

If n = m, then we can find a common refinement between \mathcal{T}_2 and \mathcal{T}'_1 without hanging anything from the right-most leaf of either tree. In this case the simultaneous refinements (R_1, R_2) and (S_1, S_2) will still be right-aligned (a_1, a_0) -tree pairs, and thus so will (R_1, S_2) .

If $n \neq m$, without loss of generality, we can assume that n < m. Therefore in the spine of \mathcal{T}_2 , $X_n(K)$ is a leaf, whereas $Y_n(K)$ is not a leaf. In fact the sub-tree hanging from $Y_n(K)$ is a rightaligned (a_1, a_0) -tree. We can hang this from $X_n(K)$ to achieve a right-aligned (a_1, a_0) -tree which has a spine, the same size as that of \mathcal{T}'_1 . As the spines of these right-aligned (a_1, a_0) -trees are now the same size, we have previously shown that we can find a common refinement without adding to the spine.

Therefore, for any right-aligned (a_1, a_0) -tree pairs $(\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2)$ and $(\mathcal{T}'_1, \mathcal{T}'_2)$, there exists a right aligned (a_1, a_0) -tree pair (T_1, T_2) , such that

$$(T_1, T_2) = (\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2) \star (\mathcal{T}_1', \mathcal{T}_2')$$

4.2.19 Positive (a_1, a_0) -tree pairs

For every $g \in F_{\beta}$, there is an (a_1, a_0) -tree pair $(\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2)$. This (a_1, a_0) -tree pair has a simultaneous refinement $(\mathcal{T}'_1, \mathcal{T}'_2)$, which is a right aligned (a_1, a_0) -tree pair. We also know that the set of right aligned (a_1, a_0) -tree pairs is closed under (a_1, a_0) -tree pair multiplication.

We can therefore consider only right aligned (a_1, a_0) -tree pairs to represent every element $g \in F_{\beta}$.

Definition 4.2.20.

A right aligned (a_1, a_0) -tree pair $(\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2)$ is said to be **positive** if \mathcal{T}_2 is an (a_1, a_0) -spine.

A right aligned (a_1, a_0) -tree pair $(\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2)$ is said to be **negative** if \mathcal{T}_1 is an (a_1, a_0) -spine.

Remark 36. The right aligned (a_1, a_0) -tree pair $(\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2)$ is negative if $(\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2)^{-1} = (\mathcal{T}_2, \mathcal{T}_1)$ is positive.

In example 22, the (2, 1)-tree pairs $(\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2), (\mathcal{T}'_1, \mathcal{T}'_2)$ and (R_1, S_2) are all positive.

Example 25. Below is a positive (3, 2)-tree pair.



Lemma 4.2.21. For each $g \in F_{\beta}$, there exists positive (a_1, a_0) -tree pairs P, Q, such that $g = P \star Q^{-1}$.

Proof. For all $g \in F_{\beta}$, there is a right aligned (a_1, a_0) -tree pair $(\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2)$ such that $g = (\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2)$. Since $size(\mathcal{T}_1) = size(\mathcal{T}_2), Sp(\mathcal{T}_1) = Sp(\mathcal{T}_2)$.

$$g = (\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2) = (\mathcal{T}_1, Sp(\mathcal{T}_1)) \star (Sp(\mathcal{T}_2), \mathcal{T}_2) = P \star Q^{-1}$$

where $P = (\mathcal{T}_1, Sp(\mathcal{T}_1))$ and $Q = (\mathcal{T}_2, Sp(\mathcal{T}_2))$. Since both \mathcal{T}_1 and \mathcal{T}_2 are right aligned (a_1, a_0) -trees, P and Q are both positive right aligned (a_1, a_0) -tree pairs. \Box

Definition 4.2.22. The element $g \in F_{\beta}$ is **positive** if $g = (\mathcal{T}, Sp(\mathcal{T}))$, for some right aligned (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T} .

As the element g is not represented by a unique <u>a</u>-tree pair, it is not trivial to state whether a given g is positive, even when given $g = (\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2)$ for some (a_1, a_0) -tree pair $(\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2)$.

Lemma 4.2.23. The set of positive elements of F_{β} is closed under composition.

Proof. Let $g_1 = (\mathcal{T}_1, Sp(\mathcal{T}_1))$ and $g_2 = (\mathcal{T}_2, Sp(\mathcal{T}_2))$ be positive elements of F_β for some right aligned (a_1, a_0) -trees $\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}_2$. Then to find $g_2 \circ g_1 = (\mathcal{T}_1, Sp(\mathcal{T}_1)) \star (\mathcal{T}_2, Sp(\mathcal{T}_2))$ we must find (a_1, a_0) -tree pairs (R_1, R_2) and (S_1, S_2) that are simultaneous refinements of $(\mathcal{T}_1, Sp(\mathcal{T}_1))$ and $(\mathcal{T}_2, Sp(\mathcal{T}_2))$ respectively such that $R_2 \sim S_1$.

This equates to finding a common refinement between $Sp(\mathcal{T}_1)$ and \mathcal{T}_2 . Since \mathcal{T}_2 is a right-aligned (a_1, a_0) -tree, then the spine of \mathcal{T}_2 contains only connected (a_1, a_0) -carets of type C_0 . Suppose the

spine of \mathcal{T}_2 consists of the (a_1, a_0) -carets X_1, \ldots, X_n where $X_i(K) = X_{i+1}$, and X_i is of type C_0 for all *i*. Let the (a_1, a_0) -spine $SP(\mathcal{T}_1)$ be of size *m*.

If m = n, then \mathcal{T}_2 is an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of $Sp(\mathcal{T}_1)$, and so we do not need to refine \mathcal{T}_2 to find a common refinement between them.

If m < n, then we can first extend the (a_1, a_0) -spine $Sp(\mathcal{T}_1)$ by hanging an (a_1, a_0) -spine of size n - m from the right-most leaf. We now have an (a_1, a_0) -spine of size n, so \mathcal{T}_2 is an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of this (a_1, a_0) -spine, and we can therefore find a common refinement without having to refine \mathcal{T}_2 .

Since we do not need to refine \mathcal{T}_2 in these cases, to find a common refinement with $Sp(\mathcal{T}_1)$ then we do not need to simultaneously refine $Sp(\mathcal{T}_2)$.

If m > n, then we can hang an (a_1, a_0) -spine of size m - n from the right-most leaf of \mathcal{T}_2 to get \mathcal{T}'_2 . Notice that in the simultaneous refinement of $(\mathcal{T}_2, SP(\mathcal{T}_2))$ to (\mathcal{T}'_2, S) the (a_1, a_0) -tree S, is an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of $Sp(\mathcal{T}_2)$, obtained by hanging an (a_1, a_0) -spine of size m - n from the right most leaf of $Sp(\mathcal{T}_2)$. Note that this remains an (a_1, a_0) -spine, and so $S = Sp(\mathcal{T}'_2)$. Therefore, we have $g_2 = (\mathcal{T}'_2, Sp(\mathcal{T}'_2))$, and $\mathcal{T}^p_2 rime$ is an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of $Sp(MT_1)$. We can therefore find a common refinement of \mathcal{T}'_2 and $Sp(\mathcal{T}_1)$ in which we do not refine \mathcal{T}'_2 .

Since we do not need to refine \mathcal{T}'_2 to find a common refinement with $Sp(\mathcal{T}_1)$, then we do not need to simultaneously refine $Sp(\mathcal{T}'_2)$.

In any case,

$$g_2 \circ g_1 = (\mathcal{T}_1, Sp(\mathcal{T}_1)) \star (\mathcal{T}_2, Sp(\mathcal{T}_2)) = (R_1, R_2) \star (R_2, Sp(R_2))$$

where (R_1, R_2) is a simultaneous refinement of $(\mathcal{T}_1, Sp(\mathcal{T}_1))$ and R_2 is a common refinement of $Sp(\mathcal{T}_1)$ and \mathcal{T}_2 .

Therefore, there is an expression for $g_2 \circ g_1$ of the form $(R_1, Sp(R_1))$, therefore $g_2 \circ g_1$ is also positive.

4.3 A presentation for F_{β}

4.3.1 Generating set of F_{β}

(a_1, a_0) -Generators

Definition 4.3.2. The (a_1, a_0) -generator $[i_1, \ldots, i_{a_0}]_j \in F_\beta$, $1 \leq i_1 < \cdots < i_{a_0} \leq K, j \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$, is the map represented by the right aligned (a_1, a_0) -tree pair $(\mathcal{T}, Sp(\mathcal{T}))$. Let S be a spine of size $\left\lfloor \frac{j-1}{K-1} \right\rfloor + 1$. Then S has at least j + 1 leaves. The (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T} is obtained by (a_1, a_0) -refining Sby hanging the (a_1, a_0) -caret of type (i_1, \ldots, i_{a_0}) from the j + 1th leaf of S.

Example 26. Consider the (2, 2)-generator $[1, 3]_4$. We need the (a_1, a_0) -spine S to have at least 5 leaves.



In the left tree of the positive (a_1, a_0) -tree pair representing the (a_1, a_0) -generator $[i_1, \ldots, i_{a_0}]_j$, the (a_1, a_0) -caret (i_1, \ldots, i_{a_0}) has j leaves preceding it.

Example 27. Below are the positive (a_1, a_0) -tree pairs representing the (2, 1)-generators, $[2]_1$ and $[3]_0$.



These (2, 1)-generators were initially used in example 22. There it was seen that $[3]_0 \circ [2]_1 = (R_1, S_1)$.



You can see that the (2, 1)-tree R_1 has 0 leaves to the left of the (2, 1)-caret of type (3).

Multiplication of (a_1, a_0) -generators

Remark 37. Each (a_1, a_0) -generator is represented by a positive (a_1, a_0) -tree pair, and is therefore positive. Therefore the product of two (a_1, a_0) -generators is also positive.

Lemma 4.3.3. Let $(\mathcal{T}, Sp(\mathcal{T}))$ be a positive (a_1, a_0) -tree pair, and let $[i_1, \ldots, i_{a_0}]_j = (\mathcal{T}_1, Sp(\mathcal{T}_1))$. Then there exists an (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T}' , such that

$$(\mathcal{T}', Sp(\mathcal{T}')) = (\mathcal{T}, Sp(\mathcal{T})) \star (\mathcal{T}_1, Sp(\mathcal{T}_1))$$

and \mathcal{T}' is an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of \mathcal{T} such that the $j + 1^{th}, \ldots, j + K^{th}$ leaves of \mathcal{T}' are the children of an (a_1, a_0) -caret of type (i_1, \ldots, i_{a_0}) .

Proof. If $(\mathcal{T}', Sp(\mathcal{T}')) = (\mathcal{T}, Sp(\mathcal{T})) \star (\mathcal{T}_1, Sp(\mathcal{T}_1))$, then there exists \mathcal{T}^* , a common refinement of $Sp(\mathcal{T})$ and \mathcal{T}_1 , such that $(\mathcal{T}', Sp(\mathcal{T}')) = (\mathcal{T}', \mathcal{T}^*) \star (\mathcal{T}^*, Sp(\mathcal{T}'))$ where $(\mathcal{T}', \mathcal{T}^*)$ and $(\mathcal{T}^*, Sp(\mathcal{T}'))$ are simultaneous refinements of $(\mathcal{T}, Sp(\mathcal{T}))$ and $(\mathcal{T}_1, Sp(\mathcal{T}_1))$ respectively.

As $(\mathcal{T}_1, Sp(\mathcal{T}_1))$ is a positive (a_1, a_0) -tree pair, \mathcal{T}_1 is a right aligned (a_1, a_0) -tree and has a spine of (a_1, a_0) -carets of type C_0 . Let the (a_1, a_0) -carets in the spine of \mathcal{T}_1 be X_1, \ldots, X_n such that $X_{j+1} = X_j(K)$.

If $size(Sp(\mathcal{T})) = n$, then \mathcal{T}_1 is an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of $Sp(\mathcal{T})$, and $[Sp(\mathcal{T}) : \mathcal{T}_1]$. Our common refinement $\mathcal{T}^* = \mathcal{T}_1$ is obtained by hanging an (a_1, a_0) -caret of type (i_1, \ldots, i_{a_0}) from the j + 1 leaf of $Sp(\mathcal{T})$.

If $size(Sp(\mathcal{T})) = s > n$, then we can find an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of $\mathcal{T}_1, \mathcal{T}^*$, by hanging an (a_1, a_0) spine of size s - n from $X_n(K)$. This (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T}^* is also an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of $Sp(\mathcal{T})$, obtained

by hanging the (a_1, a_0) -caret of type (i_1, \ldots, i_{a_0}) from the $j + 1^{th}$ leaf of $Sp(\mathcal{T})$.

In each of these cases, the corresponding simultaneous refinement of $(\mathcal{T}_1, Sp(\mathcal{T}_1))$ is $(\mathcal{T}^*, Sp(\mathcal{T}^*))$. The corresponding simultaneous refinement of $(\mathcal{T}, Sp(\mathcal{T}))$ is $(\mathcal{T}', \mathcal{T}^*)$, where \mathcal{T}' is an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of \mathcal{T} , with $[\mathcal{T}, \mathcal{T}'] = 1$. The only (a_1, a_0) -caret added in this (a_1, a_0) -refinement of \mathcal{T} is the (a_1, a_0) -caret of type (i_1, \ldots, i_{a_0}) , which is hung from the $j + 1^{th}$ leaf of \mathcal{T} .

Alternatively, if $size(Sp(\mathcal{T})) = s < n$, then $\mathcal{T}^* = \mathcal{T}_1$ is an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of $Sp(\mathcal{T})$, with $[Sp(\mathcal{T}) : \mathcal{T}^*] = n - s + 1$. We can obtain \mathcal{T}_1 from $Sp(\mathcal{T})$ by hanging an (a_1, a_0) -spine of size n - s from the right-most leaf of $Sp(\mathcal{T})$, and then by hanging an (a_1, a_0) -caret of type (i_1, \ldots, i_{a_0}) from the j + 1th leaf of the resulting (a_1, a_0) -spine.

We see that $(\mathcal{T}_1, Sp(\mathcal{T}_1)) = (\mathcal{T}^*, Sp(\mathcal{T}^*))$, and that $(\mathcal{T}', \mathcal{T}^*)$ is a simultaneous refinement of $(\mathcal{T}, Sp(\mathcal{T}))$ and the $j + 1^{th}, \ldots, j + K^{th}$ leaves of \mathcal{T}' are the children of the (a_1, a_0) -caret of type (i_1, \ldots, i_{a_0}) .

If $(\mathcal{T}, Sp(\mathcal{T}))$ is a positive (a_1, a_0) -tree pair, then multiplying by the (a_1, a_0) -tree pair representing $[i_1, \ldots, i_{a_0}]_j$, hangs the (a_1, a_0) -caret of type (i_1, \ldots, i_{a_0}) from the $j + 1^{th}$ leaf of \mathcal{T} . If \mathcal{T} has fewer than j + 1 leaves, then the spine is extended until there are sufficient leaves.

In example 22, we see that post-multiplying by the (2, 1)-tree pair representing $[3]_0$ hangs an (2, 1)-caret from the $(0+1)^{th}$ leaf of the (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T}_1 .

Lemma 4.3.4. Every positive (a_1, a_0) -tree pair $(\mathcal{T}, Sp(\mathcal{T}))$ can be expressed as

$$(\mathcal{T}, Sp(\mathcal{T}))) = (\mathcal{T}_1, Sp(\mathcal{T}_1)) \star \cdots \star (\mathcal{T}_n, Sp(\mathcal{T}_n))$$

where $(\mathcal{T}_r, Sp(\mathcal{T}_r))$ is the positive (a_1, a_0) -tree pair representing the (a_1, a_0) -generator $[i_1^{(r)}, \ldots, i_{a_0}^{(r)}]_{j_n}$ for each $r \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$.

Proof. Let $(\mathcal{T}, Sp(\mathcal{T}))$ be a positive (a_1, a_0) -tree pair, such that the spine of \mathcal{T} has s carets. Let $id \in F_\beta$ be the identity map. Then id = (S, S) where S is an (a_1, a_0) -spine of size s.

Then \mathcal{T} is an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of S. Let $[S : \mathcal{T}] = n$, and let $S = T_0, T_1, \ldots, T_n = \mathcal{T}$ be (a_1, a_0) -trees such that T_{r+1} is an (a_1, a_0) -refinement of T_r , and $[T_r : T_{r+1}] = 1$ for all r.

If the (a_1, a_0) -refinement of T_{r-1} to get to T_r requires hanging an (a_1, a_0) -caret of type $(i_1^{(r)}, \ldots, i_{a_0}^{(r)})$ from the $j_r + 1^t h$ leaf of T_{r-1} , then $(T_r, Sp(T_r)) = (T_{r-1}, Sp(T_{r-1})) \star (\mathcal{T}_r, Sp(\mathcal{T}_r))$ where $(\mathcal{T}_i, Sp(\mathcal{T}_i))$ is the positive (a_1, a_0) -tree pair representing the (a_1, a_0) -generator $[i_1^{(r)}, \ldots, i_{a_0}^{(r)}]_{j_n}$.
This being true for all $r \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ means that

$$(\mathcal{T}, Sp(\mathcal{T}))) = (S, S) \star (\mathcal{T}_1, Sp(\mathcal{T}_1)) \star \cdots \star (\mathcal{T}_n, Sp(\mathcal{T}_n)).$$

Since (S, S) is the identity (a_1, a_0) -tree pair, we can drop the (S, S) from our tree-pair multiplication.

Proposition 4.3.5. The set of positive elements of F_{β} is generated by (a_1, a_0) -generators.

Proof. If $g \in F_{\beta}$ is positive, then $g = (\mathcal{T}, Sp(\mathcal{T}))$, where \mathcal{T} is a right aligned (a_1, a_0) -tree.

Thus

$$(\mathcal{T}, Sp(\mathcal{T}))) = (\mathcal{T}_1, Sp(\mathcal{T}_1)) \star \cdots \star (\mathcal{T}_n, Sp(\mathcal{T}_n))$$

where $(\mathcal{T}_r, Sp(\mathcal{T}_r))$ is the positive (a_1, a_0) -tree pair representing to an (a_1, a_0) -generator $[i_1^{(r)}, \ldots, i_{a_0}^{(r)}]_{j_n}$ for all $r \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$.

Thus,

$$g = [i_1^{(n)}, \dots, i_{a_0}^{(n)}]_{j_n} \circ \dots \circ [i_1^{(1)}, \dots, i_{a_0}^{(1)}]_{j_1}.$$

Any (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T} can be thought of as a product of (a_1, a_0) -generators, one for each (a_1, a_0) -caret not in the spine.

Example 28. Recall the example of a positive (3, 2)-tree pair.



This represents $[3, 4]_1 \circ [1, 2]_3$ but also represents $[1, 2]_7 \circ [3, 4]_1$.

There are clearly some relations between our (a_1, a_0) -generators. This first kind come about if two (a_1, a_0) -carets X, Y, are added (a_1, a_0) -tree to make the (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T} such that \mathcal{T}_X and \mathcal{T}_Y have no shared nodes. In this case the order in which you add X and Y does not matter.

In fact this means that if i < j,

$$[i_1 \dots, i_{a_0}]_i \circ [j_1 \dots, j_{a_0}]_j = [j_1 \dots, j_{a_0}]_{j+K-1} \circ [i_1 \dots, i_{a_0}]_i$$

Reducing the generating set

Recall the definition of a connected (a_1, a_0) -caret from Chapter 1, and recall the process described as a basic move.

Definition 4.3.6. Connected (a_1, a_0) -generators

The *positive* connected (a_1, a_0) -generator $[C_i]_j$ is the (a_1, a_0) -generator

$$[C_i]_j = [i+1, i+2..., i+a_0]_j.$$

The *negative* connected (a_1, a_0) -generators are of the form $[C_i]_j^{-1}$.

It is convenient to drop the \circ composition notation, and instead write

$$[C_{i_1}]_{j_1} \circ [C_{i_2}]_{j_2} = [C_{i_1}]_{j_1} [C_{i_2}]_{j_2}.$$

Lemma 4.3.7. Let $[i_1, \ldots, i_{a_0}]_j$ be an (a_1, a_0) -generator. Then

$$[C_{a_0}]_j \cdots [C_{a_0}]_{j+i_1-2} [C_{a_0-1}]_{j+i_1} \cdots [C_{a_0-1}]_{j+i_2-2} [C_{a_0-2}]_{j+i_2} \cdots$$

$$\cdots [C_2]_{j+i_{a_0-1}-2} [C_1]_{j+i_{a_0-1}} \cdots [C_1]_{j+i_{a_0}-2} [C_0]_{j+i_{a_0}} \cdots$$

$$\cdots [C_0]_{j+K-2} [C_0]_{j+K-1} [i_1, \dots, i_{a_0}]_j = [C_0]_{j+a_0} [C_0]_{j+a_0+1} \cdots$$

$$\cdots [C_0]_{j+K-1} [C_0]_j.$$

Proof. Let X be the $(j+1)^{th}$ leaf of some (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T} , and let $g = (\mathcal{T}, Sp(\mathcal{T}))$ be a positive element of F_{β} .

Consider the (a_1, a_0) -tree pair representation of

$$[C_{a_0}]_j \cdots [C_{a_0}]_{j+i_1-2} [C_{a_0-1}]_{j+i_1} \cdots [C_{a_0-1}]_{j+i_2-2} [C_{a_0-2}]_{j+i_2} \cdots$$
$$\cdots [C_2]_{j+i_{a_0-1}-2} [C_1]_{j+i_{a_0-1}} \cdots [C_1]_{j+i_{a_0}-2} [C_0]_{j+i_{a_0}} \cdots$$
$$\cdots [C_0]_{j+K-2} [C_0]_{j+K-1} [i_1, \dots, i_{a_0}]_j \circ g.$$

and then consider the sub-tree \mathcal{T}_X . The root node, R, of \mathcal{T}_X is an (a_1, a_0) -caret of type $[i_1, \ldots, i_{a_0}]$. Recall that composition by the connected (a_1, a_0) -generator $[C_i]_k$ hangs the connected (a_1, a_0) -caret C_i from the $(k+1)^{th}$ leaf.

- From each of the short legs $R(1), \ldots, R(i_1 1)$, we have a connected (a_1, a_0) -caret of type C_{a_0} .
- From each of the short legs $R(i_1 + 1), \ldots, R(i_2 1)$, we have a connected (a_1, a_0) -caret of type C_{a_0-1} .
- From each of the short legs $R(i_s+1), \ldots, R(i_{s+1}-1)$, we have a connected (a_1, a_0) -caret of type C_{a_0-s} .
- From each of the short legs $R(i_{a_0}), \ldots, R(K)$, we have a connected (a_1, a_0) -caret of type C_0 .

In fact, we have constructed the (a_1, a_0) -tree defined in our basic move from Lemma 4.2.12. This means that we can find an (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T}'_X which is leaf-equivalent to \mathcal{T}_X and consists of only connected (a_1, a_0) -carets of type C_0 ,

$$[C_{a_0}]_j \cdots [C_{a_0}]_{j+i_1-2} [C_{a_0-1}]_{j+i_1} \cdots [C_{a_0-1}]_{j+i_2-2} [C_{a_0-2}]_{j+i_2} \cdots$$

$$\cdots [C_2]_{j+i_{a_0-1}-2} [C_1]_{j+i_{a_0-1}} \cdots [C_1]_{j+i_{a_0}-2} [C_0]_{j+i_{a_0}} \cdots$$

$$\cdots [C_0]_{j+K-2} [C_0]_{j+K-1} [i_1, \dots, i_{a_0}]_j = [C_0]_{j+a_0} [C_0]_{j+a_0+1} \cdots$$

$$\cdots [C_0]_{j+K-1} [C_0]_j.$$

-		-	

Example 29. Consider the (3,3)-generator $[2,4,5]_3$. By Lemma 4.3.7

$$[C_3]_3[C_2]_5[C_0]_8[2,4,5]_3 = [C_0]_6[C_0]_7[C_0]_8[C_0]_3.$$

The (3,3)-tree representation of these outcomes are shown below. Since these are both positive, they have a (3,3)-spine as the right-hand tree which is not included in the diagram below.



Both of these (3,3)-trees have leaf-sequence

$$(2, 2, 2, 3, 3, 3, 4, 4, 4, 3, 3, 3, 4, 4, 4, 3, 3, 3, 4, 4, 4, 3, 3, 3, 1, 1).$$

Therefore

$$[2,4,5]_3 = [C_3]_3^{-1} [C_2]_5^{-1} [C_0]_8^{-1} [C_0]_6 [C_0]_7 [C_0]_8 [C_0]_3.$$

Lemma 4.3.7 holds for all (a_1, a_0) -generators $[i_1, \ldots, i_{a_0}]$ and only requires adding (a_1, a_0) -generators of type $[C_0]_{j_0}, [C_1]_{j_1}, \ldots, [C_{a_0}]_{j_{a_0}}$.

Remark 38. For any (a_1, a_0) -generator $[i_1, \ldots, i_{a_0}]_j$, there exists maps P, Q such that P, Q are products of connected (a_1, a_0) -generators of type $[C_0]_{j_0}, \ldots, [C_{a_0}]_{j_{a_0}}$, and $Q \circ [i_1, \ldots, i_{a_0}]_j = P$. Therefore

$$[i_1, \ldots, i_{a_0}]_j = Q^{-1}P$$

Therefore F_{β} is generated by the connected (a_1, a_0) -generators

$$\langle C_0, C_1, \ldots, C_{a_0}, \ldots, C_{a_1} \rangle$$

4.3.8 Relations in the Presentation

4.3.9 Connected (a_1, a_0) -generators

We already know two relations on the set of connected (a_1, a_0) -generators.

The first kind comes from seeing that two independent sub-trees can be added in either order.

$$R_1: [C_r]_i [C_s]_j = [C_s]_{j+K-1} [C_r]_i \text{ for } i < j.$$

The second kind of relation comes from our basic moves.

 $[C_{a_0}]_j \cdots [C_{a_0}]_{j+r-1} [C_0]_{j+a_0+r} \cdots [C_0]_{j+K-1} [C_r]_j = [C_{a_0}]_j \cdots [C_{a_0}]_{j+s-1} [C_0]_{j+a_0+s} \cdots [C_0]_{j+K-1} [C_s]_j$ for all $j \ge 0$.

 R_2 :

Of course, $[C_i]_j^{-1}[C_i]_j$ is the identity map, but we must ask if there are any other relations that can be found between the (a_1, a_0) -generators and their inverses. We want to be able to say that $g = Q^{-1} \circ P$ where P, Q are compositions of connected (a_1, a_0) -generators, to avoid having to find such relations. **Lemma 4.3.10.** Let $g \in F_{\beta}$. Then there exists $0 \leq i_1, \ldots, i_m, i_{m+1}, \ldots, i_r \leq a_1$ such that

$$g = [C_{i_1}]_{j_1}^{-1} \cdots [C_{i_m}]_{j_m}^{-1} [C_{i_{m+1}}]_{j_{m+1}} \cdots [C_{i_r}]_{j_r}.$$

Proof. In Remark 38, we saw that g can be written as the composition of connected (a_1, a_0) -generators and their inverses. There is no restriction on the location on the inverses in this remark, and so the generators and their inverses can appear in any order. Our goal is to show that, by using the relations R_1 and R_2 , we can *move* all inverses to the left of this list.

Firstly, consider R_1 . For $0 \le i < j$, and for $0 \le r, s \le a_1$,

$$[C_r]_i [C_s]_j = [C_s]_{j+K-1} [C_r]_i$$
$$[C_r]_i^{-1} [C_r]_i [C_s]_j [C_r]_i^{-1} = [C_r]_i^{-1} [C_s]_{j+K-1} [C_r]_i [C_r]_i^{-1}$$
$$[C_s]_j [C_r]_i^{-1} = [C_r]_i^{-1} [C_s]_{j+K-1}.$$

So if i < j, $[C_s]_j [C_r]_i^{-1} = [C_r]_i^{-1} [C_s]_{j+K-1}$.

We can gain more information by considering R_1 again:

$$[C_r]_i[C_s]_j = [C_s]_{j+K-1}[C_r]_i$$
$$[C_s]_{j+K-1}^{-1}[C_r]_i[C_s]_j[C_s]_j^{-1} = [C_s]_{j+K-1}^{-1}[C_s]_{j+K-1}[C_r]_i[C_s]_j^{-1}$$
$$[C_s]_{j+K-1}^{-1}[C_r]_i = [C_r]_i[C_s]_j^{-1}.$$

So if i > j, $C_r]_i [C_s]_j^{-1} = [C_s]_{j+K-1}^{-1} [C_r]_i$.

Now, given $[C_r]_i [C_s]_j^{-1}$ we can find some way to move the inverted (a_1, a_0) -generator to the left provided $i \neq j$. If i = j, we need to consider the second kind of relation. For $0 \leq r, s \leq a_1$, and for

$$j \ge 0$$
,

$$\begin{split} [C_{a_0}]j\cdots [C_{a_0}]_{j+r-1}[C_0]_{j+a_0+r}\cdots [C_0]_{j+K-1}[C_r]_j &= \\ &= [C_{a_0}]_j\cdots [C_{a_0}]_{j+s-1}[C_0]_{j+a_0+s}\cdots [C_0]_{j+K-1}[C_s]_j \\ [C_{a_0}]j\cdots [C_{a_0}]_{j+r-1}[C_0]_{j+a_0+r}\cdots [C_0]_{j+K-1}[C_r]_j[C_s]_j^{-1} \\ &= [C_{a_0}]_j\cdots [C_{a_0}]_{j+s-1}[C_0]_{j+a_0+s}\cdots [C_0]_{j+K-1}[C_s]_j[C_s]_j^{-1} \\ [C_r]_j[C_s]_j^{-1} &= [C_0]_{j+K-1}^{-1}\cdots [C_0]_{j+a_0+r}^{-1}[C_{a_0}]_{j+r-1}^{-1}\cdots [C_{a_0}]_j^{-1}[C_{a_0}]_j\cdots \\ &\cdots [C_{a_0}]_{j+s-1}[C_0]_{j+a_0+s}\cdots [C_0]_{j+K-1}. \end{split}$$

Here we have swapped $[C_r]_j [C_s]_j^{-1}$ for some composition of connected (a_1, a_0) -generators and their inverses, in which all of the inverses are written to the left.

We have devised three methods to move the negative (a_1, a_0) -generators to the left of the positive (a_1, a_0) -generators, which cover all possible combinations of positive and negative (a_1, a_0) -generators.

Now we can consider all of the relations on the *positive* connected (a_1, a_0) -generators.

There is a third kind of relation which comes from the following remark.

Remark 39. Given a connected (a_1, a_0) -caret C_i , there is a common refinement of C_i and C_{i+1} , obtained by hanging a connected (a_1, a_0) -caret C_r from $C_i(i + a_0 + 1)$ and hanging C_{r+a_0} from $C_{i+1}(i + 1)$, for $0 \le r \le a_1 - a_0$. This increases C_i to C_{i+1} .

Similarly, we can decrease C_{i+1} to C_i by hanging $C_{r'}$ from $C_{i+1}(i+1)$, for $a_0 \leq r' \leq a_1$. This is leaf-equivalent to hanging $C_{r'-a_0}$ from $C_i(i+a_0+1)$.

This method of *increasing* C_i works because C_r has at least a_0 short legs on the right hand side, which are matched to the a_0 long children of C_i . This gives us the third kind of relation:

$$R_3: [C_r]_{j+i+a_0}[C_i]_j = [C_{r+a_0}]_{j+i}[C_{i+1}]_j \text{ for } 0 \le r \le a_1 - a_0.$$

Example 30. Consider the connected (4, 2)-caret C_0 . We can increase C_0 to C_1 by hanging a connected (4, 2)-caret C_r from $C_0(3)$, where $0 \le r \le 2$. Below we have chosen $C_r = C_1$.



Notice that we can repeat this process and increase C_1 to C_2 by hanging some $C_{r'}$ from $C_1(4)$, where $0 \le r' \le 2$. Below we choose r' = 0.

$$[C_0]_{j+3}[C_1]_j = [C_2]_{j+1}[C_2]_j$$
$$[C_1]_{j+2}[C_0]_{j+3}[C_0]_j = [C_3]_j[C_2]_{j+1}[C_2]_j$$
$$[C_0]_{j+8}[C_1]_{j+2}[C_0]_j = [C_3]_j[C_2]_{j+1}[C_2]_j$$

We can move the short leg that is to the right of the 2 long legs, to the left of the long legs by increasing the type.

The maximum number times that we can increase a connected (a_1, a_0) -caret is a_1 times, increasing from C_0 to C_{a_1} .

$$[C_{r_1}]_{j+a_0}[C_{r_2}]_{j+a_0+1}\cdots [C_{r_{a_1}}]_{j+K-1}[C_0]_j = [C_{r_1+a_0}]_j[C_{r_2+a_0}]_{j+1}\cdots [C_{r_{a_1}+a_0}]_{j+a_1-1}[C_{a_1}]_j.$$

Suppose then that \mathcal{T} is a connected (a_1, a_0) -tree with root node of type C_i , for $0 \leq i \leq K - 1$.

We can construct algorithms to find a common refinement between \mathcal{T} and C_{i+1} . Let R be the root node of \mathcal{T} .

Increase type:

• Consider $R(i + a_0 + 1)$.

- If $R(i + a_0 + 1)$ is a leaf, hang C_j for $0 \le j \le a_1 - a - 0$ from $R(i + a_0 + 1)$. We are done. - If $R(i + a_0 + 1)$ is of type C_j for $0 \le j \le a_1 - a - 0$ from $R(i + a_0 + 1)$, then we are done.

• Otherwise $R(i + a_0 + 1)$ is a caret of type C_t for $a_1 - a_0 + 1 \le t \le K$.

- Perform the decrease type algorithm on $R_{(i+a_0+1)}$

- Repeat the increase type algorithm on R.

Decrease type :

- Consider R(i).
 - If R(i) is a leaf, hang C_j for $0 \le j \le a_1 a 0$ from R(i). We are done.
 - If R(i) is of type C_j for $0 \le j \le a_1 a 0$ from R(i), then we are done.
- Otherwise R(i) is a caret of type C_t for $a_1 a_0 + 1 \le t \le K$.
 - Perform the increase type algorithm on R(i).
 - Repeat the decrease type algorithm on R.

Lemma 4.3.11. Let $\mathcal{T}, \mathcal{T}'$ be (a_1, a_0) -trees with connected root-carets of type C_i and C_{i+1} respectively. If we have to add (a_1, a_0) -carets to increase the type of C_i to C_{i+1} , then $\mathcal{T} \not\sim \mathcal{T}'$.

Proof. Let $\mathcal{T}, \mathcal{T}'$ be (a_1, a_0) -trees such that $\mathcal{T} \sim \mathcal{T}'$ and the root-carets are of type C_i and C_{i+1} respectively. Let S_1 and S_2 be the (a_1, a_0) -subdivisions corresponding to \mathcal{T} and \mathcal{T}' respectively. Then $B[S_1] = B[S_2]$. Here we will use $\tau = \beta^{-1}$ to make notation more convenient.

Let R be the root node of \mathcal{T}' . The first i children of R are short legs and represent sub-intervals of length τ . The next a_0 children of R, $R(i+1), \ldots, R(i+a_0)$ are all long legs, and represent sub-intervals of length τ^2 in S_1 . Then $R(i + a_0 + 1)$ is a short leg.

If $R(i + a_0 + 1)$ is a leaf for $1 \le i \le a_0$, then there is no breakpoint in S_1 in the real interval $(a_0\tau^2 + (i-1)\tau, a_0\tau^2 + i\tau)$. However $(i+1)\tau$ is a breakpoint of S_2 , and

$$i\tau + a_0\tau^2 \le (i+1)\tau \le (i+1)\tau + a_0\tau^2.$$

Therefore $R(i + a_0 + 1)$ cannot be a leaf if $\mathcal{T} \sim \mathcal{T}'$. Therefore $R(i + a_0 + 1)$ must be the parent of an (a_1, a_0) -caret of type C_{r_1} . If $0 \leq r_1 \leq a_1 - a_0$, then we can *increase* the type of C_i to C_{i+1} without adding any (a_1, a_0) -carets which would be a contradiction. So then $a_1 - a_0 + 1 \leq r_1 \leq a_1$.

Denote $R(i + a_0 + 1) = R_1$, and consider $R_1(a_1 - a_0 + 1)$. As R_1 is a connected (a_1, a_0) -caret C_{r_1} , for some $a_1 - a_0 + 1 \le r_1 \le a_1$, at least the first $a_1 - a_0 + 1$ children of R_1 are short legs and represent sub-intervals of length τ^2 in S_1 . Consider the node $R_2 = R_1(a_1 - a_0 + 1)$, and the interval that it represents, $[i\tau + a_1\tau^2, i\tau + (a_1+1)\tau^2]$. Note that

$$\tau^2 = a_1 \tau^3 + a_0 \tau^4 > a_1 \tau^3 \ge a_0 \tau^3$$

Since $(i+1)\tau = i\tau + a_1\tau^2 + a_0\tau^3$,

$$i\tau + a_1\tau < (i+1)\tau < i\tau + (a_1+1)\tau^2$$

Therefore R_2 is not a leaf in \mathcal{T} , and is therefore a parent of an (a_1, a_0) -caret of type C_{r_2} , for some $0 \leq r_2 \leq a_1$.

Therefore $0 \le r_2 \le a_0 - 1$, and for all $j \ge 2a_0 R_2(j)$ is a short leg in the (a_1, a_0) -caret of type C_{r_2} . Let $R_2(2a_0) = R_3$, which represents the sub-interval

$$[i\tau + a_1\tau^2 + (a_0 - 1)\tau^3 + a_0\tau^4, i\tau + a_1\tau^2 + a_0\tau^3 + a_0\tau^4]$$

Recall that $(i + 1)\tau = i\tau + a_1\tau^2 + a_0\tau^3$. Also since $\tau^2 > a_0\tau^3$, we can deduce that $\tau^N > a_0\tau^{N+1}$. Therefore

$$i\tau + a_1\tau^2 + (a_0 - 1)\tau^3 + a_0\tau^4 < (i + 1)\tau < i\tau + a_1\tau^2 + a_0\tau^3 + a_0\tau^4$$

Once again, R_3 is not a leaf and so must be the parent in an (a_1, a_0) -caret of type C_{r_3} for $0 \le r_3 \le a_1$.

Therefore $a_1 - a_0 + 1 \le r_3 \le a_1$. Let $R_3(a_1 - a_0 + 1) = R_4$, a node representing the interval

$$[i\tau + a_1\tau^2 + (a_0 - 1)\tau^3 + a_1\tau^4, i\tau + a_1\tau^2 + a_0\tau^3 + (a_1 + 1)\tau^4].$$

Again, we can conclude that

$$i\tau + a_1\tau^2 + (a_0 - 1)\tau^3 + a_1\tau^4 < (i+1)\tau < i\tau + a_1\tau^2 + a_0\tau^3 + (a_1 + 1)\tau^4.$$

So R_4 is not a leaf, and is the parent in an (a_1, a_0) -caret of type C_{r_4} .

Continuing this process, we construct an (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T}^* , whose root-caret is of type C_i and cannot be increased without adding more (a_1, a_0) -carets

• For odd $n, R_n(a_1 - a_0 + 1) = R_{n+1},$

 $-R_{n+1}$ is the parent of an (a_1, a_0) -caret of type $C_{r_{n+1}}$ where $0 < r_{n+1} < a_0 - 1$.

• For even $n, R_n(2a_0) = R_{n+1},$

- R_{n+1} is the parent of an (a_1, a_0) -caret of type $C_{r_{n+1}}$ where $a_1 - a_0 + 1 < n + 1 < a_1$.

This gives us the (a_1, a_0) -tree shown in Figure 4.2. Let $t = a_1 - a_0$, as a shorthand. In Figure 4.2, all nodes not labelled are left as leaves. Writing indicates the number of nodes which would be present there, and if no writing is present, then it is possible to deduce the number of nodes.



Figure 4.2: The (a_1, a_0) -tree $\mathcal{T}^*[H]$, whose root-caret cannot be increased without adding (a_1, a_0) -carets

Let J_0 be the unit interval, and let J_i be the interval represented by the node R_i .

$$J_{0} : [0, 1]$$

$$J_{1} : [i\tau + a_{0}\tau^{2}, i\tau + a_{0}\tau^{2}]$$

$$J_{2} : [i\tau + a_{1}\tau^{2}, i\tau + (a_{1} + 1)\tau^{2}]$$

$$J_{3} : [i\tau + a_{1}\tau^{2} + (a_{0} - 1)\tau^{3} + a_{0}\tau^{4}, i\tau + a_{1}\tau^{2} + a_{0}\tau^{3} + a_{0}\tau^{4}]$$

$$J_{4} : [i\tau + a_{1}\tau^{2} + (a_{0} - 1)\tau^{3} + a_{1}\tau^{4}, i\tau + a_{1}\tau^{2} + (a_{0} - 1)\tau^{3} + (a_{1} + 1)\tau^{4}]$$

$$\vdots$$

Notice that each if the intervals J_i are of length τ^i . Let J_{∞} be the result of infinitely repeating the process.

Let $\mathcal{L}(J_r)$ be the lower bound of J_r , and $\mathcal{U}(J_r)$ be the upper bound of the interval J_r .

$$\mathcal{L}(J_0) = 0$$

$$\mathcal{L}(J_1) = i\tau + a_0\tau^2$$

$$\mathcal{L}(J_2) = i\tau + a_1\tau^2$$

$$\mathcal{L}(J_3) = i\tau + a_1\tau^2 + (a_0 - 1)\tau^3 + a_0\tau^4$$

$$\mathcal{L}(J_4) = i\tau + a_1\tau^2 + (a_0 - 1)\tau^3 + a_1\tau^4$$

$$\mathcal{L}(J_5) = i\tau + a_1\tau^2 + (a_0 - 1)\tau^3 + a_1\tau^4 + (a_0 - 1)\tau^5 + a_0\tau^6$$

$$\mathcal{L}(J_6) = i\tau + a_1\tau^2 + (a_0 - 1)\tau^3 + a_1\tau^4 + (a_0 - 1)\tau^5 + a_1\tau^6$$

$$\vdots$$

Now consider $\mathcal{L}(J_{\infty})$.

$$\mathcal{L}(J_{\infty}) = i\tau + a_1\tau^2 + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left((a_0 - 1)\tau^{2k+1} + a_1\tau^{2k+2} \right)$$
$$= i\tau + a_1\tau^2 + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \tau^{2k+1} \left(a_0 - 1 + a_1\tau \right).$$

We can rearrange $1 = a_1 \tau + a_0 \tau^2$ to get,

$$1 = a_1 \tau + a_0 \tau^2$$
$$a_0 = a_0 - 1 + a_1 \tau + a_0 \tau^2$$
$$a_0 - a_0 \tau^2 = a_0 - 1 + a_1 \tau.$$

Substituting this into $\mathcal{L}(J_{\infty})$, gives us

$$\mathcal{L}(J_{\infty}) = i\tau + a_{1}\tau^{2} + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \tau^{2k+1} (a_{0} - 1 + a_{1}\tau)$$

$$= i\tau + a_{1}\tau^{2} + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \tau^{2k+1} (a_{0} - a_{0}\tau^{2})$$

$$= i\tau + a_{1}\tau^{2} + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (a_{0}\tau^{2k+1} - a_{0}\tau^{2k+3})$$

$$= i\tau + a_{1}\tau^{2} + (a_{0}\tau^{3} - a_{0}\tau^{5}) + (a_{0}\tau^{5} - a_{0}\tau^{7}) + (a_{0}\tau^{7} - a_{0}\tau^{9}) + \cdots$$

$$= i\tau + a_{1}\tau^{2} + a_{0}\tau^{3}$$

$$= i\tau + \tau = (i+1)\tau.$$

Thus $\mathcal{L}(J_r) < (i+1)\tau$ for all $r \in \mathbb{N}$.

Now consider the upper bounds $\mathcal{U}(J-r)$:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{U}(J_0) &= 1 \\ \mathcal{U}(J_1) &= 1 - (a_1 - i - 1)\tau \\ \mathcal{U}(J_2) &= 1 - \left[(a_1 - i - 1)\tau + (a_0 - 1)\tau^2 + a_0\tau^3 \right] \\ \mathcal{U}(J_3) &= 1 - \left[(a_1 - i - 1)\tau + (a_0 - 1)\tau^2 + a_1\tau^3 \right] \\ \mathcal{U}(J_4) &= 1 - \left[(a_1 - i - 1)\tau + (a_0 - 1)\tau^2 + a_1\tau^3 + (a_0 - 1)\tau^4 + a_0\tau^5 \right] \\ \mathcal{U}(J_5) &= 1 - \left[(a_1 - i - 1)\tau + (a_0 - 1)\tau^2 + a_1\tau^3 + (a_0 - 1)\tau^4 + a_1\tau^5 \right] \\ \mathcal{U}(J_6) &= 1 - \left[(a_1 - i - 1)\tau + (a_0 - 1)\tau^2 + a_1\tau^3 + (a_0 - 1)\tau^4 + a_0\tau^5 + (a_0 - 1)\tau^6 + a_0\tau^7 \right] \\ &\vdots \end{aligned}$$

$$\mathcal{U}(J_{\infty}) = 1 - (a_1 - i - 1)\tau - \left[(a_0 - 1)\tau^2 + a_1\tau^3 + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (a_0 - 1)\tau^{2k+2} + a_1\tau^{2k+3} \right]$$

= $(i+1)\tau + a_0\tau^2 - \left[(a_0 - 1)\tau^2 + a_1\tau^3 + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (a_0 - 1)\tau^{2k+2} + a_1\tau^{2k+3} \right]$
= $(i+1)\tau + \tau^2 - \left[a_1\tau^3 + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (a_0 - 1)\tau^{2k+2} + a_1\tau^{2k+3} \right].$

Consider the sum,

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (a_0 - 1)\tau^{2k+2} + a_1\tau^{2k+3} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \tau^{2k+2} \left((a_0 - 1) + a_1\tau \right)$$

Recall that $a_0 - 1 + a_1 \tau = a_0 - a_0 \tau^2$.

$$\mathcal{U}(J_{\infty}) = (i+1)\tau + \tau^2 - \left[a_1\tau^3 + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (a_0 - 1)\tau^{2k+2} + a_1\tau^{2k+3}\right]$$
$$= (i+1)\tau + \tau^2 - \left[a_1\tau^3 + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \tau^{2k+2} \left((a_0 - 1) + a_1\tau\right)\right]$$
$$= (i+1)\tau + \tau^2 - \left[a_1\tau^3 + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \tau^{2k+2} \left(a_0 - a_0\tau^2\right)\right]$$
$$= (i+1)\tau + \tau^2 - \left[a_1\tau^3 + a_0\tau^4\right]$$
$$= (i+1)\tau + \tau^2 - [\tau^2]$$
$$= (i+1)\tau^2.$$

Therefore $\mathcal{U}(J_r) > (i+1)\tau^2$ for all $r \in \mathbb{N}$. Therefore $(i+1)\tau \in J_r$ for all $r \in \mathbb{N}$.

Thus, if increasing the type of the root-caret of the (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T} to be the same type as the root-caret as \mathcal{T}' requires adding carets, then $\mathcal{T} \not\sim \mathcal{T}'$.

Corollary 4.3.12. Let the (a_1, a_0) -trees \mathcal{T} and \mathcal{T}' are leaf equivalent with root-carets of type C_i and C_j respectively with i < j. Then it is possible to increase the type of C_i to C_j using the Increase type algorithm, without adding any new (a_1, a_0) -carets.

Proof. If j = i + 1, then we have shown in Lemma 4.3.11 that it is possible to increase type of the root-caret of \mathcal{T} to be of type C_{i+1} .

If j = i + 2, then the breakpoint $(i + 1)\tau$ is still a breakpoint in \mathcal{T}' , and therefore if we are unable to increase the type of the root-caret of \mathcal{T} to C_{i+1} , then the (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T} must resemble the (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T}^* , shown in figure 4.2. In Lemma 4.3.11, we showed that \mathcal{T}^* cannot contain the breakpoint $(i + 1)\tau$, and so this is a contradiction, so it is in fact possible to use the increase type of the root-caret of \mathcal{T} without adding any new (a_1, a_0) -carets. Therefore there exists an (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T}_1 where $\mathcal{T} \sim \mathcal{T}_1 \sim \mathcal{T}'$, and the root-caret of \mathcal{T}_1 is of type C_{i+1} . Since j = (i + 1) + 1 then we can increase the type of the root-caret of \mathcal{T}_1 to be the same as the type of the root-caret of \mathcal{T}' . Therefore we have increased the type of the root-caret of \mathcal{T} to be the same as the type of the root-caret of \mathcal{T}' . Now suppose that we can increase the type of C_i to be of type C_j for all $j \leq i + N$, for some $N \in \mathbb{N}$, and consider the case where j = N + 1. Then since j = i + N + 1 > i, then $(i+1)\tau$ is certainly a breakpoint in the (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T}' . Therefore by Lemma 4.3.11, if we are unable to increase the type of the root-caret of \mathcal{T} to be of type C_{i+1} then $(i+1)\tau$ is not a breakpoint in \mathcal{T} . Since $\mathcal{T} \sim \mathcal{T}'$, this is a contradiction, so we are able to increase the type of the root-caret of \mathcal{T} to be of type C_1 . We call this new (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T}_1 , and note that $\mathcal{T} \sim \mathcal{T}_1 \sim \mathcal{T}'$, and the type of the root-caret of \mathcal{T}_1 is C_{i+1} .

In particular $\mathcal{T}_1 \sim \mathcal{T}'$ and the root-carets are of type C_{i+1} and C_j respectively, where j = (i+1)+N. Therefore it is possible to increase the type of the root-caret of \mathcal{T}_1 to be of type C_j without adding any new (a_1, a_0) -carets. Therefore we have increased the type of the root-caret of \mathcal{T} to be of type C_j . By induction, we have reached our result.

Lemma 4.3.13. If \mathcal{T}_1 and \mathcal{T}_2 are leaf-equivalent connected (a_1, a_0) -trees, then it is possible to graft from \mathcal{T} to \mathcal{T}' by using the Increase type and Decrease type algorithms.

Proof. We prove this by induction on the depth of the (a_1, a_0) -trees \mathcal{T} and \mathcal{T}' . The result is trivial for \mathcal{T} and \mathcal{T}' of depth 0 and 1. Suppose \mathcal{T} is a connected (a_1, a_0) -tree of depth 2.

Suppose that for if \mathcal{T} and \mathcal{T}' are any (a_1, a_0) -trees of depth $d \leq N$ for some $N \in \mathbb{N}$ with $\mathcal{T} \sim \mathcal{T}'$, then it is possible to graft from \mathcal{T} to \mathcal{T}_2 using the Increase type and Decrease type algorithms.

Now let \mathcal{T} and \mathcal{T}' be connected (a_1, a_0) -trees of depth N + 1 and let $\mathcal{T} \sim \mathcal{T}'$. Let R and R' be the root-carets of \mathcal{T}_1 and \mathcal{T}' respectively. If type(R) = type(R'), then we consider the sub-trees $\mathcal{T}_{R(j)}$ and $\mathcal{T}'_{R'(j)}$ for $1 \leq j \leq K$. These are both connected (a_1, a_0) -trees of depth N or N - 1 and must be leaf-equivalent, and as such we by our inductive hypothesis it is possible to graft from one to the other using the Increase type and Decrease type algorithms. Therefore if type(R) = type(R') then we can graft from \mathcal{T} to \mathcal{T}' by using the Increase type and Decrease type algorithms.

If $type(R) \neq type(R')$, then without loss of generality suppose that $type(R) = C_i < type(R') = C_j$. Then by Corollary 4.3.12 we can increase the type of R to be of type C_j , without adding any new (a_1, a_0) -carets. Call this new (a_1, a_0) -tree $\overline{\mathcal{T}}$. Then $\overline{\mathcal{T}}$ and \mathcal{T}' are leaf-equivalent connected (a_1, a_0) -trees of depth N + 1 with root-carets of the same type, and as shown earlier, this allows us to graft the sub-trees $\overline{\mathcal{T}}_{R(j)}$ to be $\mathcal{T}'_{R(j)}$ for each $1 \leq j \leq K$.

Therefore, by induction we can graft any connected (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T} to a leaf-equivalent connected (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T}' using only the Increase type and Decrease type algorithms.

We have already seen that the positive connected (a_1, a_0) -generators form a generating set for F_{β} ,

and have found two types of relations:

$$R_{1}:\alpha_{i}\gamma_{j} = \gamma_{j+K-1}\alpha_{i} \qquad \text{for } i < j, \alpha, \gamma \in \{[C_{0}], \dots, [C_{a_{0}}]\},$$

$$R_{3}:[C_{r}]_{j+i+a_{0}}[C_{i}]_{j} = [C_{r+a_{0}}]_{j} + i[C_{i+1}]_{j} \qquad \text{for } 0 \le r \le a_{1} - a_{0}.$$

If there is any other type of relation, which cannot be derived from R_1 and R_3 , on the positive (a_1, a_0) -generators, then for some i_1, \ldots, i_{a_0}

$$[C_{i_1}]_{j_1}\cdots [C_{i_t}]_{j_t} = [C'_{i_1}]_{j'_1}\cdots [C'_{i_t}]_{j'_t}.$$

This equates to there being two equivalent positive (a_1, a_0) -tree pairs $(\mathcal{T}_1, Sp(\mathcal{T}_1))$ and $(\mathcal{T}_2, Sp(\mathcal{T}_2))$ in which $\mathcal{T}_1 \sim \mathcal{T}_2$. The (a_1, a_0) -trees \mathcal{T}_1 and \mathcal{T}_2 are leaf-equivalent connected (a_1, a_0) -trees and so by Lemma 4.3.13, we can graft from \mathcal{T}_1 to \mathcal{T}_2 using the Increase type and Decrease type algorithms. These algorithms describe the relation R_3 , and so there cannot be any other relations on the positive connected (a_1, a_0) -generators.

Thus we have proved the following.

Proposition 4.3.14. A presentation for F_{β}

$$F_{\beta} = \left\langle [C_0]_{j_1}, \dots, [C_{a_1}]_{j_{a_1}} \text{ for } j_i \ge 0 \middle| R_1, R_3 \right\rangle$$

where the relations R_1 and R_3 are:

$$R_{1}:\alpha_{i}\gamma_{j} = \gamma_{j+K-1}\alpha_{i} \qquad \text{for } i < j, \alpha, \gamma \in \{[C_{0}], \dots, [C_{a_{0}}]\},$$

$$R_{3}:[C_{r}]_{j+i+a_{0}}[C_{i}]_{j} = [C_{r+a_{0}}]_{j} + i[C_{i+1}]_{j} \qquad \text{for } 0 \le r \le a_{1} - a_{0}.$$

4.3.15 x, z-caret relations

Definition 4.3.16.

The connected (a_1, a_0) -carets of type C_0 and C_{a_0} are called (a_1, a_0) -carets of type x, z.

The connected (a_1, a_0) -generators of type x, z are $\{x_j = [C_0]_j, z_j = [C_{a_0}]_j\}_{j \ge 0}$.

Lemma 4.3.17. Let $[C_i]_j$ be the connected (a_1, a_0) -generator for some $0 \le i \le a_0$. Then

$$z_j z_{j+1} \cdots z_{j+i-1} x_{j+i+a_0} x_{j+i+a_0+1} \cdots x_{j+2a_0} [C_i]_j = x_{j+a_0} x_{j+a_0+1} \cdots x_{j+2a_0-1}.$$

Proof. Much like in Lemma 4.3.7, for some positive element $g = (\mathcal{T}, Sp(\mathcal{T}))$ the (a_1, a_0) -tree constructed by taking

$$z_j z_{j+1} \cdots z_{j+i-1} x_{j+i+a_0} x_{j+i+a_0+1} \cdots x_{j+2a_0} [C_i]_j \circ g$$

hangs an (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T}_X from the $(j+1)^{th}$ leaf of \mathcal{T} . Call this leaf X. The (a_1, a_0) -tree \mathcal{T} is the same as the tree constructed in Lemma 4.2.12, and so has a leaf-equivalent (a_1, a_0) -tree which contains only x-type carets. Hence

$$z_j z_{j+1} \cdots z_{j+i-1} x_{j+i+a_0} x_{j+i+a_0+1} \cdots x_{j+2a_0} [C_i]_j = x_{j+a_0} x_{j+a_0+1} \cdots x_{j+2a_0-1}.$$

Example 31. Consider the connected (4,3)-generator $[C_2]_2$. Lemma 4.3.17 tells us that

$$z_2 z_3 x_7 [C_2]_2 = x_5 x_6 x_7 x_2.$$

We will show the (4,3)-trees pairs representing these maps is shown below, not including the (4,3)spines which would be of size 5.



The leaf sequence of both of these (4,3)-trees is

$$(2, 2, 4, 4, 4, 5, 5, 5, 4, 4, 4, 4, 5, 5, 5, 4, 4, 4, 4, 5, 5, 5, 4, 4, 4, 4, 3, 1, 1, 1, 1)$$

Therefore

$$[C_2]_2 = [3, 4, 5]_2 = x_7^{-1} z_3^{-1} z_2^{-1} x_5 x_6 x_7 x_2$$

Remark 40. For any connected (a_1, a_0) -generator $[C_i]_j$, there exists maps P, Q such that P, Q are products of (a_1, a_0) -generators of type x, z, and $Q \circ [C_i]_j = P$. Therefore

$$[C_i]_i = Q^{-1}P,$$

This remark leads us directly to the following proposition.

Proposition 4.3.18. The set $\{x_0, x_1, \ldots, z_0, z_1 \ldots\}$ is a generating set for F_{β} .

We will consider two kinds relations on our x, z-type (a_1, a_0) -generators.

We have already seen the first kind,

$$R_1: \alpha_i \gamma_j = \gamma_{j+K-1} \alpha_i \text{ if } i < j, \text{ for all } \alpha, \gamma \in \{x, z\}.$$

The second kind of relation on the (a_1, a_0) -generators of x, z-type, comes from our basic moves and is a variation of Lemma 4.3.17.



Example 32. Let \mathcal{T} be a right aligned (2, 2)-tree, and let R be the i^{th} leaf of \mathcal{T} . If $g = (\mathcal{T}, SP(\mathcal{T}))$, a positive element of F_{β} , we will see that

$$x_{i+2} \circ x_{i+3} \circ x_i \circ g = z_i \circ z_{i+1} \circ z_i \circ g.$$

Below are the sub-trees hanging from R after having post-composed by $x_{i+2} \circ x_{i+3} \circ x_i$ and $z_i \circ z_{i+1} \circ z_i$ respectively.



These (a_1, a_0) -trees are leaf-equivalent, and so the composition of (a_1, a_0) -generators satisfy

 $x_{i+2} \circ x_{i+3} \circ x_i = z_i \circ z_{i+1} \circ z_i.$

Lemma 4.3.19. For all $g \in F_{\beta}$, there exists P, Q such that $g = Q^{-1}P$ and P and Q are of the form

$$P = \alpha_{j_1}^{(1)} \cdots \alpha_{j_r}^{(r)}$$

for $\alpha^{(i)} \in \{x, z\}$.

Proof. In Remark 40, we noted that any $g \in F_{\beta}$ can be expressed as the composition of (a_1, a_0) generators of type x, z and their inverses. We want to be able to move all of the inverse (a_1, a_0) generators of type x, z to the left of this list. We will use the relations R_1 and R_2 . We have

$$R_1: \alpha_i \gamma_j = \gamma_{j+K-1} \alpha_i \text{ for } i < j \text{ and } \alpha, \gamma \in \{x, z\}.$$

From R_1 , we can find the following expressions for i < j and $\alpha, \gamma \in \{x, z\}$:

$$\gamma_j \alpha_i^{-1} = \alpha_i^{-1} \gamma_{j+K-1} \quad \text{and} \quad \alpha_i \gamma_j^{-1} = \gamma_{j+k-1}^{-1} \alpha_i.$$

Therefore, if the pair of (a_1, a_0) -generators $\alpha_i \gamma_j^{-1}$ for $i \neq j$, appears in the expression for g in terms of x, z-type generators, then we can move the inverses to the left.

If i = j, then we need to consider the relation R_2 :

$$R_2: x_{j+a_0} x_{j+a_0+1} \cdots x_{j+a_0} x_j = z_j z_{j+1} \cdots z_{j+a_0-1} z_j.$$

From R_2 , we can find the following expressions for $x_j z_j^{-1}$ and $z_j x_j^{-1}$:

$$x_{j}z_{j}^{-1} = x_{j+2a_{0}}^{-1} \cdots x_{j+a_{0}+1}^{-1}x_{j+a_{0}}^{-1}z_{j}z_{j+1} \cdots z_{j+a_{0}-1}$$
$$z_{j}x_{j}^{-1} = z_{j+a_{0}-1}^{-1} \cdots z_{j+1}^{-1}z_{j}^{-1}x_{j+a_{0}}x_{j+a_{0}+1} \cdots x_{j+2a_{0}}.$$

162

We have now covered a method to swap any expression $\alpha_i \gamma_j^{-1}$ for an expression in which all negative (a_1, a_0) -generators are to the left of the positive generators. This means that we can find P, Q generated by positive (a_1, a_0) -generators of type x, z, such that $g = Q^{-1}P$.

For all β the root of a quadratic Pisot subdivision polynomial $f_{\beta} = X^2 - a_1 X - a_0$, we can find a presentation for F_{β} .

Theorem 4.3.20. For β the positive zero of the Pisot subdivision polynomial $f_{\beta} = X^2 - a_1 X - a_0$,

$$F_{\beta} = \left\langle x_0, x_1, x_2, \dots, z_0, z_1, z_2, \dots \middle| R_1, R_2 \right\rangle$$

with the relations:

$$R_{1}: x_{i}x_{j} = x_{j+K-1}x_{i} \forall i < j$$

$$x_{i}z_{j} = z_{j+K-1}x_{i} \forall i < j$$

$$z_{i}x_{j} = x_{j+K-1}z_{i} \forall i < j$$

$$z_{i}z_{j} = z_{j+K-1}z_{i} \forall i < j$$

$$R_{2}: x_{i+a_{0}}x_{i+a_{0}+1}\cdots x_{i+2a_{0}-1}x_{i} = z_{i}z_{i+1}\cdots z_{i+a_{0}-1}z_{i} \forall i \geq 0.$$

Proof. We have already shown that the (a_1, a_0) -generators of type x, z form a generating set for F_{β} .

We consider the relations on the generating set of connected (a_1, a_0) -generators. We will show that these relations reduce to the relations R_1 and R_2 when we substitute each $[C_i]_j$ for an expression in terms of (a_1, a_0) -generators of type x, z.

The relation R_1 is the same, and is representative of the ability to hang non-intersecting sub-trees in any order. We have already noted that the relation R_2 can be derived by repeating the relation R_3 , and by choosing r = 0 every time:

$$R_3: [C_r]_{j+i+a_0} [C_i]_j = [C_{r+a_0}]_{j+i} [C_{i+1}]_j.$$

We can rearrange this to find an expression for $[C_{i+1}]_j$ in terms of $[C_i]_j, [C_r]_{j+i+a_0}, [C_{r+a_0}]_{j+i}$, for some $0 \le r \le a_1 - a_0$. This gives us

$$[C_r]_{j+i+a_0}[C_i]_j = [C_{r+a_0}]_{j+i}[C_{i+1}]_j$$
$$[C_{r+a_0}]_{j+i}^{-1}[C_r]_{j+i+a_0}[C_i]_j = [C_{i+1}]_j.$$

In particular we can choose r = 0, and replace $[C_0], [C_{a_0}]$ with x, z:

$$\begin{split} [C_{i+1}]_j &= z_{j+i}^{-1} x_{j+i+a_0} [C_i]_j \\ &= z_{j+i}^{-1} x_{j+i+a_0} z_{j+i-1}^{-1} x_{j+i+a_0-1} [C_{i-1}]_j \\ &= z_{j+i}^{-1} x_{j+i+a_0} z_{j+i-1}^{-1} x_{j+i+a_0-1} z_{j+i-2}^{-1} x_{j+i+a_0-2} [C_{i-2}]_j. \end{split}$$

Thus for all $[C_i]_j$, we can find an expression in terms of (a_1, a_0) -generators of type x, z.

$$\begin{split} [C_i]_j &= z_{j+i-1}^{-1} x_{j+i+a_0-1} [C_{i-1}]_j \\ &= z_{j+i-1}^{-1} x_{j+i+a_0-1} z_{j+i-2}^{-1} x_{j+i+a_0-2} [C_{i-2}]_j \\ \vdots \\ &= z_{j+i-1}^{-1} x_{j+i+a_0-1} z_{j+i-2}^{-1} x_{j+i+a_0-2} \cdots z_{j+1}^{-1} x_{j+a_0+1} [C_{i-(i-1)}]_j \\ &= z_{j+i-1}^{-1} x_{j+i+a_0-1} z_{j+i-2}^{-1} x_{j+i+a_0-2} \cdots z_{j+1}^{-1} x_{j+a_0+1} z_j^{-1} x_{j+a_0} [C_{i-i}]_j \\ &= z_{j+i-1}^{-1} x_{j+i+a_0-1} z_{j+i-2}^{-1} x_{j+i+a_0-2} \cdots z_{j+1}^{-1} x_{j+a_0+1} z_j^{-1} x_{j+a_0} x_j. \end{split}$$

We consider the relation R_3 , and start by replacing $[C_{i+1}]_j$. Then

$$[C_r]_{j+i+a_0}[C_i]_j = [C_{r+a_0}]_{j+i}[C_{i+1}]_j$$
$$= [C_{r+a_0}]_{j+i}z_{j+i}^{-1}x_{j+i+a_0}[C_i]_j$$
$$[C_r]_{j+i+a_0} = [C_{r+a_0}]_{j+i}z_{j+i}^{-1}x_{j+i+a_0}.$$

Now we can replace $[C_r]_{j+i+a_0}$ with (a_1, a_0) -generators of type x, z. Then

$$\begin{split} [C_r]_{j+i+a_0} &= z_{j+i+a_0+r-1}^{-1} x_{j+i+a_0+r+a_0-1} [C_{r-1}]_{j+i+a_0} \\ &\vdots \\ &= z_{j+i+a_0+r-1}^{-1} x_{j+i+a_0+r+a_0-1} \cdots z_{j+i+a_0+(r-s)}^{-1} x_{j+i+a_0+a_0+(r-s)} [C_{r-s}]_{j+i+a_0} \\ &\vdots \\ &= z_{j+i+a_0+r-1}^{-1} x_{j+i+a_0+r+a_0-1} \cdots z_{j+i+a_0}^{-1} x_{j+i+a_0+a_0} [C_0]_{j+i+a_0} \\ &= z_{j+i+a_0+r-1}^{-1} x_{j+i+a_0+r+a_0-1} \cdots z_{j+i+a_0}^{-1} x_{j+i+2a_0} x_{j+i+a_0}. \end{split}$$

4.3. A PRESENTATION FOR F_{β}

We can also replace $[C_{r+a_0}]_{j+i}$:

$$\begin{split} [C_{r+a_0}]_{j+i} &= z_{j+i+r+a_0-1}^{-1} x_{j+i+r+a_0+a_0-1} [C_{r+a_0-1}]_{j+i} \\ &\vdots \\ &= z_{j+i+r+a_0-1}^{-1} x_{j+i+r+a_0+a_0-1} \cdots z_{j+i+(r+a_0-s)}^{-1} x_{j+i+a_0+(r+a_0-s)} [C_{r+a_0-s}]_{i+j} \\ &\vdots \\ &= z_{j+i+r+a_0-1}^{-1} x_{j+i+r+a_0+a_0-1} \cdots z_{j+i+1}^{-1} x_{j+i+a_0+1} [C_1]_{i+j} \\ &= z_{j+i+r+a_0-1}^{-1} x_{j+i+r+a_0+a_0-1} \cdots z_{j+i}^{-1} x_{j+i+a_0} x_{i+j}. \end{split}$$

Note here that the first (a_1, a_0) -generators of type x, z in the expressions for $[C_r]_{j+i+a_0}$ and $[C_{r+a_0}]_{j+i}$ are identical, as $j + i + a_0 + r + a_0 - 1 = j + i + r + a_0 + a_0 - 1$. In fact

$$[C_r]_{j+i+a_0} = [C_{r+a_0}]_{j+i} z_{j+i}^{-1} x_{j+i+a_0}$$
$$x_{j+i+a_0} = z_{j+i+a_0-1}^{-1} x_{j+i+a_0+a_0-1} \cdots z_{j+i}^{-1} x_{i+j+a_0} x_{j+i} z_{j+i}^{-1} x_{j+i+a_0}.$$

Pre-composing with $x_{j+1+a_0}^{-1} z_{i+j}$ gives us

$$z_{j+i} = z_{j+i+a_0-1}^{-1} x_{j+i+a_0+a_0-1} \cdots z_{j+i}^{-1} x_{i+j+a_0} x_{j+i}$$

If we let t = j + i, this becomes.

$$z_t = z_{t+a_0-1}^{-1} x_{t+a_0+a_0-1} \cdots z_{t+1}^{-1} x_{t+a_0+1} z_t^{-1} x_{t+a_0} x_t.$$
(4.1)

In Lemma 4.3.19, we saw that $x_j z_i^{-1} = z_i^{-1} x_{j+(K-1)}$. If we consider the right hand side of equation (4.1), we notice that for each $x_j z_i^{-1}$, i < j. In fact, every *x*-type generator has higher index than every negative *z*-type generator. Therefore we can move all our *x*-type generators to the right of the *z*-type generators.

$$z_t = z_{t+a_0-1}^{-1} \cdots z_{t+1}^{-1} z_t^{-1} x_{t+a_0+a_0-1+(K-1)(a_0-1)} \cdots x_{t+a_0+1+(K-1)} x_{t+a_0} x_t$$

 $z_t z_{t+1} \cdots z_{t+a_0-1} z_t = x_{t+a_0+a_0-1+(K-1)(a_0-1)} \cdots x_{t+a_0+1+(K-1)} x_{t+a_0} x_t.$

From the relation R_1 , we see that $x_{j+(K-1)}x_i = x_ix_j$ for all i < j. In the equation above, the first two terms $x_{t+2a_0-1+(K-1)(a_0-1)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}$ satisfy the conditions of the first relation:

$$x_{t+2a_0-1+(K-1)(a_0-1)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)} = x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-1+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-1+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-1+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}x_{t+2a_0-2}x_{t+2a_0-2}x_{t+2a_0-2}x_{t+2a_0-2}x_{t+2a_0-2}x_{t+2a_0-2}x_{t+2a_0-2}x_{t+2a_0-2}x_{t+2a_0-2}x_{t+2a_0-2}x_{t+2a_0-2}x_{t+2a_0-2}x_{t+2a_0-2}x_{t+2a_0-2}x_{t+2a_0-2}x_{t+2a_0-2$$

In fact, using R_1 , we can move move $x_{t+2a_0-1+(K-1)(a_0-1)}$ past the next a_0-1 x-type generators:

$$z_t z_{t+1} \cdots z_{t+a_0-1} z_t = x_{t+a_0+a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)} \cdots x_{t+a_0+1+(K-1)} x_{t+a_0} x_{t+2a_0-1} x_t.$$

Similarly we can now move $x_{t+2a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)}$ past the next $a_0 - 2$ x-type generators. We can repeat this process until there are no x-type generators have an added (K-1) in their subscripts.

$$\begin{aligned} z_t z_{t+1} \cdots z_{t+a_0-1} z_t &= x_{t+a_0+a_0-1+(K-1)(a_0-1)} \cdots x_{t+a_0+1+(K-1)} x_{t+a_0} x_t \\ &= x_{t+a_0+a_0-2+(K-1)(a_0-2)} \cdots x_{t+a_0+1+(K-1)} x_{t+a_0} x_{t+2a_0-1} x_t \\ &\vdots \\ &= x_{t+a_0+1+(K-1)} x_{t+a_0} x_{t+a_0+2} \cdots x_{t+2a_0-1} x_t \\ &= x_{t+a_0} x_{t+a_0+1} x_{t+a_0+2} x_{t+a_0+3} \cdots x_{t+2a_0-1} x_t. \end{aligned}$$

This is exactly the relation R_2 . Therefore, the relations R_1 and R_3 in connected (a_1, a_0) -generators collapse down to the two relations R_1 and R_2 in just (a_1, a_0) -generators of type x, z. So a presentation for F_β is

$$F_{\beta} = \langle x_0, x_1, x_2, \dots, z_0, z_1, z_2, \dots | R_1, R_2 \rangle$$

with the relations

$$R_1: \quad x_i x_j = x_{j+K-1} x_i \ \forall \ i < j$$
$$x_i z_j = z_{j+K-1} x_i \ \forall \ i < j$$
$$z_i x_j = x_{j+K-1} z_i \ \forall \ i < j$$
$$z_i z_j = z_{j+K-1} z_i \ \forall \ i < j$$

 $R_2: \quad x_{i+a_0}x_{i+a_0+1}\cdots x_{i+2a_0-1}x_i = z_i z_{i+1}\cdots z_{i+a_0-1}z_i \ \forall \ i \ge 0.$

166

4.4 Abelianizations

4.4.1 Orbits in F_{β}

In [5], the case $a_0 = 1$, Brown found a presentation for F_β , and this presentation has been used to find F_β^{ab} . The abelianisation of all of the cases contained 2-torsion, and a free abelian group of rank $K = a_1 + a_0$.

In fact, given an irreducible subdivision polynomial $f_{\beta} = X^n - a_{n-1}X^{n-1} - \cdots - a_1X - a_0$ and corresponding positive real zero β , β not necessarily Pisot, Nucinkis has given a proof that the abelianisation of F_{β} has an embedded free group of rank K, where $K = a_{n-1} + a_{n-2} + \cdots + a_1 + a_0$. This result is in fact a variant on a result by Bieri and Strebel, and so whilst the work below was completed in private communications with Nucinkis, the credit for the result goes to Bieri and Strebel. This result can be found in section 5 of their work [10].

Result from Bieri and Strebel

Let β be the positive real zero of an irreducible subdivision polynomial

$$f_{\beta} = X^n - a_{n-1}X^{n-1} - a_{n-2}X^{n-2} - \dots - a_1X - a_0$$

and let $\tau = \frac{1}{\beta}$ Recall that $\mathbb{Z}[\tau] = \mathbb{Z}[\beta][\frac{1}{\beta}]$, as $\beta \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau]$.

Lemma 4.4.2.

There is a well defined surjective ring homomorphism

$$\pi: \mathbb{Z}[\beta] \to \mathbb{Z}/(K-1)\mathbb{Z}$$

where $K = a_{n-1} + \dots + a_1 + a_0$.

Proof. There is a well defined surjective ring-homomorphism (evaluation at X = 1)

$$p: \quad \mathbb{Z}[X] \quad \twoheadrightarrow \quad \mathbb{Z}$$
$$\sum_{i=0}^{m} b_i X^i \longmapsto \quad \sum_{i=0}^{m} b_i$$

Hence $p(f_{\beta}(X)) = -(K-1)$, and the projection onto $\mathbb{Z}/(K-1)\mathbb{Z}$ now extends to

$$\pi: \mathbb{Z}[X]/(f_{\beta}(X)) \twoheadrightarrow \mathbb{Z}/(K-1)\mathbb{Z}.$$

The claim follows from the fact that

$$\mathbb{Z}[X]/(f_{\beta}(X)) \cong \mathbb{Z}[\beta].$$

Recall the corollary to Theorem 2.2.19: Every element $x \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau]$ has an of the form

$$x = \frac{b_0 + b_1\beta + \dots + b_{n-1}\beta^{n-1}}{\beta^m}$$

where $b_i, m \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$.

Note that $\beta^0, \beta^1, \dots, \beta^{n-1} \ge 1$, which leads to the following remark. Remark 41. Let $x \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau] \cap (0, 1)$, there is an expression for x in the form

$$x = \frac{b_0 + b_1\beta + \dots + b_{n-1}\beta^{n-1}}{\beta^m}$$

where $m, b_i \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$.

In fact, for any given x there will not necessarily be an expression of this form with m = 0. Once a value for m for which there is an expression for x is found, say $m = \mu$, then there will also be an expression in this form where we take $m = \mu + t$ for any $t \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$. This means there must always be a minimal choice of $m \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ for such an expression for each $x \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau] \cap (0, 1)$.

Proposition 4.4.3.

There is a well-defined surjective ring-homomorphism

$$\pi: \qquad \mathbb{Z}[\tau] \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z}/(K-1)\mathbb{Z}$$
$$\frac{b_0 + b_1\beta + \dots + b_{n-1}\beta^{n-1}}{\beta^m} \longmapsto b_0 + b_1 + \dots + b_{n-1}.$$

Proof. This follows from Remark 41, and we see that the well-definedness relies on β being mapped to $\overline{1}$ by the homomorphism of Lemma 4.4.2.

168

Orbits of G_{β}

By Proposition 4.4.3, the breakpoints of the elements in G_{β} fall into K-1 classes. Now we will show that this implies that there are K-1 orbits in $\mathbb{Z}[\tau] \cap (0,1)$ under the action of G_{β} .

Lemma 4.4.4.

Let $g \in G_{\beta}$, and $x \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau] \cap (0,1)$, a breakpoint of g such that $\pi(x) \equiv_{(K-1)} i$. Then $\pi(f(x)) \equiv_{(K-1)} i$.

Proof. Let $l \in \mathbb{Z}$. Suppose $0 \le l \le n-1$. Then clearly $\pi(\beta^l) = 1$. Note that for l < 0, $\beta^l = \tau^{|l|} = \frac{1}{\beta^{|l|}}$, and so $\pi(\beta^l) = 1$. Now if $l \ge n$, $\beta^l = a_{n-1}\beta^{l-1} + a_{n-2}\beta^{l-2} + \dots + a_1\beta^{l-(n-1)} + a_0\beta^{l-n}$. Therefore

$$\pi(\beta^n) = \pi \left(a_{n-1}\beta^{n-1} + a_{n-2}\beta^{n-2} + \dots + a_1\beta + a_0 \right)$$
$$= a_{n-1} + a_{n-2} + \dots + a_1 + a_0$$
$$= K \equiv_{(K-1)} 1.$$

As π is a ring homomorphism, $\pi(\beta^{n+1}) = \pi(\beta) \times \pi(\beta^n) = 1 \times K = K \equiv_{(K-1)} 1$. We can repeat this for $\pi(\beta^{n+2})$, and realise that for all $l \in \mathbb{Z}$

$$\pi(\tau^l) = \pi(\beta^{-l}) \equiv_{(K-1)} 1.$$

Now suppose that $x = x_1$ is the first breakpoint of g. Then there is there is $l_1 \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that $g(x_1) = \beta^{l_1} x_1 = y_1$. Hence

$$\pi(y_1) = \pi(g(x_1)) = \pi(\beta^{l_1} x_1) = \pi(\beta^{l_1})\pi(x_1) = \pi(x_1).$$

Now suppose that $x = x_t$, the t^{th} breakpoint in g, and that $\pi(y_{t-1}) = \pi(g(x_{t-1})) \equiv_{(K-1)} \pi(x_{t-1})$, where (x_{t-1}, y_{t-1}) is the $(t-1)^{th}$ breakpoint of g. Then the line segment from the $(t-1)^{th}$ breakpoint to the t^{th} breakpoint is found by taking

$$y_t - y_{t-1} = \tau^{l_t} (x_t - x_{t-1})$$

for some $l_t \in \mathbb{Z}$. Therefore

$$\pi(y_t - y_{t-1}) = \pi \left(\beta^{l_t}(x_t - x_{t-1})\right)$$
$$\pi(y_t) - \pi(y_{t-1}) = \pi(\beta^{l_t})(\pi(x_t) - \pi(x_{t-1}))$$
$$\pi(y_t) = \pi(x_t) - \pi(x_{t-1}) + \pi(y_{t-1}).$$

Since $\pi(y_{t-1}) = \pi(g(x_{t-1})) \equiv_{(K-1)} \pi(x_{t-1}),$

$$\pi(y_t) = \pi(g(x_t)) \equiv_{(K-1)} \pi(x_t)$$

By induction, if $x \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau] \cap (0,1)$ is a breakpoint in $g \in G_{\beta}$ then $\pi(g(x)) \equiv_{(K-1)} \pi(x)$.

Therefore for any two breakpoints $x, y \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau] \cap (0, 1)$ such that x and y lie in the same G_{β} -orbit, $\pi(x) \equiv_{(K-1)} \pi(y).$

Lemma 4.4.5.

Any two elements $x, y \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau] \cap (0, 1)$ such that $\pi(x) \equiv_{(K-1)} \pi(y)$ lie in the same G_{β} -orbit.

Proof. Remark 41, tells us that we can find expressions for x and y in the form

$$x = \frac{b_0 + b_1 \beta + \dots + b_{n-1} \beta^{n-1}}{\beta_1^m}$$
 and $y = \frac{c_0 + c_1 \beta + \dots + c_{n-1} \beta^{n-1}}{\beta_2^m}$

where $b_i, c_i \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$, and $m_1, m_2 > 0$. Furthermore, by assumption

$$\pi(x) = b_0 + b_1 + \dots + b_{n-1} \equiv_{(K-1)} c_0 + c_1 + \dots + c_{n-1} = \pi(y).$$

Since $b_i, c_i \ge 0$ for each *i*, we can subdivide the intervals (0, x) and (0, y) into the sub-intervals which are powers of β . The subdivision of (0, x) will contain $\pi(x) = \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} b_i$ sub-intervals, b_0 of length β^{-m_1}, b_1 of length $\beta^{1-m_1}, \ldots, b_i$ of length β^{i-m_1}, \ldots , and b_{n-1} of length β^{n-1-m_1} . Similarly the interval (0, y) can be subdivided into $\pi(y) = \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} c_i$ sub-intervals.

Without loss of generality, we can assume that $\pi(x) = \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} b_i \leq \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} c_i = \pi(y)$. I.e.,

$$\pi(x) = \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} b_i + l(K-1) = \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} c_i = \pi(y)$$

for some $l \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$. If l = 0, then the subdivisions of (0, x) and (0, y) contain the same number of subintervals. If l > 0, then consider the first sub-interval in the subdivision of (0, x). Let this interval be I_1 and have length β^{i-m_1} for some $0 \le i \le n-1$. Then we can subdivide the interval $I_1 = [0, \beta^{i-m_1}]$ into K smaller sub-intervals using

$$\beta^{i-m_1} = a_{n-1}\beta^{i-m_1-1} + \dots + a_1\beta^{i-m_1-(n-1)} + a_0\beta^{i-m_1-n}$$

By replacing I_1 in the subdivision of (0, x) with this subdivision, we have subdivided (0, x) into $\pi(x) + K - 1 = \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} b_i + (K - 1)$ sub-intervals, each of length which is a power of β . We can repeat this process l times, until we have subdivided the interval (0, x) into $\pi(x) + l(K - 1) = \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} b_i + l(k-1) = \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} c_i = \pi(y)$ sub-intervals each with length a power of β . As $\pi(x) = \pi(y)$, then

$$\pi(1-x) = \pi(1) - \pi(x) = \pi(1) - \pi(y) = \pi(1-y)$$

and so we can similarly subdivide the intervals (x, 1) and (1-y) into the same number of sub-intervals. We have then found two β -subdivisions S_1 and S_2 of [0,1] such that the $\pi(y)^{th}$ of S_1 is x and of S_2 is y. We can therefore construct an element $g = (S_1, S_2) \in G_\beta$ such that y = g(x), and (x, y) is a breakpoint of g. Therefore, x and y lie in the same G_β -orbit.

There are now K - 1 possible orbits for the elements $x \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau] \cap (0, 1)$. By including the points 0 and 1, which are fixed points under action by elements of \mathcal{G}_{β} , the combination of Lemma 4.4.4 and Lemma 4.4.5 proves the following theorem.

Theorem 4.4.6. There are K + 1 orbits of elements in $\mathbb{Z}[\tau] \cap [0, 1]$ under the action of F_{β} .

We now consider the abelianisation of G_{β} .

Theorem 4.4.7.

The abelianisation of G_{β} contains a free abelian sub-group of rank K.

Proof. We begin by showing that there is a homomorphism ϕ from G_{β} to the free abelian group of rank N + 2. Let $g \in G_{\beta}$.

For each breakpoint $b \in [0, 1]$ of g, we denote by l_b^g the gradient of the left slope, and by r_b^g the gradient of the right slope of g at b.

The breakpoints of g fall into K - 2 distinct orbits \mathcal{O}_i , for $i \in \{1, \ldots, K - 1\}$. For each orbit \mathcal{O}_i , we define a number s_i^g as follows

$$s_i^g = \sum_{j=1}^{t_i} \left(-\log(l_{b_j}^g) + \log(r_{b_j}^g) \right).$$

Here k_i is the number of breakpoints of g that lie in $\mathcal{O}_i, b_j \in [0, 1]$ is one of those breakpoints in g, and the log is of base β . We then define

$$\phi: G_{\beta} \to \mathbb{Z}^{K+1}$$
$$g \longmapsto \left(log(r_0^g), s_1^g, \dots, s_{K-1}^g, log(l_1^g) \right).$$

This does indeed satisfy the properties of a group homomorphism, as slopes of linear functions are multiplicative, and since all gradients of these slopes are powers of β the logarithms are additive.

Note that if we were to refine the list of breakpoints, and include points in which the gradient of g does not change, then $\phi(g)$ will remain the same, as for any "non-proper" breakpoint b, $l_b^g = r_b^g$.

We also observe that

$$log(r_0^g) + s_1^g + \dots + s_{K-1}^g + log(l_1^g) = 0.$$

Therefore we can induce the following surjective homomorphism:

$$\phi: G_{\beta} \twoheadrightarrow \mathbb{Z}^{K}$$
$$g \longmapsto \left(log(r_{0}^{g}) - log(l_{1}^{g}), s_{1}^{g}, \dots, s_{K-1}^{g} \right)$$

as required.

This result is in line with previous results on F_n for $n \in \mathbb{N}$, and for \mathbb{F}_{β} where β is the golden mean. In general if the group F_{β} has a description of elements in tree-pair diagrams then K is equal to the number of legs in a caret.

4.4.8 The group $F_{\beta_n}^{ab}$

We will look at the case with β_n , positive real zero of the subdivision polynomial

$$f_{\beta_n} = X^2 - (n+1)X - n$$

for some $n \in \mathbb{N}$. We will aim to find the group $F_{\beta_n}^{ab}$. Note, that here K = 2n + 1.

From Theorem 4.3.20 we have the presentation for the group F_{β} :

$$F_{\beta} = \left\langle x_0, x_1, x_2, \dots, z_0, z_1, z_2, \dots \left| R_1, R_2 \right\rangle \text{ with the relations} \right.$$

$$R_1: x_i x_j = x_{j+2n} x_i \forall i < j$$

$$x_i z_j = z_{j+2n} x_i \forall i < j$$

$$z_i x_j = x_{j+2n} z_i \forall i < j$$

$$z_i z_j = z_{j+2n} z_i \forall i < j$$

 $R_2: \ x_{i+n}x_{i+n+1}\cdots x_{i+2n-1}x_i = z_i z_{i+1}\cdots z_{i+n-1}z_i \ \forall \ i \in \mathbb{N}.$

A presentation for $F^{ab}_{\beta_n}$ is gained by adding a third relation

$$R_3: g_i h_j = h_j g_i \ \forall \ i, j \text{ and for } h, g \in \{x, z\}.$$

The addition of the relation R_3 , allows us to find a smaller generating set for $F_{\beta_n}^{ab}$.

Lemma 4.4.9. $F^{ab}_{\beta_n}$ is generated by the set

$$\{x_0, x_1, \ldots, x_{2n}, z_0, z_1, \ldots, z_{2n}\}$$

Proof. The set $\{x_0, x_1, x_2, \ldots, z_0, z_1, z_2, \ldots\}$ is clearly a generating set. We consider what happens when we use a combination of the relations R_1 and R_3 .

$$x_i x_j = x_{j+2n} x_i = x_i x_{j+2n}$$
$$x_j = x_{j+2n} \text{ for } j \ge 1$$
$$x_i z_j = z_{j+2n} x_i = x_i x_{j+2n}$$
$$z_j = z_{j+2n} \text{ for } j \ge 1.$$

Thus we only need $\{x_0, x_1, \ldots, x_{2n}, z_0, z_1, \ldots, z_{2n}\}$ to generate $F_{\beta_n}^{ab}$.

We can then reduce this generating set using the relations R_2 and R_3 .

Lemma 4.4.10. For even $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $F_{\beta_n}^{ab}$ is generated by the set

$$\{x_0, z_0, z_1, \ldots, z_{2n}\}$$

Proof. Consider the family of relations R_2 . For each value $i \in \mathbb{N}_0$, we denote the relation by $R_2(i)$.

i = 0:	$x_n x_{n+1} \cdots x_{2n-1} x_0 = z_0 z_1 \cdots z_{n-1} z_0$
i = 1:	$x_{n+1}x_{n+2}\cdots x_{2n}x_1 = z_1z_2\cdots z_nz_1$
i = 2:	$x_{n+2}x_{n+3}\cdots x_{2n+1}x_2 = z_2z_3\cdots z_{n+1}z_2$
÷	÷
i = n:	$x_{2n}x_{2n+1}\cdots x_{3n-1}x_n = z_n z_{n+1}\cdots z_{2n-1}z_n$
i = n + 1:	$x_{2n+1}x_{2n+2}\cdots x_{3n}x_{n+1} = z_{n+1}z_{n+2}\cdots z_{2n}z_{n+1}$
i = n + 2:	$x_{n+2}x_{2n+3}\cdots x_{3n+1}x_{n+2} = z_{n+2}z_{n+3}\cdots z_{2n+1}z_{n+2}$
÷	÷
= 2n - 2 :	$x_{3n-2}x_{3n-1}\cdots x_{4n-3}x_{2n-2} = z_{2n-2}z_{2n-1}\cdots z_{3n-3}z_{2n-2}$
x = 2n - 1:	$x_{3n-1}x_{3n}\cdots x_{4n-2}x_{2n-1} = z_{2n-1}z_{2n}\cdots z_{3n-2}z_{2n-1}$
i = 2n:	$x_{3n}x_{3n+1}\cdots x_{4n-1}x_{2n} = z_{2n}z_{2n+1}\cdots z_{3n-1}z_{2n}$
÷	÷

In lemma 4.4.9 we saw that $x_j = x_{j+2n}$, and $z_j = z_{j+2n}$ for all $j \ge 1$. This means that we can reduce the number of generators in the 2n + 1 relations above. Since the generators x_0, z_0 do not appear in the list aside from when i = 0, we can confirm that if i = j + 2n for some $j \ge 1$, then

$$R_2(i) = R_2(i-2n) = R_2(j).$$

We can therefore ignore all relations $R_2(i)$ for $i \ge 2n + 1$, as they are equivalent to some relation already in this list.

We can also remove any generator α_j in a given relation in which $j \ge 2n + 1$, as shown in the

i

i

i

i

proof of Lemma 4.4.9. This process repeats until we are left with only the 2n + 1 equations below.

$$\begin{split} i &= 0: \qquad x_n x_{n+1} \cdots x_{2n-1} x_0 = z_0 z_1 \cdots z_{n-1} z_0 \\ i &= 1: \qquad x_{n+1} x_{n+2} \cdots x_{2n} x_1 = z_1 z_2 \cdots z_n z_1 \\ i &= 2: \qquad x_{n+2} x_{n+3} \cdots x_1 x_2 = z_2 z_3 \cdots z_{n+1} z_2 \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ i &= n: \qquad x_{2n} x_1 \cdots x_{n-1} x_n = z_n z_{n+1} \cdots z_{2n-1} z_n \\ i &= n+1: \qquad x_1 x_2 \cdots x_n x_{n+1} = z_{n+1} z_{n+2} \cdots z_{2n} z_{n+1} \\ i &= n+2: \qquad x_2 x_3 \cdots x_{n+1} x_{n+2} = z_{n+2} z_{n+3} \cdots z_1 z_{n+2} \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ i &= 2n-2: \qquad x_{n-2} x_{n-1} \cdots x_{2n-3} x_{2n-2} = z_{2n-2} z_{2n-1} \cdots z_{n-3} z_{2n-2} z_{2n-1} \\ i &= 2n-1: \qquad x_n x_{n+1} \cdots x_{2n-1} x_{2n} = z_{2n} z_1 \cdots z_{n-1} z_{2n} \end{split}$$

We will be assuming that all generators have been reduced to be of type $x_1, \ldots, x_{2n}, z_1, \ldots, z_{2n}$ whenever possible.

We will now convert this to an easier to read form, namely an additive form. This is clearly possible through the map $x_i x_j \longrightarrow x_i + x_j$.

$$\begin{array}{ll} i=0: & x_0+x_n+x_{n+1}+\dots+x_{2n-1}=2z_0+z_1+\dots+z_{n-1} \\ i=1: & x_1+x_{n+1}+x_{n+2}+\dots+x_{2n}=2z_1+z_2+\dots+z_n \\ i=2: & x_2+x_{n+2}+x_{n+3}+\dots+x_1=2z_2+z_3+\dots+z_{n+1} \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ i=n: & x_n+x_{2n}+x_1+\dots+x_{n-1}=2z_n+z_{n+1}+\dots+z_{2n-1} \\ i=n+1: & x_{n+1}+x_1+x_2+\dots+x_n=2z_{n+1}+z_{n+2}+\dots+z_{2n} \\ i=n+2: & x_{n+2}+x_2+x_3+\dots+x_{n+1}=2z_{n+2}+z_{n+3}+\dots+z_1 \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ i=2n-2: & x_{2n-2}+x_{n-2}+x_{n-1}+\dots+x_{2n-3}=2z_{2n-2}+z_{2n-1}+\dots+z_{n-3} \\ i=2m-1: & x_{2n-1}+x_{n-1}+x_n+\dots+x_{2n-2}=2z_{2n-1}+z_{2n}+\dots+z_{n-2} \\ i=2n: & x_{2n}+x_n+x_{n+1}+\dots+x_{2n-1}=2z_{2n}+z_1+\dots+z_{n-1} \end{array}$$

Our goal is to eliminate x_1, \ldots, x_{2n} . To do this we will consider $R_2(1) - R_2(2)$, $R_2(2) - R_2(3), \ldots$, $R_2(2n-1) - R_2(2n)$, and $R_2(2n) - R_2(1)$.

$$\begin{split} R_2(1) - R_2(2): & x_{n+1} - x_2 = 2z_1 - z_2 - z_{n+1} \\ R_2(2) - R_2(3): & x_{n+2} - x_3 = 2z_2 - z_3 - z_{n+2} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ R_2(n-1) - R_2(n): & x_{2n-1} - x_n = 2z_{n-1} - z_n - z_{2n-1} \\ R_2(n) - R_2(n+1): & x_{2n} - x_{n+1} = 2z_n - z_{n+1} - z_{2n} \\ R_2(n+1) - R_2(n+2): & x_1 - x_{n+2} = 2z_{n+1} - z_{n+2} - z_1 \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ R_2(2n-1) - R_2(2n): & x_{n-1} - x_{2n} = 2z_{2n-1} - z_{2n} - z_{n-1} \\ R_2(2n) - R_2(1): & x_n - x_1 = 2z_{2n} - z_1 - z_n \end{split}$$

We have not yet eliminated any generator. Now consider $R_2(2n) - R_2(0)$

$$R_2(2n) - R_2(0)$$
: $x_{2n} - x_0 = 2z_{2n} - z_0$

This rearranges to give

$$x_{2n} = x_0 - 2z_0 + 2z_{2n}.$$

We have now eliminated the generator x_{2n} as it can be found by composing other generators.

Below, the previous $R_2(i) - R_2(i+1)$ have been relabelled. Looking at equation $1, \ldots, 2n$, we see that each of the generators x_1, \ldots, x_{2n} occur exactly twice. This means that x_{2n} can be substituted in to two of these equations.

$$\begin{array}{rcl} 1: & x_{n+1} - x_2 = 2z_1 - z_2 - z_{n+1} \\ 2: & x_{n+2} - x_3 = 2z_2 - z_3 - z_{n+2} \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ n-1: & x_{2n-1} - x_n = 2z_{n-1} - z_n - z_{2n-1} \\ n: & x_{2n} - x_{n+1} = 2z_n - z_{n+1} - z_{2n} \\ n+1: & x_1 - x_{n+2} = 2z_{n+1} - z_{n+2} - z_1 \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ 2n-1: & x_{n-1} - x_{2n} = 2z_{2n-1} - z_{2n} - z_{n-1} \\ 2n: & x_n - x_1 = 2z_{2n} - z_1 - z_n \end{array}$$

We can substitute x_{2n} into either equation n or equation 2n - 1.

Case 1: First we will choose to substitute x_{2n} into equation 2n - 1. In case 1, we will call our generating set $G_1 = \{x_0, x_1, \dots, x_{2n-1}, z_0, z_1, \dots, z_{2n}\}$. We have

$$x_{n-1} - x_{2n} = 2z_{2n-1} - z_{2n} - z_{n-1}$$
so

$$x_{n-1} = x_{2n} + 2z_{2n-1} - z_{2n} - z_{n-1}$$
so

$$= x_0 - 2z_0 + 2z_{2n} + 2z_{2n-1} - z_{2n} - z_{n-1}$$
so

$$= x_0 - 2z_0 - z_{n-1} + 2z_{2n-1} + z_{2n}.$$

We have now written x_{n-1} in terms of other generators of $F_{\beta_n}^{ab}$ and so we can eliminate it from our generating set G_1 . We will note that each of the equations $1, \ldots, 2n$ follows a similar form

$$i: \qquad x_{i+n} - x_{i+1} = 2z_i - z_{i+1} - z_i + n.$$

This means that the other occurrence of x_{n-1} is in equation n-2

$$x_{2n-2} - x_{n-1} = 2z_{n-2} - z_{n-1} - z_{2n-2}$$
 so

$$x_{2n-2} = x_{n-1} + 2z_{n-2} - z_{n-1} - z_{2n-2}$$
 so

$$= x_0 - 2z_0 - z_{n-1} + 2z_{2n-1} + z_{2n} + 2z_{n-2} + 2z_2 - z_{2n-1} - z_{n-2}$$
so
$$= x_0 - 2z_0 + 2z_{n-2} - 2z_{n-1} - Z_{2n-2} + 2Z_{2n-1} + z_{2n}.$$

So we have now eliminated $x_{2n}, x_{n-1}, x_{2n-2}$ from our list of generators. If we continue this process, we would look at equation 2n - 3. Here we would be able to eliminate the first x generator which would be $x_{2n-3+n} \equiv x_{n-3}$. Through this process, once we have eliminated the generator x_i , we consider the equation i - 1, and can then eliminate $x_{i+(n-1)}$.

Case 2: Alternatively, we could start by substituting the generator x_{2n} into equation n. Our generating set will be called $G_2 = \{x_0, x_1, \dots, x_{2n-1}, z_0, z_1, \dots, z_{2n}\}.$

$$x_{2n} - x_{n+1} = 2z_n - z_{n+1} - z_{2n}$$
 so

$$x_{n+1} = x_{2n} - 2z_n + z_{n+1} + z_{2n}$$
 so

$$= x_0 - 2z_0 + 2z_{2n} - 2z_n + z_{n+1} + z_{2n}$$
 so

$$= x_0 - 2z_0 - 2z_n + z_{n+1} + 3z_{2n}.$$

We can thus eliminate x_{n+1} from the generating set G_2 . We can find then substitute x_{n+1} into equation 1.

$$x_{n+1} - x_2 = 2z_1 - z_2 - z_{n+1}$$
so

$$x_2 = x_{n+1} - 2z_1 + z_2 + z_{n+1}$$
so

$$= x_0 - 2z_0 - 2z_n + z_{n+1} + 3z_{2n} - 2z_1 + z_2 + z_{n+1}$$
so

$$= x_0 - 2z_0 - 2Z_1 + z_2 - 2Z_n + 2z_{n+1} + 3Z - 2n.$$

So we have now eliminated x_{2n}, x_{n+1}, x_2 from our list of generators. If we continue this process, we would look at equation n + 3. Here we would be able to eliminate the second x-type generator which will be $x_{n+3+1} \equiv x_{n+4}$. Through this process, once we have eliminated the generator x_i , we consider the equation i + n, and can similarly eliminate $x_{i+(n+1)}$.

Claim: If n is even, we can express the variable x_i in terms of $x_0, z_0, z_1, \ldots, z_{2n}$ for $i \in \{1, \ldots, 2n\}$.

If gcd(n-1, 2n) = 1 or gcd(n+1, 2n) = 1, then either of these processes will reach all of the variables x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_{2n} . Note that gcd(n-1, 2n) = 1 if and only if n is even. Similarly gcd(n+1, 2n) = 1 if and only if n is even.

In either generating set G_1 or G_2 , we will be able to eliminate all of the generators x_1, \ldots, x_{2n} , as long as n is even. Thus we can find a generating set for $F^{ab}_{\beta_n}$, namely

$$G = \{x_0, z_0, z_1, \dots, z_{2n}\}.$$

Now that we have a reduced generating set for the abelianization of $F_{\beta_n}^{ab}$, we can look at the properties of the generators.

Theorem 4.4.11. If $n \in \mathbb{N}$ is even,

$$F_{\beta_n}^{ab} \cong \mathbb{Z}^{2n+1} \oplus \mathbb{Z}/(n+1)\mathbb{Z}$$

Proof. From Theorem 4.4.6, we know that if G_{β} is a Bieri-Strebel group where β is the root of the subdivision polynomial $X^n - a_{n-1}X^{n-1} - a_{n-2}X^{n-2} - \cdots - a_1X - a_0$, then the G_{β}^{ab} has at least K free generators, where $K = a_{n-1} + a_{n-2} + \cdots + a_1 + a_0$.

In the case of our β_n , $f_{\beta_n} = X^2 - (n+1)X - n$, so K = 2n + 1. We know that our Thompson like group \mathbb{F}_{β_n} is a Bieri-Strebel group, so we also know that any generating set for $F_{\beta_n}^{ab}$ must contain at least 2n + 1 free generators. Since our generating set for $F_{\beta_n}^{ab}$ from Lemma 4.4.10 is of size 2n + 2, there must be 2n + 1 free generators and so each must be isomorphic to a generator of \mathbb{Z} .

We will substitute the new expressions for $x_n, x_{n+1}, \ldots, x_{2n-1}$ into the relation from Lemma 4.4.10, $R_2(0)$, which we will relabel as equation 0.

0: $x_0 + x_n + x_{n+1} + \dots + x_{2n+1} = 2z_0 + z_1 + \dots + z_{n-1}.$

In Lemma 4.4.10 we deduced two possible substitutions for the generator x_{2n} , each of which led to the creation of a different generating set. These were labelled G_1 and G_2 . The order in which the generators were eliminated from G_i are as follows

$$G_1: \qquad x_{n-1}, x_{2n-2}, x_{n-3}, x_{2n-4}, x_{n-5}, \dots, x_n$$
$$G_2: \qquad x_{n+1}, x_2, x_{n+3}, x_4, x_{n+5}, \dots, x_n.$$

So if $1 \leq i \leq n$ is even then x_i was eliminated first by G_2 , and if $0 \leq i \leq n$ is odd then x_i is first eliminated by G_1 . Conversely, if $n + 1 \leq j \leq 2n$ is even, then x_j was first eliminated by G_1 , and if $n + 1 \leq j \leq 2n - 1$ is odd then x_i is first eliminated by G_2 . It should be recognised that since n is even, then all x_i will be eliminated in both G_1 and G_2 , and the expression for x_i in terms of $x_0, z_0, z_1, \ldots, z_{2n}$ will be the same in both G_1 and G_2 .

So we will consider the expressions for the eliminated generators first eliminated from G_1 :

$$\begin{aligned} x_{2n} &= x_0 - 2z_0 + 2z_{2n} \\ x_{n-1} &= x_0 - 2z_0 - z_{n-1} + 2z_{2n-1} + z_{2n} \\ x_{2n-2} &= x_0 - 2z_0 + 2z_{n-2} - 2z_{n-1} - z_{2n-2} + 2z_{2n-1} + z_{2n} \\ x_{n-3} &= x_0 - 2z_0 - z_{n-3} + 2z_{n-2} - 2z_{n-1} + 2z_{2n-3} - 2z_{2n-2} + 2z_{2n-1} + z_{2n} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ x_i &= x_{i-(n-1)} + 2z_{i-n} - z_{i-(n-1)} - z_i \\ \vdots & \vdots \end{aligned}$$

We want to find the expressions for x_i , where $n \leq i \leq 2n$ and i even. This allows us to skip every
other generator in the above list, and only consider the evenly labelled generators.

$$\begin{aligned} x_{2n} &= x_0 - 2z_0 + 2z_{2n} \\ x_{2n-2} &= x_0 - 2z_0 + 2z_{n-2} - 2z_{n-1} - z_{2n-2} + 2z_{2n-1} + z_{2n} \\ x_{2n-4} &= x_0 - 2z_0 + 2z_{n-4} - 2z_{n-3} + 2z_{n-2} - 2z_{n-1} - z_{2n-4} + 2z_{2n-3} - 2z_{2n-2} + 2z_{2n-1} + z_{2n} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ x_i &= x_{i-(n-1)} + 2z_{i-n} - z_{i-(n-1)} - z_i \\ &= x_{i-2} + 2z_{i+1} - z_{i+2} - z_{i-(n-1)} + 2z_{i-n} - z_{i-(n-1)} - z_i \\ &= x_{i-2} + 2z_{i-n} - 2z_{i-(n-1)} - z_i + 2z_{i+1} - z_{i+2}. \end{aligned}$$

This gives us an expression for the generators x_i for $n + 2 \le i \le 2n - 2$ and i even. We will consider i = n as a special case later. For $k \in \{1, \ldots, \frac{n}{2} - 1\}$,

$$x_{2n-2k} = x_0 - 2z_0 + \sum_{j=1}^{2k} \left((-1)^j 2z_{n-j} \right) - z_{2n-2k} + \sum_{j=1}^{2k-1} \left((-1)^{j+1} 2z_{2n-j} \right) + z_{2n-2k} + \sum_{j=1}^{2$$

We now consider the expressions for generators first eliminated from ${\cal G}_2$

$$\begin{aligned} x_{2n} &= x_0 - 2z_0 + 2z_{2n} \\ x_{n+1} &= x_0 - 2z_0 - 2z_n + z_{n+1} + 3z_{2n} \\ x_2 &= x_0 - 2z_0 - 2z_1 + z_2 - 2Z_n + 2z_{n+1} + 3Z - 2n \\ x_{n+3} &= x_0 - 2z_0 - 2z_1 + 2z_2 - 2z_n + 2z_{n+1} - 2z_{n+2} + z_{n+3} + 3z_{2n} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ x_i &= x_{i-(n+1)} - 2z_{i-1} + z_i + z_{i-(n+1)} \\ \vdots & \vdots \end{aligned}$$

We want to find the expressions for x_i , $n \leq i \leq 2n$, i odd, in terms of x_0, z_0, \ldots, z_{2n} . We only need

to consider the odd labelled generators in the list above.

$$\begin{aligned} x_{n+1} &= x_0 - 2z_0 - 2z_n + z_{n+1} + 3z_{2n} \\ x_{n+3} &= x_0 - 2z_0 - 2z_1 + 2z_2 - 2z_n + 2z_{n+1} - 2z_{n+2} + z_{n+3} + 3z_{2n} \\ x_{n+5} &= x_0 - 2z_0 - 2z_1 + 2z_2 - 2z_3 + 2z_4 - 2z_n + 2z_{n+1} - 2z_{n+2} + 2z_{n+3} + 2z_{n+4} + z_{n+5} + 3z_{2n} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ x_i &= x_{i-(n+1)} - 2z_{i-1} + z_i + z_{i-(n+1)} \\ &= x_{i-2} - 2z_{i-(n+2)} + z_{i-(n+1)} + z_{i-2} - 2z_{i-1} + z_i + z_{i-(n+1)} \\ &= x_{i-2} - 2z_{i-(n+2)} + 2z_{i-(n+1)} + z_{i-2} - 2z_{i-1} + z_i. \end{aligned}$$

This gives us an expression for the generators x_i for $n+1 \le i \le 2n-1$ and i odd. For $k \in \{1, \ldots, \frac{n}{2}\}$,

$$x_{n+(2k-1)} = x_0 - 2z_0 + \sum_{j=1}^{2(k-1)} \left((-1)^j 2z_j \right) + \sum_{j=1}^{2k-1} \left((-1)^j 2z_{n+j-1} \right) + 3z_{2n}$$

An expression for the generator x_n in terms of x_0, z_0, \ldots, z_{2n} can be found from either G_1 or G_2 .

The even generator eliminated immediately before x_n from G_1 is x_1 . We will substitute x_1 into equation 2n:

$$x_n - x_1 = 2z_{2n} - z_1 - z_n$$
$$x_n = x_1 + 2z_{2n} - z_1 - z_n.$$

We can find an expression x_1 by rearranging equation n + 1, and using an expression for $x_{n+2} = x_{2n-n-2}$.

$$x_{1} = x_{n+2} + 2z_{n+1} - z_{1} - z_{n}$$

$$x_{1} = x_{0} - 2z_{0} + \sum_{j=1}^{n-2} \left((-1)^{j} 2z_{n-j} \right) - z_{2n-2k} + \sum_{j=1}^{n-3} \left((-1)^{j+1} 2z_{2n-j} \right) + z_{2n}$$

$$+ 2z_{n+1} - z_{n+1} - z_{2n}.$$

Thus we get

$$x_{n} = x_{1} + 2z_{2n} - z_{1} - z_{n}$$

$$x_{n} = x_{0} - 2z_{0} + \sum_{j=1}^{n-2} \left((-1)^{j} 2z_{n-j} \right) - z_{2n-2k} + \sum_{j=1}^{n-3} \left((-1)^{j+1} 2z_{2n-j} \right) + z_{2n}$$

$$+ 2z_{n+1} - z_{n+1} - z_{2n} + 2z_{2n} - z_{1} - z_{n}$$

$$x_{n} = x_{0} - 2z_{0} + \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} \left((-1)^{j} 2z_{n-j} \right) - z_{n} + \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} \left((-1)^{j+1} 2z_{2n-j} \right) + 3z_{2n}.$$

The generator eliminated immediately before x_n from G_2 is x_{2n-1} . We can substitute x_{2n-1} into equation n-1 to obtain

$$\begin{aligned} x_{2n-1} - x_n &= 2z_{n-1} - z_n - z_{2n-1} \\ x_n &= x_{2n-1} - 2z_{n-1} + z_n + z_{2n-1} \\ x_n &= x_0 - 2z_0 + \sum_{j=1}^{n-2} \left((-1)^j 2z_j \right) + \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} \left((-1)^j 2z_{n+j-1} \right) + z_{2n-1} + 3z_{2n} \\ &- 2z_{n-1} + z_n + z_{2n-1} \\ x_n &= x_0 - 2z_0 + \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} \left((-1)^j 2z_j \right) + z_n + \sum_{j=1}^n \left((-1)^j 2z_{n+j-1} \right) + 3z_{2n}. \end{aligned}$$

These are equivalent expressions for x_n as in both cases

$$x_n = x_0 - 2z_0 - 2z_1 + 2z_2 - \dots - 2z_{n-1} - z_n + 2z_{n+1} - 2z_{n-2} + \dots + 2z_{2n-1} + 3z_{2n}.$$

Consider equation 0.

0:
$$x_0 + x_n + x_{n+1} + \dots + x_{2n-1} = 2z_0 + z_1 + \dots + z_{n-1}$$
.

We want to substitute our expressions for $x_n, x_{n+1}, \ldots, x_{2n-1}$ in terms of $x_0, z_0, z_1, \ldots, z_{2n}$ into equation 0. For the left hand side of this equation, we create a table of coefficients, table 4.1, for the generators $x_0, z_0, z_1, \ldots, z_{2n}$. We also make note of the occurrences in the expressions for which of the eliminated generators they appear in.

Generator	Appears in term for	Coefficient in LHS of eq.0
x_0	$x_0, x_n, \ldots, x_{2n-1}$	n+1
z_0	x_n,\ldots,x_{2n-1}	-2n
z_1	$x_n, x_{n+3}, x_{n+5}, \dots, x_{2n-1}$	$(-2) \times 1 + (-2) \times (\frac{n}{2} - 1) = -n$
z_2	$x_n, x_{n+2}, x_{n+3}, x_{n+5}, \dots, x_{2n-1}$	$(2) \times 2 + (2) \times (\frac{n}{2} - 1) = n + 2$
z_1	$x_n, x_{n+2}, x_{n+5}, \dots, x_{2n-1}$	$(-2) \times 2 + (-2) \times (\frac{n}{2} - 2) = -n$
z_2	$x_n, x_{n+2}, x_{n+4}, x_{n+5}, \dots, x_{2n-1}$	$(2) \times 3 + (2) \times (\frac{n}{2} - 2) = n + 2$
÷		: :
z_{n-1}	$x_n, x_{n+2}, \ldots, x_{2n-2}$	$(-2) \times (\frac{n}{2}) + (-2) = -n$
z_n	$x_n, x_{n+1}, x_{n+3}, \dots, x_{2n-1}$	$(-1) \times 1 + (-2) \times (\frac{n}{2}) = -(n+1)$
z_{n+1}	$x_n, x_{n+2}, x_{n+3}, \dots, x_{2n-1}$	$(2) \times 2 + (1) \times 1 + (2) \times (\frac{n}{2} - 2) = n + 1$
z_{n+2}	$x_n, x_{n+2}, x_{n+3}, \dots, x_{2n-1}$	$(-1) \times 1 + (2) \times 2 + (2) \times (\frac{n}{2} - 2) = -(n+1)$
÷		: :
z_{2n-1}	$x_n, x_{n+2}, \ldots, x_{2n-2}, x_{2n-1}$	$(2) \times \frac{n}{2} + (1) \times 1 = n + 1$
z_{2n}	$x_n, \ldots, x_{2n-2}, x_{n+1}, \ldots, x_{2n-1}$	$(3) \times 1 + (1) \times \frac{\overline{n}}{2} - 1 + (3) \times \frac{n}{2} = 2(n+1)$

Table 4.1: Coefficients and occurrences of generators in LHS of equation 0

We use this table that all of these substitutions reduce equation 0 to

$$2z_0 + z_1 + \dots + z_{n-1} = (n+1)x_0 - 2nz_0 - nz_1 + (n+2)z_2 - \dots$$
$$\dots - nz_{n-1} - (n+1)z_n + (n+1)z_{n+1} - \dots$$
$$\dots - (n+1)z_{2n-2} + (n+1)z_{2n-1} + 2(n+1)z_{2n}.$$

We can rearrange the equation to give

$$0 = (n+1)x_0 - 2(n+1)z_0 - (n+1)z_1 + (n+1)z_2 - \cdots$$
$$\cdots - (n+1)z_{n-1} - (n+1)z_n + (n+1)z_{n+1} - \cdots$$
$$\cdots - (n+1)z_{2n-2} + (n+1)z_{2n-1} + 2(n+1)z_{2n}.$$

There is now a common factor of n + 1 in every coefficient in this expression. This implies that there is a generator whose order divides n + 1. It is not yet clear that

We will take a step back and recall that Lemma 4.4.9 showed us that $S = \{x_1, \ldots, x_{2n}, x_0, z_0, \ldots, z_{2n}\}$ is a finite generating set for $F^{ab}_{\beta_n}$, and is a set of size 4n + 2. We define $\phi : \mathbb{Z}^{4n+2} \to F^{ab}_{\beta_n}$, an onto homomorphism where

$$\phi(i_1, i_2, \dots, i_{2n}, i_{2n+1}, i_{2n+2}, \dots, i_{4n+2}) = i_1 x_1 + \dots + i_{2n} x_{2n} + i_{2n+1} x_0 + i_{2n+2} z_0 + \dots + i_{4n+2} z_{2n}$$

Consider the kernel of ϕ , $Ker\phi$. From Lemma 4.4.10, we that for some $P_j \in \mathbb{Z}[X_1, \ldots, X_{2n}]$, there are 2n linear sums of generators which equate to the additive identity.

$$0 = x_1 - x_0 + 2z_0 + P_1(z_1, \dots, z_{2n})$$

$$0 = x_2 - x_0 + 2z_0 + P_2(z_1, \dots, z_{2n})$$

$$\vdots \qquad \vdots$$

$$0 = x_{2n-1} - x_0 + 2z_0 + P_{2n-1}(z_1, \dots, z_{2n})$$

$$0 = x_{2n} - x_0 + 2z_0 + P_{2n}(z_1, \dots, z_{2n}).$$

We also have the following linear sum,

$$0 = (n+1)x_0 - 2(n+1)z_0 - (n+1)z_1 + (n+1)z_2 - \cdots$$
$$\cdots - (n+1)z_{n-1} - (n+1)z_n + (n+1)z_{n+1} - \cdots$$
$$\cdots - (n+1)z_{2n-2} + (n+1)z_{2n-1} + 2(n+1)z_{2n}.$$

These sums form the basis for $Ker\phi$. Let $A \in M_{4n+2}(\mathbb{Z})$ be the $(2n+2) \times (4n+2)$ integer matrix representing $Ker\phi$, with respect to the ordering given in basis S. Then the first 2n+2 columns of A resemble the matrix shown below.

A =	$\begin{pmatrix} 1 \end{pmatrix}$	0	0		0	0	-1	2)
	0	1	0		0	0	-1	2	
	0	0	1		0	0	-1	2	
	:	÷	÷	·	÷	÷	•	÷	
	0	0	0		1	0	-1	2	
	0	0	0		0	1	-1	2	
	0	0	0		0	0	(n+1)	-2(n+1)	
	0	0	0		0	0	0	0	
	:	÷	÷	:	÷	÷	•	:	·
	0	0	0		0	0	0	0)

Note that for each non-zero row, the first non-zero entry will divide all other non-zero entries within the row. Therefore, by performing column operations this matrix can be reduced to the following diagonal matrix

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & \dots & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 & n+1 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

This matrix can also be written as

$$Diag(\underbrace{1,\ldots,1}_{2n},n+1,\underbrace{0,\ldots,0}_{2n+1})$$

This matrix has been reduced to the Smith normal form, and thus we can use a variant of the classification of finitely generated modules over PIDs [24]. We will use this to show that

$$Ker\phi \cong \underbrace{\mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z} \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathbb{Z}}_{2n} \oplus (n+1)\mathbb{Z}.$$

We also know that $\phi : \mathbb{Z}^{4n+2} \to F^{ab}_{\beta_n}$ is a surjective homomorphism, so we are able to use the first isomorphism theorem.

$$F_{\beta_n}^{ab} \cong \mathbb{Z}^{4n+2} / Ker \phi \cong \mathbb{Z}^{4n+2-2n-1} \oplus \mathbb{Z} / (n+1)\mathbb{Z} \cong \mathbb{Z}^{2n+1} \oplus \mathbb{Z} / (n+1)\mathbb{Z}$$

We have shown that there exists Thompson-like Bieri-Strebel groups with arbitrarily large torsion in their abelianisations. We will offer up the following two conjectures.

Conjecture 4.4.12. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Then

$$F_{\beta_n}^{ab} \cong \mathbb{Z}^{2n+1} \oplus \mathbb{Z}/(n+1)\mathbb{Z}.$$

An example of this is the (2,1) group which has been shown to contain 2-torsion in the abelianisation.

Conjecture 4.4.13. Let β be the unique positive real zero of the irreducible Pisot polynomial $f_{\beta} = X^2 - a_1 X - a_0$. Then

$$F_{\beta}^{ab} \cong \mathbb{Z}^{a_1+a_0} \oplus \mathbb{Z}/(a_0+1)\mathbb{Z}.$$

CHAPTER 4. A PRESENTATION OF G_{β}

Bibliography

- James W Cannon, William J Floyd, and Walter R Parry. Introductory notes on Richard Thompson's groups. *Enseignement Mathématique*, 42:215–256, 1996.
- [2] Graham Higman. Finitely presented infinite simple groups, volume 8. Department of Pure Mathematics, Department of Mathematics, IAS, Australian, 1974.
- [3] Sean Cleary. Groups of Piecewise-Linear Homeomorphisms with Irrational Slopes. Rocky Mountain Journal of Mathematics, 25(3):935–955, September 1995. Publisher: Rocky Mountain Mathematics Consortium.
- [4] Sean Cleary. Regular subdivision in $\operatorname{Le} \left[\frac{1+\sqrt{5}}{2}\right]$, 2020.
- [5] Jason Brown. A class of pl-homeomorphism groups with irrational slopes, 2018.
- [6] Ralph McKenzie and Richard J. Thompson. An Elementary Construction of Unsolvable Word Problems in Group Theory. In W. W. Boone, F. B. Cannonito, and R. C. Lyndon, editors, Studies in Logic and the Foundations of Mathematics, Word Problems, pages 457–478. Elsevier, January 1973.
- [7] Kenneth S Brown and Ross Geoghegan. An infinite-dimensional torsion-free FP_{∞} group. Inventiones mathematicae, 77(2):367–381, 1984.
- [8] José Burillo, Sean Cleary, and Melanie Stein. Metrics and embeddings of generalizations of Thompson's group F. Transactions of the American Mathematical Society, 353(4):1677–1689, 2001.
- [9] Kenneth S Brown. Finiteness properties of groups. Journal of Pure and Applied Algebra, 44(1-3):45-75, 1987.

- [10] Robert Bieri and Ralph Strebel. On Groups of PL-homeomorphisms of the Real Line. arXiv:1411.2868 [math], October 2016. arXiv: 1411.2868.
- [11] Jos'e Burillo, Brita E. A. Nucinkis, and Lawrence Reeves. An Irrational-slope Thompson's Group. 2018.
- [12] Peter Borwein. Pisot and Salem Numbers. In Computational Excursions in Analysis and Number Theory, CMS Books in Mathematics / Ouvrages de mathématiques de la SMC, pages 15–26. Springer, New York, NY, 2002.
- [13] Jose Burillo. Introduction to Thompson's group F, http://web.mat.upc.edu/pep.burillo/F%book20.pdf.
- [14] Xiaoshen Wang. A simple proof of descartes's rule of signs. The American Mathematical Monthly, 111(6):525, 2004.
- [15] Ronald S Irving. Integers, polynomials, and rings: a course in algebra. Springer, 2004.
- [16] Abraham Berman and Robert J Plemmons. Nonnegative matrices in the mathematical sciences. SIAM, 1994.
- [17] Andries E. Brouwer and Willem H. Haemers. Linear Algebra. In Spectra of Graphs, pages 21–32. Springer New York, New York, NY, 2012.
- [18] Shlomo Sternberg. Dynamical systems. Courier Corporation, 2010.
- [19] Igor Szczyrba. On the existence of ratio limits of weighted \$n\$-generalized Fibonacci sequences with arbitrary initial conditions. arXiv:1604.02361 [math], April 2016. arXiv: 1604.02361.
- [20] Don Redmond. Finding Rational Roots of Polynomials. The College Mathematics Journal, 20(2):139–141, March 1989. Publisher: Taylor & Francis _eprint: https://doi.org/10.1080/07468342.1989.11973222.
- [21] Allan Clark. Elements of Abstract Algebra. Courier Corporation, January 1984. Google-Books-ID: bj1kOY8gOfcC.
- [22] Serge Lang. Algebra, volume 211. Springer Science & Business Media, 2012.
- [23] Sudhir R Ghorpade and Balmohan V Limaye. A course in calculus and real analysis. Springer, 2018.
- [24] Dylan Poulsen. Modules: An introduction. 2010.